
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 30 September 2020 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Virtual Meeting 

 

Membership: 

Chairman: 
Cllr V Slade 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr M Howell 

Cllr L Allison 
Cllr D Brown 
Cllr L Dedman 
 

Cllr A Hadley 
Cllr S Moore 
Cllr M Phipps 
 

Cllr Dr F Rice 
Cllr K Wilson 
 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4255&Ver=4 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 795273) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

22 September 2020 
 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4255&Ver=4


 

 anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 

mailto:anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution, which is available to view at the following 
link: 
  
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1 
  
The deadline for the submission of a public question is 4 clear working days 
before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a public statement is midday the 
working day before the meeting. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes 7 - 20 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
9 September 2020. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on 
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   Installation of Combined Heat and Power Unit, The Club at Meyrick 
Park 

21 - 24 

 The club at Meyrick Park wish to install a Combined Heat and Power Unit 
(CHP) in order to deliver savings on electricity, heat and carbon generation. 
 

 

7.   Managing Unauthorised Encampments: Members Working Group 
Report 

25 - 48 

 To advise Cabinet of the considerations undertaken and subsequent 
recommendations brought forward by the cross-party members working 
group for unauthorised encampments 

The report contains items considered and options reviewed in reaching a 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

consolidated policy for the management of encampments and the future 
options for the control of unauthorised encampments across BCP Council. 
This includes the recommendations for: 

1. Policies for the management of future encampments 
2. Policies regarding target hardening of sites 
3. The feasibility for pre-emptive injunctions 
4. The feasibility of providing alternative stopping places 
 

8.   Highway Maintenance Funding 2020/21 report 49 - 64 

 This Cabinet report has been developed to:  

1. Note the allocation of £2.864M of Dept for Transport (DfT) Pothole 
Funding and seek approval to add it into the 2020/21 LTP Capital 
Programme.  

2. Seek recommended approval to deliver the proposed programme 
outlined in Appendix A to utilise the £2.864M Pothole Fund award.  

3. Note the allocation of £4.184M of Dept for Transport (DfT) Challenge 
Funding and seek approval to add it into the 2020/21 LTP Capital 
Programme.  

4. Seek recommended approval to deliver the proposed programme 
outlined in Appendix B to utilise the £4.184M Challenge Fund award  

5. Outline funding shortfalls within Highway Delivery to fulfil Council 
statutory obligations as set out in Section 41 & 58 Highways Act 
1980 and the Well Managed Highways Infrastructure code of 
practice 2016.  

6. Seek to address the in-year (2020/21) funding gap for Highway 
Delivery Services approved spend - to support repairs, maintenance 
and asset replacement in order to enable the fulfilment of the 
Council’s statutory duties.  

 

 

9.   Christchurch Bay and Harbour Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy 

65 - 72 

 A new Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) Strategy 
covering Christchurch Bay and Harbour is needed to guide long term 
sustainable coastal and tidal flooding and erosion risk management.  This 
Cabinet report is seeking approval to progress procurement of specialist 
consultancy services to develop the strategy using Flood Defence Grant in 
Aid (FDGiA) funding which is in the process of being secured by the 
Environment Agency.    This work will ultimately lead to an FCERM 
Strategy approved by the Environment Agency against which subsequent 
studies, schemes and beach management plans can be developed, without 
the need to assess the strategic options on a site-by-site basis for each 
scheme. This will provide the basis for future FDGiA bids for schemes to 
mitigate the risk of flooding or erosion to the residents and businesses in 
the Christchurch Bay and harbour area. There will be zero net cost to BCP 
council in producing the Strategy. 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 

 
 

10.   Flood Defences - Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill 73 - 84 

 Poole town centre is at considerable flood risk which will increase over time 
with the effects of climate change. Recent schemes have been completed 
from Baiter to Poole Bridge, delivered by both the Environment Agency 
(EA) and Poole Harbour Commissioners (PHC). However, the area remains 
at risk due to the ageing infrastructure between Poole Bridge and Hunger 
Hill. BCP Council is leading on a proposal for tidal flood defences on the 
remaining frontage. 

The current policy of flood defence delivery through regeneration and 
private development has not provided the required level of investment. Our 
proposal is to deliver via a single scheme, led by the council, working in 
liaison with the various landowners.  

The costs to build the defences are estimated at circa £12m for delivery of 
all primary works in a single phase. The OBC confirms it is all eligible via 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid. 

This is implementing the preferred option from the (2014) Poole Bay, Poole 
Harbour and Wareham, Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Strategy (PWFRMS). This approved strategy identified that within Central 
Poole Cell there are 573 properties at flood risk in the present day 1% AEP 
event, rising to over 2,000 properties at flood risk by 2110. 

The preferred option is for a new quay wall between the bridges and a 
crown wall in addition to the existing defences north of RNLI, along with 
some localised land raising and flood gates around the RNLI site. The most 
economic approach allows for adaptive phasing, with minor additional 
works (~£836k) planned for 2071 and 2105. The OBC currently states BCP 
will underwrite the cost of the future phases. 

The scheme should be a catalyst for future development along West Quay 
Road, and public realm enhancement, identified in the Local Plan (2018), 
also providing continuous pedestrian and cycle access from the Town Quay 
to Holes Bay. New quay wall heights and public walkways will be consistent 
with any redevelopment of the power station site on the opposite side of 
Backwater Channel. 

 

 

11.   Complaints and 2019/20 LGSCO annual report 85 - 128 

 
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) provides an 
independent and impartial service to investigate complaints about Councils, 
or actions taken by another body on behalf of the Council. 

The LGSCO provides a report annually which details the number of 
enquiries, investigations and resolved complaints for each authority in the 
past financial year. BCP Council’s annual report is attached as Appendix A 

The 2019/20 report shows that the number of enquiries to the LGSCO have 
risen slightly, as have the investigations, but there has been a fall in the 
number of investigations upheld by the Ombudsman to 50%. There are no 
major concerns relating to LGSCO findings. 

This report includes some details on the number of complaints to BCP 

 



 
 

 

Council in 2019/20 (970). However, inconsistencies within identification, 
recording and monitoring of complaints across the organisation mean that 
detailed analysis of this data is currently difficult. 
Adults and Children’s Social Care complaints follow a different statutory 
process and their reports are reviewed at Overview and Scrutiny 
committee. The Adults Social Care report is attached as Appendix B. 
 

12.   2019/20 End of Year Performance Report 129 - 164 

 This report provides an overview of performance for the first year of BCP 
Council. 

The report has been informed by the interim basket of measures used for 
the mid year report and progress with actions set out in the delivery plans 
that make up the Corporate Strategy.  

The performance measures are sourced from data the Council provides as 
part of the statutory return process and some other local measures 
identified by Service Units during 2019/20. 

Performance is presented across a range of interactive dashboards which 
include progress and updates for: 

- The Corporate Strategy priorities 

- UN Sustainability Goals 

- Equality & Diversity 

The basket of performance measures will be enhanced to include the 
outcome measures set out in the delivery plans, once supporting 
measurement systems are in place. 

The table of measures at Appendix A shows progress for the whole year 
and includes benchmarking data where this is available.  

The report identifies some key improvements and some performance 
issues. These are addressed in more detail in exception reports, attached 
as Appendix B to the report.    

 

 

13.   Cabinet Forward Plan  

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 09 September 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr V Slade – Chairman 

Cllr M Howell – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr D Brown, Cllr L Dedman, Cllr A Hadley, Cllr S Moore, 

Cllr M Phipps, Cllr Dr F Rice and Cllr K Wilson 
 

Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr P Broadhead (Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee), Cllr G Farquhar, Cllr M Haines (Vice-Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 

 
217. Declarations of Interests  

 
There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 
 

218. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 29 July 2020 were confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 

Voting: Unanimous 
 

219. Public Issues  
 
The Leader advised that 5 public statements had been received in relation 
to Agenda Item 12 (Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)). The Leader 
advised that a copies of the public statements had been circulated to the 
Cabinet and had been published on the Councils website. 
 

220. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  
 
Cabinet were advised that there were no additional recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Board on items not otherwise included on the 
Cabinet Agenda on this occasion. 
 

221. DLEP - FWP Corridor Programme  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to note the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership 
(DLEP) funding to two schemes within the Bournemouth International 
Growth (BIG) Programme, and to consider and approve the progression of 
the detailed design and stakeholder engagement for the Wallisdown Road 
scheme in line with the key project aims and general arrangement drawing. 

7

Agenda Item 4



– 2 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
In relation to this Cabinet were advised that the July Cabinet meeting and 
subsequent Council meeting had approved the 2019/20 financial outturn 
report which had approved the £1.5 million scheme, and that Cabinet today 
were being asked to approve the £500,000 virement to the Blackwater 
West junction scheme. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet 
advising that at their recent meeting the Board resolved to make the 
following general comment to Cabinet in respect of this item: 

Board Members wished to ensure that ward councillors (including those in 
adjacent wards), were consulted with and kept informed in relation to any 
proposals coming forward to implement schemes as part of the programme. 

The Leader thanked the Board for their comments but in relation to this 
advised that this paper was dealing with already approved monies, and that 
all programmes relating to the Transforming Cities Fund have full 
consultation and even have their own website for this. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

(a) Noted the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) Funding 
allocation of £1,050,000; and  

(b) approved the progression of detailed design and stakeholder 
engagement for the Wallisdown Road scheme in line with the 
key project aims identified and General Arrangement drawing 
included in Appendix A of the report. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

222. Adult Social Care Strategy  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to consider the strategic priorities of the Adult 
Social Care Strategy for approval.  

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that the priorities were considered 
by the Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 27 
July 2020. 

Cabinet members expressed their thanks to all those who had been 
involved and contributed to the strategy.   

RESOLVED that the Adult Social Care Strategy enclosed at Appendix 
2 of the report be approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Adult and Health 
 
 
 

8



– 3 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
223. Performance Management Framework  

 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'C' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were asked to approve the Corporate Performance Management 
Framework as a mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring 
accountability for delivery of the Corporate Strategy.  

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that the new BCP Corporate 
Performance Management Framework was an amalgamation of the legacy 
Council’s frameworks and that it was based on best practice guidance from 
the Local Government Association. 

RESOLVED that the Corporate Performance Management Framework 
be approved as a mechanism for monitoring progress and ensuring 
accountability for delivery of the Corporate Strategy. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council 
 

224. Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were updated on the progress of Tranche 1 Emergency Active 
Travel Fund Programme schemes and were requested to approve the 
delegation of decision making regarding the progression of the indicative 
Tranche 2 Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme to the Director of 
Growth and Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Transport and Infrastructure subject to the application for Emergency Active 
Travel Fund Tranche 2 being successful.  

In relation to this Members were advised that the programme aimed to 
introduce at pace temporary and experimental active travel measures that 
subject to trials could be made permanent to lock in the potential active 
travel benefits (shift to active travel by the public) as a result of the Covid-
19 pandemic. 

In presenting the report the Portfolio Holder advised that whilst the 
recommendations as set out in the report were accurate as they do not 
seek any retrospective approvals, that Cabinet should note for clarity that 
there was a drafting error within the executive summary of the report which 
talked about Cabinet confirming retrospective approval for the submission. 
In relation to this the Cabinet were advised that they were not being asked 
to confirm retrospective approval for the submission, and that the 
submission had been put in and had been signed off by the Finance Officer 
for the Council and so this reference was incorrect. The Portfolio Holder 
advised however that recommendations were however correctly worded. 

The Portfolio Holder advised that the government scheme had been 
implemented to try and address changes to the way in which people were 

9



– 4 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
using public transport in view of the Covid-19 pandemic, and to encourage 
and support people to be able to walk and cycle safely. In addition the 
Portfolio Holder advised that the government scheme had tight timescales 
with schemes having to be implemented within 12 weeks and as such this 
had prevented consultation, however the Portfolio Holder stressed that 
these schemes would be reviewed and the measures in place were 
temporary and removable. In addition Cabinet were advised that some 
schemes had been withdrawn as the schemes which had been identified 
when in full lockdown would no longer have the benefit as lockdown has 
become more relaxed. Further to this Members were advised that the 
government had changed the requirements in relation to Tranche 2, and 
that the timescales were no longer as restrictive and enabled greater and 
fuller consultation to take place should the application for Tranche 2 funding 
be successful. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
stressing the frustration by the Board that ward councillors weren’t properly 
consulted, and advising that at their recent meeting the Board had had a 
long and robust discussion in relation to this item and had resolved to make 
the following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item which 
looked backwards in terms of the process: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board expresses its disappointment at the lack 
of engagement with ward councillors who were prevented from onward 
consultation with their communities. It believes that this democratic deficit 
significantly increased the concern and confusion which inevitably followed 
among the public. 

In addition the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board advised that 
the following amendment to the recommendation (underlined) was raised in 
respect of this item looking forwards to the future: 

That Cabinet:- 

1) note the progress to date regarding the delivery of the Tranche 1 
Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme; and 

2) subject to a successful application for Emergency Active Travel Fund 
Tranche 2 approves the delegation of decision making regarding the 
progression of the indicative Tranche 2 Emergency Active Travel Fund 
Programme to the Director of Growth & Infrastructure in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure and following 
consultation between the Portfolio Holder and ward councillors and 
adjacent ward councillors at the earliest possible opportunity 

The Leader thanked the Board for their recommendations and in relation to 
the consultation aspect the Portfolio Holder advised that he had written to 
all Councillors the day after the government announcement of the scheme 
on the 9 May asking if Councillors could identify any areas within their ward 
which would benefit from the scheme, and that in addition as soon as draft 
drawings were available these had been shared with ward councillors. 

Councillor Haines addressed the Cabinet as Ward Councillor particularly in 
relation to the Evening Hill scheme expressing concern that the scheme 
hadn’t considered all user groups, and that the lack of access by vehicles to 

10



– 5 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
Evening Hill now means that some people are now unable to access the 
area. 

A number of Cabinet Members spoke stressing the time constraints in 
relation to Tranche 1 and of the greater consultation opportunities with 
Tranche 2 with the governments more relaxed timescales which would 
afford the time for formal consultation. In addition Members highlighted that 
whilst there had been criticism locally with regards to some of the schemes 
that residents had also been in contact praising some of the changes.   

RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

(a) note the excellent progress to date regarding the delivery of the 
Tranche 1 Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme; and 

(b) subject to a successful application for Emergency Active Travel 
Fund Tranche 2 bid approves the delegation of decision making 
regarding the progression of the indicative Tranche 2 
Emergency Active Travel Fund Programme to the Director of 
Growth & Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Transport and Infrastructure and following 
consultation between the Portfolio Holder and ward councillors 
and adjacent ward councillors at the earliest possible 
opportunity. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

225. Bournemouth Christchurch Poole Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were informed that the Parking Standards Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) set out a consolidated approach across BCP to 
supersede earlier legacy council Parking SPDs and sought to establish new 
local parking standards for residential and non-residential development 
schemes. 

In relation to this Cabinet were informed that on adoption the SPD will be a 
material consideration which will apply when determining future planning 
applications.  

Cabinet were requested to endorse the current draft Parking Standards 
SPD and agree its release for a four-week consultation commencing 14 
September 2020. Further to this Cabinet were advised that following the 
consultation a report would be brought back to Cabinet on the 16 
December and if approved would be forwarded on to Council on the 5 
January for Council approval. 

 

 

 

11



– 6 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Approve the draft Parking Standards Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) for a four-week public consultation period 
from 14 September 2020. 

(b) Note the urgency to implement appropriate on-street parking 
controls to support the reduced car parking levels set out in the 
SPD. 

(c) Agree that any necessary minor amendments, including 
spelling or other changes where they do not alter the intent of 
the draft SPD are delegated to the Director for Growth & 
Infrastructure in liaison with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Planning. 

(d) Note that post-consultation, a final SPD shall return to Cabinet 
on 16 December 2020, and subject to Member agreement for 
formal adoption by Council on 5 January 2021. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder(s): Strategic Planning 
                               Transport and Infrastructure 
 

226. Waste Services Policies  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'F' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

In presenting the report the Portfolio Holder advised Cabinet that since the 
formation of BCP Council in April 2019 it has been known that within waste 
services there are several operating procedures that need to be aligned 
between the three legacy councils. 

Further to this Cabinet were informed that prior to developing our own 
waste strategy there are several primarily operational decisions that need to 
be made, as carrying on as we are is becoming increasingly difficult. 

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that by addressing and aligning 
differences in service such as bin sizes and colours, charges for bins, 
collections of other recyclables and subsides for home composting and real 
nappies, efficiencies can be made operationally, and clearer 
communication messages given to residents across BCP Council. 

In addition the Portfolio Holder made reference to a recently held virtual 
briefing which many councillors had attended and which highlighted the 
proposed decisions. 

Upon proposing the recommendations the Portfolio Holder requested an 
additional bullet point be included under recommendation (b) to read: 

“Cabinet approves that where bins are lost during collection or damaged 
through the collection process officers will use their discretion and the 
replacement bin may be provided free of charge” 

12



– 7 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
advising that at their recent meeting the Board resolved to make the 
following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board recommends to Cabinet that residents 
should not be charged for replacement of, or repairs to waste containers in 
the event that they have been broken or have gone missing through no fault 
of their own unless the container is owned outright by the resident. 

In addition the Chairman of the Board advised the Cabinet of the following 
general comment: 

There were differing views from Board Members in relation to the 
ownership of bins, replacement costs, cost of service for garden waste 
collections and bin sizes. The importance of taking these matters into 
consideration before a decision is made was raised. 

The Vice Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
and advised that the additional recommendation was welcomed. In addition 
the Vice-Chairman of the Board advised that the Board had raised some 
concerns with regards to the green bin price increase. 

Comprehensive discussion took place on the item with Cabinet Members 
speaking in support of the report and thanking officers for their work in 
beginning to align the services, further thanks were expressed to officers 
and the Portfolio Holder for the recent member briefing which was felt to 
have been really useful. In addition Cabinet highlighted the importance of 
investing in the education and information for residents. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a)       Bin sizes and colours 

(i)   Recycling – Cabinet approves the replacement of all current 
recycling bins, as and when they break, with 240 litre black 
bins with blue lids. 

(ii)   Refuse – Cabinet approves the replacement of 140 litre 
bins in Bournemouth and Christchurch with 180 litre as 
and when they break. 

(iii)    Garden waste 

- Cabinet approves the replacement of all 140 litre bins in 
Bournemouth with 240 litre bins (black bin with green 
lid) and a borrowing of £380k to be repaid over the 
expected life of a bin. 

-  Cabinet approves the replacement of all garden waste 
bins which need replacing in Poole and Christchurch 
when damaged with 240 litre black bins with green lids. 

-  Cabinet approves the garden waste price for the 2021 
service at £49 per bin, which is an above inflation 
increase in charge to cover the borrowing cost and 
allow for the Bournemouth bins to be replaced with 240 
litre bins. 

(iv)   Food Waste 

13



– 8 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
Cabinet defers any decision about the possibility of 
introducing a food waste service in Poole until further 
guidance and information is given by central government. 

(b)       Charges for bins/bags 

- Cabinet approves the harmonisation of charges across the 
three areas based on the current prices in Bournemouth. If 
180 litre refuse bins are agreed as standard, this price would 
increase to £45. If 240 litre garden waste bins are agreed as 
standard, this price would increase to £55 

- Cabinet approves the removal of the provision of free food 
waste liners in Bournemouth and the use of the savings of 
£20,000 for waste and recycling education 

- Cabinet approves only permitting requests for additional 
recycling bins for medical or larger families’ needs  

- Cabinet approves the introduction of a charge for properties 
with bags, which are not suitable for bins, based on the 
projected life of a wheeled bin, which would be a cost of 
£12.50 per year (52 bags) 

- Cabinet approves the removal of the right to request 
additional refuse bags for households with one or more 
children in nappies in Christchurch 

- Cabinet approves that those in receipt of certain income 
based benefits may be able to have a replacement bin free of 
charge. The qualifying benefits are: 

o Council Tax Benefit (not Discount) 

o Housing Benefit 

o Income Support. 

- Cabinet approves that where bins are lost during collection 
or damaged through the collection process officers will use 
their discretion and the replacement bin may be provided 
free of charge. 

(c)      Side waste – Cabinet approves the cessation of side waste 
collection in Bournemouth and Christchurch to allow 
rationalisation of rounds to increase efficiencies. 

(d)    WEEE collections – Cabinet approves the cessation of WEEE 
collections in Bournemouth once the recycling collection 
service is brought back in-house in October 2020. 

(f)        Home compost bin subsidy – Cabinet approves the 
introduction of the subsidy in Bournemouth and Christchurch 
at a cost of approximately £5,000 per year. 

(g)       Real nappy incentive scheme – Cabinet approves: 

- the introduction of the Real Nappy incentive scheme currently 
offered in Bournemouth and Christchurch to residents of 
Poole; and 

14



– 9 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
- the introduction of a nappy start-up kit as an alternative to the 

current £30 incentive across BCP Council. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Environment and Climate Change 

 
227. Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)  

 
The Leader of the Council presented a report on behalf of the Portfolio 
Holder for Tourism, Leisure and Communities, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'G' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were informed that this report followed on from a report made to 
Cabinet in March 2020 now reporting the results of public consultation 
which had now been completed and which had sought views on the varying 
of the current PSPO in place for Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay. In 
relation to this Cabinet were advised that the report now recommends that 
Cabinet adopt the proposed amendments. 

Further to this Cabinet were informed that in addition the report considers 
the use of PSPO’s aimed at managing general anti-social behaviour issues 
across our communities. 

In presenting the report the Leader advised that five public statements had 
been received all supporting the recommendations as set out on the 
Cabinet agenda. Further to this the Leader advised that a petition had been 
submitted which was unfortunately submitted outside of the required 
timescales and that this too had supported the recommendations as set out 
on the Cabinet paper.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
advising that at their recent meeting the Board resolved to make the 
following recommendation to Cabinet in respect of this item: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board recommends to Cabinet that no changes 
should be made to the existing Poole Town Centre and Holes Bay PSPO 
and that its existing clauses (a-g) be included as part of the BCP wide 
Public Spaces Protection Order consultation. 

In presenting the recommendation the Chairman of the Board stressed that 
it wasn’t the intention to fine the homeless or rough sleepers. 

The Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
highlighting that the PSPO was fundamentally to deal with anti-social 
behaviour, and that no one wanted to issue fines to vulnerable people. In 
addition the Vice-Chairman of the Board advised that people had indicated 
that they did feel safer and that it had worked in Poole while in operation.  

Councillor Farquhar addressed the Cabinet on behalf of the Labour Group, 
reading out a statement supporting the recommendations contained within 
the Cabinet paper. A copy of Councillor Farquhars statement has been 
published on the Councils website. 

Comprehensive discussion took place on the paper with Cabinet stressing 
the importance of officers working with partner groups in order to help the 

15



– 10 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
homeless and those sleeping rough. In addition Cabinet highlighted that 
they did not support the recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Cabinet approve the variation of the Poole Town Centre and 
Holes Bay PSPO as outlined at paragraph 5 of the report; 

(b) The Director of Communities be authorised to undertake 
consultation on a BCP wide Public Spaces Protection Order as 
set out in paragraphs 11 & 12 of this Report; and is authorised 
to finalise the precise terms of the wording of the conditions on 
which the consultation will be undertaken, such wording to be 
agreed in consultation with the Monitoring Officer; and 

(c) Cabinet considers the outcome of the consultation at a future 
meeting with a view to making recommendations in respect of 
the Public Spaces Protection Order in light of the consultation 
process. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Tourism, Leisure and Communities 
 

228. Traffic Regulation Orders - Riverside Avenue  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'H' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to consider approving the advertisement of 
changes to the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for the prohibition of motor 
vehicles restriction on Riverside Avenue shown in Appendix 1. 

RESOLVED that the advertisement of the Traffic Regulation Order 
(TRO) for the prohibition of motor vehicles restriction in Riverside 
Avenue shown in Appendix 1 of the report be approved. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

229. Traffic Regulation Orders - Hurn Court Lane  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'I' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to approve the advertisement of changes to the 
Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) on Hurn Court Lane to prohibit motor 
vehicles to provide a dedicated quiet two-way route for the enjoyment of 
walkers, cyclists and horse riders. 

RESOLVED that the advertisement of changes to the Traffic 
Regulation Orders for the prohibition of motor vehicles in Hurn Court 
Lane as shown in Appendix 1 of the report be approved. 

16



– 11 – 

CABINET 
09 September 2020 

 
Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

230. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
RESOLVED that under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act and that the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs such interest in disclosing the information. 
 

232. Cabinet Forward Plan  
 
The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been 
published on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.36 pm  

 CHAIRMAN 

17



This page is intentionally left blank

18



Document is Restricted

19

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Installation of Combined Heat and Power Unit, The Club at 
Meyrick Park  

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The club at Meyrick Park wish to install a Combined Heat and 
Power Unit (CHP) in order to deliver savings on electricity, heat and 
carbon generation.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 - As representative trustees of the Five Parks Trust, to 

grant letter of authority to allow the CHP to be secured 

at the Land Registry as per the terms of the contract 

between EuroSite Power Limited (the supplier/installer) 

and the Club Company (Group) Limited (the tenant)  

- As representative trustees of the Five Parks Trust, to 
grant a licence to alter for the installation of the CHP  

Reason for 
recommendations 

To enable the tenant to install the CHP Unit and secure the 
environmental benefits associated with the scheme.  

  

21

Agenda Item 6



Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Felicity Rice  

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director Environment and Community  

Report Authors Sam Munnings, Estates Operation Manager 

Wards  Talbot & Branksome Woods;  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. The Club Company (Group) Limited (tenant) has a lease for land at Meyrick Park, 
from the Council for 99years from October 1995.  

2. The tenant wishes to install a Combined Heat and Power Unit (CHP) to provide its 
electricity and heat. Such systems have been shown to reduce energy bills and 
reduce carbon footprint.  

3. The CHP will be contained within a secure, sound and weatherproof steel container, 
located in the rear area of the tenant’s car park. There will be no structural 
alterations to the existing buildings on site.  

4. As the CHP will be sited within the area already leased to the tenant, there will be no 
loss of open space available to the public.  

5. The contract between the supplier of the CHP (EuroSite Power Ltd) and the tenant 
requires the tenant to obtain consent from the Council (as landlord) to enable the 
supplier to make an application to the Land Registry for a restriction to be entered 
on the relevant property title. This will ensure that the tenant cannot dispose of 
EuroSite’s interest in the site without their knowledge.  

6. In addition, the terms of the lease with the Council requires a licence for alteration 
which would include the installation of the CHP unit.  

7. This land is held in the Five Parks Trust and the Council holds the land as open 
space for the recreation and enjoyment of the public. As such, Cabinet need to 
make decisions in respect of this land as representative trustees of the Five Parks 
Trust.  

Options Appraisal 

8. Refuse permission – There are environmental benefits to allowing the scheme and 
specific cost benefits to the tenant. The proposal is in line with the Council’s 
objectives on climate change and the declared climate emergency. As the proposal 
supports the Council’s objectives, refusing permission has been rejected.  

Summary of financial implications 

9. There will be no direct financial benefit to the Council as a result of the scheme. 
There is no capital input required from the Council.  

10. The tenant will be covering the Council’s Legal and Professional fees in relation to 
the matter. Therefore, the decision will be cost neutral.  

22



11. The agreement between the EuroSite and tenant is such that there will be no 
ongoing liability to the Council, financial or otherwise, should the tenant cease 
trading for any reason.  

Summary of legal implications 

12. This Cabinet Decision is being sought as the land forms part of the Five Parks Trust. 
As such, Cabinet need to make these decisions as representative trustees of the 
Trust.  

13. The Council’s Legal department will be instructed to enter into a letter of authority to 
enable the charge on the property title at the Land Registry, and to provide the 
licence for alteration.  

Summary of human resources implications 

14. There are no human resources implications associated with this decision.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

15. The installation of a heat source pump will help the tenant to reduce the carbon 
footprint of the site and improve their environmental credentials.  

Summary of public health implications 

16. There are no public health implications associated with this decision.  

Summary of equality implications 

17. There are no equality implications associated with this decision.  

Summary of risk assessment 

18. The only risk associated with the decision would be if the tenant ceased trading with 
liability falling to the Council. This has been mitigated by the agreement between the 
EuroSite and tenant, which confirms that there would be no ongoing liability to the 
Council if the tenant ceased trading before the end of their contract term with the 
Council in 2094.  

Background papers 

None 

Appendices   

None  

23



This page is intentionally left blank

24



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Managing Unauthorised Encampments: Members Working 
Group Report 

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public 

Executive summary  To advise Cabinet of the considerations undertaken and 
subsequent recommendations brought forward by the cross-party 
members working group for unauthorised encampments 

The report contains items considered and options reviewed in 
reaching a consolidated policy for the management of 
encampments and the future options for the control of unauthorised 
encampments across BCP Council. This includes the 
recommendations for: 

1. Policies for the management of future encampments 

2. Policies regarding target hardening of sites 

3. The feasibility for pre-emptive injunctions 

4. The feasibility of providing alternative stopping places 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

   a) Cabinet adopt the revised policy for the management of 
unauthorised encampments across BCP Council.  

b) That the working party will be asked to explore the following 
options: the feasibility of providing alternative stopping 
places; the use of pre-emptive injunction against trespass; 
target hardening and management of incursions.  Their 
recommendations to be brought back to Cabinet within four 
months including the necessary governance, resources 
and consultation that would be required.   

c) To adopt a balanced approach to target hardening as local 
circumstance dictate. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To introduce a single and consolidated policy that is in keeping with 
the Equality Act, for the management of unauthorised 
encampments, that provides suitable control measures and 
alternative provision for the travelling community in order to reduce 
the incidents of unauthorised encampments. 

25

Agenda Item 7



 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Felicity Rice, Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Climate Change 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director of Environment & Communities 

Report Authors Andy McDonald/Peter Haikin 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Recommendation 
Title:  

Background 

1. The working group report covers the options to be considered in dealing with any 
individual or group of individuals who have moved onto a piece of land owned by 
BCP Council with the intension of residing on it without permission, thus constituting 
trespass. 

2. An unauthorised encampment is a generic term used to describe persons using a 
temporary structure to reside on land without the landowner or occupier's consent. 
This may include vehicles, caravans, tents or similar temporary structures or 
shelters. 

3. Unauthorised camping is not a criminal offence. It is a civil offence (trespass), giving 
landowners the right to repossess their property using the due process of law. The 
prevention of trespass is the responsibility of the landowner. 

4. The previous Councils of Bournemouth, Dorset (Christchurch) and Poole had 
distinct policies and procedures for addressing unauthorised encampments. These 
policies differed considerably in terms of site management, the provision of 
alternative stopping places, the levels and scope of target hardening, the levels of 
site provision once an encampment had been established and the method of legal 
address to obtain possession. 

5. Prior to April 2019, Christchurch Borough fell under the jurisdiction of Dorset County 
Council who had summer transit provision at Piddlehinton. The police therefore had 
an option to serve direction orders under section 62 of the Criminal Justice and 
Public Order Act (1994). 

6. A joint protocol between Dorset Police and Dorset Local authorities provides a 
coordinated approach to unauthorised encampments. The vast majority of 
encampments within the conurbation are managed by the local authority. The Police 
do have discretionary powers under Section 61 & 62 of the Criminal Justice and 
Public Order Act (1994) if certain criteria are met to direct occupiers to leave site, in 
particular if an alternative stopping place is provided. 

7. The formation of BCP Council brought together four Councils in which historical data 
would indicate a potential of up to 50 unauthorised encampments per annum.  This 
seasonal cycle peaks between March to October, with expenditure in the region of 
£100,000 per annum. 

26



8. Cabinet approved on the 9th October 2019 to establish a cross party member 
Working group to review the current policy and procedures and recommend a 
consolidated BCP Policy for managing unauthorised encampments once 
established.  

9. The group would also examine the potential options and future direction for policy 
development in the prevention or deterrent of future unauthorised encampments and 
possible remedies to direct groups to leave site within current legislation and 
changes to legislation being proposed by recent government consultations. 

10. The Council has sought legal counsel to advise on the potential and scope of the 
use of pre-emptive injunctions in the control of unauthorised encampments. These 
have been used extensively within the London Boroughs, being obtained through 
the High Courts. A recent successful High Court appeal has thrown some doubt on 
the legitimacy of such injunctions, in doing so setting new case law. The Council 
wishes to seek further Counsel advice and clarification to ascertain if this is still a 
potential option for the future within BCP Council. 

11. The Government has been consulting on the strengthening of current legislation or 
the introduction of new legislation in relation to powers for tackling unauthorised 
encampments since April 2018. The legacy Councils of Poole and Bournemouth 
both submitted response to an initial consultation in June 2018. The Government 
had in response indicated a will to change current legislation or introduce new 
legislation 

12. In November 2019, the Government has invited further consultation, titled 
“strengthening police powers to tackle unauthorised encampments”. This consults 
on measures which include: 

a. The criminalising of the act of trespass within England and Wales  

b. Amending section 61 & section 62A of the Criminal Justice & Public Order 
Act 1994.  

Following consultation with the portfolio holder, the working group and officers a 
response was developed, with a return being submitted on the 5th March 2020 by 
BCP Council.  

13. The original working group report was scheduled to be presented to Cabinet in April 
2020, but the advent of Covid -19 has caused a delay in its presentation as both 
Cabinet and the Service have had to reprioritise critical work schedules in response. 
The Working Group report was re-affirmed by the group in July 2020. 

14. There has been a significant drop in unauthorised encampments for 2020 (48%, 
25/08/2020), which is thought likely to be linked to Covid-19 and the cancelation of 
several major events and attractions within BCP Council and Dorset. 

15. Initially Government Covid-19 advice was implemented in managing a small number 
of encampments by tolerating, assisting in their welfare requirements and not 
seeking possession. With the lifting of Covid-19 restrictions and the easing of self-
shielding the draft management policy has been used to implement a more unified 
approach to unauthorised encampment management across BCP Council.   

16. It should be noted that wild camping has been prevalent during the summer of 2020 
causing a significant impact on the beach front, nature reserves and public open 
spaces. Whilst wild camping has sometimes been an issue in previous years the 
scale has increased dramatically and therefore officers will be looking at options to 

27



enable this to be managed and enforced in a more dynamic fashion. This will be 
reviewed along with the rest of the seafront byelaws and the public space protection 
orders over the winter period. This is therefore not in scope for this report due to the 
short-term duration of these types of encampment. 

 

Options Appraisal 

17. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for options 
available, appraisal of the advantages and disadvantages of each option and the 
reasons for recommending a particular option.  

Recommendation 1: New consolidated policy on the management of 
unauthorised encampments 

18. The policy gives guidance as outlined below in which any other additional facilities 
may be provided, the level of site management and /or any other actions which may 
be undertaken by the Council. In that: 

a. Any provision of skips will be determined following an environmental 
impact assessment. 

b. Any provision of toilets will be determined following the undertaking of a 
welfare and educational needs assessment. 

c. Security will only be provided in exceptional circumstances following an 
assessment on community impact. Security may be deployed where 
intelligence suggests there is a risk of an imminent unauthorised 
encampment. 

d. Other levels of engagement or action will be determined following the 
dynamic risk assessment which will determine the level of risk to staff who 
may be brought into direct conflict, by undertaking their normal duties i.e. 
parking enforcement. 

Recommendation 2 – Target Hardening  

19. The working group considered the merits and disadvantage of extensive target 
hardening across BCP Council. 

20.  It was recommended that any target hardening is undertaken on a limited basis 
as local circumstances dictate following post encampment assessment. 

Recommendation 3 – Alternative Stopping Places.  

21. It is recommended that officers through delegated authority to the Director of 
Environment in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment & Climate 
Change and the members working group determine the necessary governance, 
resources and consultation to explore the feasibility of providing a range of 
alternative stopping places across the BCP conurbation.  

22. It is recognised that any future works would require input and engagement from 
across the wider Council and our partners within the community involved in the 
management of unauthorised encampments. This would include members of the 
cabinet, ward councillor, planning, corporate comms, community engagement, 
Dorset Police, Dorset Race Equality Council and representatives of the gypsy & 
traveller community in identifying and developing any future options. 

Recommendation 4 – Pre-emptive injunctions 

28



23. It is recommended that officers through delegated authority to the Director of 
Environment in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment & Climate 
Change and the members working group determine the necessary governance, 
resources and consultation to explore the feasibility of providing pre-emptive 
injunction for sites that have a demonstratable history of unauthorised 
encampments across BCP Council. 

24. That the Council seeks further legal advice from legal counsel in light of the recent 
successful challenge within the Court of Appeal against the LB Bromley, in which 
a pre-emptive injunction appeal was partially upheld in respect to seeking a 
blanket injunction.  

25. This has set legal precedence, in which other Councils have subsequently 
successfully obtained pre-emptive injunctions, although on sites with a known 
history of anti-social behaviour, unauthorised encampments. It must be noted that 
these Councils had to provide evidence to the court that they could demonstrate 
they were actively working towards the provision of alternative stopping places 
and that a through and meaningful equality impact assessment had been 
undertaken 

26. It is recognised that any future works would require input and engagement from 
across the wider Council and our partners within the community involved in the 
management of unauthorised encampments. This would include members of the 
cabinet, ward councillor, planning, corporate comms, community engagement, 
Dorset Police, Dorset Race Equality Council and representatives of the gypsy & 
traveller community in identifying and developing any future options. 

Summary of financial implications 

27. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for summary of 
the financial implications arising from that report.  

Additional information to the Working Group report 

28. An additional £50K had already been allocated to the Environment budget for 
20/21 to employee an additional member of staff to manage unauthorised 
encampments. This post has been deferred to provide a mid-year savings for 
20/21, but it is anticipated that this will be required for 21/22. 

29. The report recommends target hardening on a limited basis as local 
circumstances dictate. It is anticipated that the current revenue budget will cover 
most remedial works within BCP Council 

30. The Significant target hardening of key sites is not recommended within the 
Working Group report. Thus, if accepted an additional £350K will not be required. 

31. Additional legal counsel required as part of the feasibility study into pre-emptive 
injunctions is estimated not to exceed £5K. Advice given would form part of any 
future recommended option brought back to cabinet. 

32. Initial expenditure into the feasibility study into the provision of alternative stopping 
places is estimated to be 20K. This would primarily be around obtaining specialist 
planning advice, which may be provided inhouse if capacity is available. 

33. The adoption of the draft management policy and lower numbers of encampments 
experienced during 20/21 has led to an underspend in the budget allocated to 
unauthorised encampments. It is anticipated feasibility costs (£25K, as outlined 
above) on a one-off basis can be met from this service underspend. 

29



34. Any future spend would depend on the future recommended option derived from 
the feasibility studies and this would be financially evaluated in more detail and 
brought back to Cabinet for future approval. 

Summary of legal implications 

35. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for summary of 
the legal implications 

Summary of human resources implications 

36. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for summary of 
the legal implications  

Summary of public health implications 

37. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for a summary of 
sustainability impact of their decision.  

Summary of Public Health Implications 

38. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for a summary of 
Public health Implications.  

 Summary of equality implications 

39. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for a summary of 
Equality Implications 

Summary of risk assessment 

40. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for a summary of 
risk assessment 

Background papers 

41. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for a summary of 
background Papers 

Appendices   

42. Please refer to the Cross-Party Members Working Group Report for appendices 

43. Government Guidance in relation to the management of unauthorised 
encampments:  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/418139/150326_Dealing_with_illegal_and_unauthorised_encamp
ments_-_final.pdf 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/7837/143582.pdf 

 

44. Government Guidance in relation provision of transit sites/alternative stopping 
places 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/11439/designinggypsysites.pdf 

 

 

30

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418139/150326_Dealing_with_illegal_and_unauthorised_encampments_-_final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418139/150326_Dealing_with_illegal_and_unauthorised_encampments_-_final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418139/150326_Dealing_with_illegal_and_unauthorised_encampments_-_final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7837/143582.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7837/143582.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11439/designinggypsysites.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11439/designinggypsysites.pdf


Members Working Group Report 

 

Report subject  Managing Unauthorised Encampments: Policies and Procedures 

Meeting date  14th July 2020 

Status  Public Report 

Executive summary  To advise Cabinet of the considerations undertaken and subsequent 
recommendations brought forward by the cross-party members 
working group for unauthorised encampments 

The report contains items considered and options reviewed in 
reaching a consolidated policy for the management of encampments 
and the future options from the control of unauthorised encampments 
across BCP Council. This includes the recommendations for: 

1. Policies for the management of future encampments 

2. Policies regarding target hardening of sites 

3. The feasibility for pre-emptive injunctions 

4. The feasibility of providing alternative stopping places 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 a) Cabinet adopt the revised policy for the management of 
unauthorised encampments across BCP Council. This policy 
outlines a unified approach to the provision of welfare and 
waste facilities and the provision of security for an individual 
encampment. 

b) Authority be delegated to the Director of Environment in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment & 
Climate Change and the members working group to 
determine the necessary governance, resources and 
consultation to explore the feasibility of providing temporary 
stopping places, and also a pre-emptive injunction against 
trespass for specifically named public spaces across 
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole in accordance with 
current legal advice. 

c) To adopt a balanced approach to target hardening as local 
circumstance dictate. 

 

 

31



Reason for 
recommendations 

To introduce a single and consolidated policy for the management of 
unauthorised encampments and provide suitable control measures 
and alternative provision for the travelling community in order to 
reduce the incidents of unauthorised encampments. 

 

Working Group Chair  Councillor Dr Felicity Rice, Portfolio Holder for Environment and 

Climate Change  

Working Group 

Members 

09/2019 – 07/2020 

Councillor Felicity Rice, Portfolio Holder & Chair of Members 

working Group 

Councillor Jane Kelly, Deputy Chair 

Cllr Richard Burton 

Cllr Diana Butler 

Cllr Duane Farr 

Cllr Mohan Iyengar 

Cllr Colin Bungey 

07/2020 

Cllr Simon McCormack 

Cllr May Haines 

Cllr Tony Trent 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Recommendation 
Title:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

32



Background 
 

1. This report covers the options to be considered in dealing with any individual or 
group of individuals who have moved onto a piece of land owned by BCP Council 
with the intension of residing on it without permission, thus constituting trespass. 
 

2. An unauthorised encampment is a generic term used to describe persons using a 
temporary structure to reside on land without the landowner or occupier's 
consent. This may include vehicles, caravans, tents or similar temporary 
structures or shelters. 
 

3. Unauthorised camping is not a criminal offence. It is a civil offence (trespass), 
giving landowners the right to repossess their property using the due process of 
law. The prevention of trespass is the responsibility of the landowner. 
 

4. The previous Councils of Bournemouth, Dorset (Christchurch) and Poole had 
distinct policies and procedures for addressing unauthorised encampments. 
These policies differed considerably in terms of site management, the provision 
of alternative stopping places, the levels and scope of target hardening, the 
levels of site provision once an encampment had been established and the 
method of legal address to obtain possession. 
 

5. A joint protocol between Dorset Police and Dorset Local authorities provides a 
coordinated approach to unauthorised encampments. The vast majority of 
encampments within the conurbation are managed by the local authority. The 
Police do have discretionary powers under Section 61 & 62 of the Criminal 
Justice and Public Order Act (1994) if certain criteria are met to direct occupiers 
to leave site, in particular if an alternative stopping place is provided. 
 

6. The formation of BCP Council brought together four Councils in which historical 
data would indicate a potential of up to 50 unauthorised encampments per 
annum.  This seasonal cycle peaks between March to October with expenditure 
in the region of £100,000 per annum. 
 

7. Cabinet approved on the 9th October 2019 to establish a cross party member 
Working group to review the current policy and procedures and recommend a 
consolidated BCP Policy for managing unauthorised encampments once 
established.  
 

8. The group would also examine the potential options and future direction for policy 
development in the prevention or deterrent of future unauthorised encampments 
and possible remedies to direct groups to leave site within current legislation and 
changes to legislation being proposed by recent government consultations. 
 

9. The Council has sought legal counsel to advise on the potential and scope of the 
use of pre-emptive injunctions in the control of unauthorised encampments. 
These have been used extensively within the London Boroughs, being obtained 
through the High Courts. A recent successful High Court appeal has thrown some 
doubt on the legitimacy of such injunctions, in doing so setting new case law. The 
Council is currently seeking further Counsel advice and clarification to ascertain if 
this is still a potential option for the future.   

33



10. The Government has been consulting on the strengthening of current legislation 
or the introduction of new legislation in relation to powers for tackling 
unauthorised encampments since April 2018. The legacy Councils of Poole and 
Bournemouth both submitted response to an initial consultation in June 2018. 
The Government had in response indicated a will to change current legislation or 
introduce new legislation 
 

11. In November 2019, the Government has invited further consultation, titled 
“strengthening police powers to tackle unauthorised encampments”. This 
consults on measures which include: 

a. The criminalising of the act of trespass within England and Wales  

b. Amending section 61 & section 62A of the Criminal Justice & Public Order 
Act 1994.  

12. A return was submitted on the 5th March 2020. 

 

Recommendations 
  

13. The cross-party members working group was formed as a recommendation from 
a previous cabinet report date 9 October 2019: Revised policy and practice for 
unauthorised encampments. 
 

14. The group have met to consider the alignment of policies and procedures across 
BCP Council in respect to the management of unauthorised encampments and to 
review and recommend potential directions of travel in prevention of unauthorised 
encampments across BCP Council public spaces. 
 

15. Their recommendations are outlined below. 
 

 

Recommendation 1 – New consolidated policy on the management of 
unauthorised encampment.  
 

16. That the Council adopts the new policy which gives guidance as outlined below 
that: 

a. Any provision of skips will be determined following an environmental 
impact assessment. 

b. Any provision of toilets will be determined following the undertaking of  a 
needs assessment. 

c. Security will only be provided in exceptional circumstances following an 
assessment on community impact. Security may be deployed where 
intelligence suggests there is a risk of an imminent unauthorised 
encampment. 

17. The Council has a legal duty as a top tier authority to undertake a needs 
assessment to identify any health or educational needs within the encampment. 

18. The Council also undertakes a dynamic risk assessment that reviews the 
potential impact the encampment has on the local environment, the overall usage 

34



of the occupied site, the local community and the level of engagement the group 
will have with Council staff and other agencies. 

19. The assessments help to determine the level of facilities the Council will provide 
to the encampment as outlined in 18, a),b) & c).   

20. The assessments are used to determine whether the group have exceeded the 
criteria in which the Council as the landowner can reasonably ask the Police to 
use their powers under Section 61 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 
1994 to direct the group to leave the site 

21. The assessments also give an indication as to whether Police support is required 
in dealing with other Civil offences that may be occurring within the encampment 
and/or the serving of legal notices to obtain possession of the land.  

22. The assessments also give an indication as to the level of risk staff may face in 
undertaking their normally duties, which may bring them into direct conflict with 
the unauthorised encampment. 

23. The Police cannot use Section 62 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 
1994 as BCP Council does not provide a suitable alternative stopping place 
within the authority to direct an encampment to our leave the authority`s 
jurisdiction. 

24. Appendix 1 & 2 outlines the recommendations as to the assessment criteria for  
managing unauthorised encampment and the dynamic risk sssessment 
undertaken at the time of engagement. 

 

Recommendation 2 – Target Hardening:  
 

25. The working group considered the merits and disadvantage of extensive target 
hardening across BCP Council. This was rejected due to the high impact on the 
natural landscape, the cost implications, the effectiveness of target hardening, 
the displacement to other public spaces and the restrictions it causes to other 
users of public spaces. It was recommended that any target hardening is 
undertaken on a limited basis as local circumstances dictate following post 
encampment assessment. 

 

Recommendation 3 – Alternative Stopping Places. 
  

26. It is recommended that officers through delegated authority to the Director of 
Environment in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment & Climate 
Change and the members working group determine the necessary governance, 
resources and consultation to explore the feasibility of providing alternative 
stopping places across the BCP conurbation.  

27. The seasonality of unauthorised encampments and their average duration of stay 
of less than 28 days has indicated that there is not a requirement to provide a 
permanent transit site. 

28. This would enable the police to use their discretionary powers under section 62 of 
the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, to direct a group to an alternative 
stopping place or leave the authority’s jurisdiction.  

29. It is also anticipated that any future government changes in legislation regarding 
trespass will also require the local authority to provide an alternative stopping 
place in order to enact such legislation 

35



30. Through consultation with other local authorities the provision of alternative 
stopping places has proven to be the most effective deterrent to the formation of 
unauthorised encampments within public spaces. 

31. It is recommended in the medium to long term, that the Council explores the 
option of providing a range of temporary stopping places across the BCP 
conurbation.  
 
Recommendation 4 – Pre-emptive injunctions:  
 

32. It is recommended that officers through delegated authority to the Director of 
Environment in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment & Climate 
Change and the members working group determine the necessary governance, 
resources and consultation to explore the feasibility of providing pre-emptive 
injunction for sites that have a demonstratable history of unauthorised 
encampments across BCP Council. 

33. That the Council seeks further legal advice from legal counsel in light of the 
recent successful challenge within the Court of Appeal against the LB Bromley, in  
which a pre-emptive injunction appeal was partially upheld in respect to seeking a 
blanket injunction. Injunctions could still be sought on sites with a known history 
of anti-social behaviour and unauthorised encampments 
 
Summary of financial implications 
 

34. It is anticipated that the number of unauthorised encampments will remain at an 
average 50 encampments per annum if no alternative solutions as outlined in 
recommendations 2,3 and 4 are not implemented. 

35. The intensity of encampments between March & October each year means a full-
time member of staff will need to be assigned to manage unauthorised 
encampments throughout this period.  

36. This will include site liaison, overseeing the legal process for possession, liaison 
with the relevant enforcement agencies and elected members, undertake 
statutory counts, respond to consultations, manage internal communications, 
respond to FOI`s and respond to extensive media and public enquiries either 
verbally or in writing 

37. It is anticipated a managerial post will be required costing in the region of £50K 
per annum. 

38. It is anticipated that changes in policy with regards to the management of 
unauthorised encampments will release nominal costs savings due the scale of 
unauthorised encampments experienced across BCP Council, especially with the 
addition of Christchurch. 

39. Currently a budget of £100K per annum is allocated to target hardening from the 
old Bournemouth’s legacy budget. No such budgets exist within legacy Poole or 
Christchurch. It is anticipated that to target harden in line with legacy 
Bournemouth would require resources running into several millions and would 
take several years to deliver. 

40. It is estimated that some key locations within Poole and Christchurch could be 
significantly target hardened in line with Bournemouth for £350K over the next 
year. Although it is anticipated that this will cause displacement requiring an 
additional round of target hardening in future years and additional financial 
resources. (This is currently not the favoured option). 

41. Guidance given by legal counsel to pursue the option of obtaining a pre-emptive 
injunction for key sites across BCP Council, has indicated that this would require 

36



a significant uplift in resources in order to provide the relevant legal evidence to 
deliver within a 3-month time, once the initial temporary injunction has been 
obtained. This has been estimated to cost around £125K.  

a. Instruction of Counsel to obtain injunction + court fees (20 K) 
b. Registration of land to BCP through land registry (25K) 
c. Preparation of legal documentation and GIS mapping for permanent 

injunction (£25K), internal resource 
d. Posting on site of legal documentation (200+) (£20-30K), would be higher if 

function is externalised. (£50K+) 
e. Obtaining writ of assistance + court fees, to enforce injunction (£2-3K) 

 
42. It must be noted that additional costs could further be incurred if a legal challenge 

through the Court of Appeal is raised against the initial injunction. 
43. The costs of alternative stopping place/s within BCP Council in order to comply 

with Section 62 of Criminal Justice & Public Order Act 1994 or any new 
legislation introduced by the government to criminalise the act of trespass is 
currently unknown. 

44. The cost of providing facilities for an alternative stopping place in which facilities 
provided are off a basic level and thus costs are relatively small in comparison to 
the provision of a permeant  transit site in which a full range of permanent 
facilities are required. 

45. It is anticipated that resource would be required to undertake a meaningful public 
consultation, under take land surveys, draw up management agreements and 
purchase and construct minor facilities. 

46. Initial opinion appears to favour recommendations 1, 3 & 4 
 
Summary of legal implications 
 

47. The Council would need to consider the legal implications of the different 
operating models proposed. This would include the use of: 

a. Section 77/78 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 vs the 
use Civil Procedure Rules, Part 55 to gain possession of land. 

b. The legal process involved in obtaining a pre-emptive injunction and its 
subsequent enforcement 

c. The legal requirements associated with the provision and management of 
alternative stopping places. 

48. Advice has been taken from the Councils legal team 
49. Counsel has been sought on the legal process, feasibility and implications of pre-

emptive injunctions  
50. The Government are currently undertaking additional consultation into the powers 

for dealing with unauthorised encampments, by seeking views on the 
strengthening of Police powers to tackle unauthorised encampments. This has 
the potential to provide new legislation and alter current guidelines in current 
legislation by:  

a. Criminalising of the act of trespass within England and Wales  

b. Amending the criteria for implementation within section 61 & section 62A 
of the Criminal Justice & Public Order Act 1994.  

37



51. It must be noted that any likely changes in legislation and guidance will be in 
conjunction with the provision of alternative stopping places in order to enact. 

52. It must also be noted that pre-exemptive injunctions are liable to legal challenge 
through the Court of Appeal 
 
Summary of human resources implications 
 

53. It is anticipated that the number of unauthorised encampments will remain at an 
average 50 encampments per annum if no alternative solutions as outlined in 
recommendations 2,3 and 4 are not implemented. 

54. The intensity of encampments between March & October each year means a full-
time member of staff will need to be assigned to manage unauthorised 
encampments throughout this period. This will include site liaison, oversee the 
legal process for possession, liaise with relevant enforcement agencies and 
elected members, I undertake statutory counts, respond to consultations, 
manage internal communications, respond to FOI`s and respond to extensive 
media and public enquiries either verbally or in writing 

55. Guidance given by Counsel to obtain a pre-emptive injunction has indicated that 
this would require a significant uplift in resources  to collate the relevant legal 
evidence to support this application, which has to be deliver within a 3-month 
time span, once the initial temporary injunction has been obtained. 

56. This would include: 

a. Evidence gathering, submission of papers and representation in the high 
court to obtain injunction and any subsequent enforcement action 
(Instructed Counsel) 

b. GIS mapping of all intended sites to be covered by said injunction (In 
house through Environmental Services team) 

c. The registration of said land to the ownership of the Council if required (In 
house via property services and Legal) 

d. Legal advice and assistance form Law & Governance, to manage the 
process. 

e. Posting of legal notices on identified land to be covered by the injunction 
(In House through Environmental service team) 

57. The identification and provision of a range of potential alternative stopping places 
across the BCP conurbation would require: 

a. A review to be undertaken of BCP assets to determine a range of suitable 
locations (In house through Environmental team) 

b. An application and granting of planning permission to site (In House & 
Planning) 

c. A robust and timely public consultation exercise (In house and Corporate 
comms) 

d. A robust communication plan will need to be implemented (Corporate 
Comms)  

e. Procedures introduced to operate and manage any potential TSP (In 
house team 

 

38



 

 

Summary of sustainability impact 
 

58. Loss of land in providing temporary Stopping places  
59. Will have greater control on welfare facilities and disposal of waste on sites 

managed by Local Authority as temporary Stopping places. 
60. Reduction in damage to Public open spaces and associated facilities. 
61. Reduction in loss of public open space for leisure and recreational activities. 
62. Reduction on the impact on tourism within key locations and subsequent loss of 

income. 

 

Summary of public health implications 

 

63. Needs assessment will still be undertaken to determine and identify any specific 
health & educational issues on an encampment by encampment basis 
 
Summary of equality implications 
 

64. Gypsies and Travellers, who it is believed comprise the vast majority or 
unauthorised encampments in BCP, are afforded specific protections as a result 
of case law, the Human Rights Act 1998, and the Equality Act 2010. Their right to 
continue with a nomadic lifestyle is specifically protected, and the Council has a 
duty to consider how its policies or decisions will affect people who are protected 
under the Equality Act. 

65. Each unauthorised encampment requires a Welfare Needs Assessment (WNA) 
to ascertain any issues relating to health, education, and wellbeing. Government 
guidance acknowledges that many within the travelling community experience 
difficulty in accessing such services, and the WNA identifies issues and signposts 
Gypsies and Travellers to relevant services 

66. This report specifically addresses issues around unauthorised encampments but 
does not cover wider but related Gypsy and Traveller policy matters such as 
permanent housing provision, public health impacts, or modern slavery. 

67. The new consolidated policy on unauthorised encampments will require a full 
Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
Summary of risk assessment 
 

68. The public perception and reaction to the location of alternative stopping places 
is very high and will draw considerable complaints and media attention. This can 
be mitigated through robust public consultation and communication strategy 

69. There is a risk that pre-emptive injunctions can be challenged legal through the 
Courts of Appeal. This will be mitigated by taking legal counsel through eminent 
Counsel involved in this field of expertise and drawing lesson learnt from previous 
case law 

70. Police not using their discretionary powers under Section 61 or 62 of the Criminal 
Justice and Public Order Act 1994. This is mitigated through frequent liaison 
between all parties involved in the management of unauthorised encampments. 

71. Government consultation could change legal framework for dealing with 
unauthorised encampments. It is anticipated that this will be a strengthening of 

39



current powers, rather than a fundamental change in legislation. It is however 
anticipated that in order to enact any new powers to the full an alternative 
stopping place must be considered.  
 
Background papers 

 

72. Government Consultations 
 

73. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta
chment_data/file/844954/Unauthorised_Encampments_-_consultation_paper.pdf 

 

74. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/776942/Unauthorised_development_and_encampments_response.pd

f 

 

 

75. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/697354/Consultation_-_unauthorised_encampments.pdf 

76. Government guidance documentation 
77. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta

chment_data/file/11439/designinggypsysites.pdf 

 

78. Legal counsel advice 
79. Historical data and records  

 

80. Appendices   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

40

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/844954/Unauthorised_Encampments_-_consultation_paper.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/844954/Unauthorised_Encampments_-_consultation_paper.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/776942/Unauthorised_development_and_encampments_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/776942/Unauthorised_development_and_encampments_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/776942/Unauthorised_development_and_encampments_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697354/Consultation_-_unauthorised_encampments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/697354/Consultation_-_unauthorised_encampments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11439/designinggypsysites.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11439/designinggypsysites.pdf


Appendix 1: Unauthorised Encampment Management Assessment Criteria 

 

Unauthorised Encampment Management Assessment Criteria 

 

6th February 2020 

 

These criteria should be read in conjunction with the Dynamic Risk Assessment for 

Unauthorised Encampments: 

 

Site details: 

The information gathered within section 1 to 7 is to assess the level of impact the group is 

having or has had on a specific public space in relation to the users of the space and the 

potential impact on the local community or businesses.  

1. This is a legal requirement.  They are not committing trespass until they have been 

asked to leave and have refused to do so. 

2.  Can the experience from previous encampments be used as an indication to the 

impact of the current group? 

3. The size of a group and the percentage of space it occupies within any said public 

space has a significant bearing on the level of impact.  i.e. 3 living units within a 10-

hectare park or 20 living units within a 1-hectare pocket park.  

4. As per item 3 

5. The closer to residential property the more likely the impact will be greater due to 

the general activities within the encampment i.e. generators, vehicle movements etc 

6. As per Item 5, but in reference to commercial properties 

7. This is to determine how much usable space is lost for everyday activity by the public 

and is linked to item 3. We have to consider: 

 

a. How much space is lost to general activity or recreational use by the public. 

b. Are any activities impacted. i.e. sports, events, parking etc 

c. Can the site still be accessed or traversed? 

d. Are other facilities being impacted i.e. community centres 

e. Are local businesses being impacted 

f. How high is the environmental impact? 

i. Waste disposal 

ii. Environmentally sensitive locations i.e. SSSI 

g. Do the group have access to alternative welfare facilities? 

41



h. Do the group have any welfare/educational needs? (Welfare & Educational 

needs assessment are undertaken, which is a requirement of top tier 

Councils).  This may determine whether any welfare facilities are provided 

i.e. toilets 

 

Details of UE: 

This section is designed to collect data which may be required to determine a future course 

of action.  

 

8. If the group contains greater than 6 vehicles/living units then the Police may consider 

the use of their discretionary powers under Section 61 of the Criminal Justice and 

Public Order Act 1994 (S61) to direct them to leave. However, their own risk 

assessments are aligned with ours in determining the level of impact.  

9. This may be an indication as to the level of waste that the group could generate and 

determine if any waste disposal facilities are required i.e. skips 

Background: 

These criteria link to the legal guidance given for consideration into why the Council may 

request the Police to use their discretionary powers under S61 to direct an encampment to 

leave site. This would be linked to the number of vehicles/living units within the group. 

Please note this has to be significant in its impact and provable, not hearsay.  An act of 

criminal damage has to be proven in court of law beyond all reasonable doubt against a 

named individual, not on the balance of probabilities, and would not apply to the whole 

group. 

10. Has damage been caused to the land or property?  

11. Has threatening, abusive and insulting words or behaviour been used against an 

employee of the Council?  This does not mean against members of the public. 

12. Can we request S61?  We have to answer yes to questions 1, 7,10,11 to facilitate a 

strong request and the overall conclusion of the risk assessment considering all other 

criteria must be very strong.  The Police will use the same criteria in reaching their 

formal reply. 

13. Have we informed the Police, and have we requested S61 if item 12 is met? 

14. Is there evidence of ASB?  We have to consider the actual level of nuisance, not the 

perceived level.  There is often a large level of concern and misconception on the 

arrival of an  unauthorised encampment, especially within the first 24 Hours.  We ask 

all concerned to report incidents to the Police as this builds up an evidence-based 

profile of any ASB or potential criminality.  This will determine if we can revisit the 

request for the Police to use S61 and aid in their decision-making process.  Please 

note that the legal definition of nuisance is something that has to be sustained over a 

42



considerable period of time (months, years).  As we can normally obtain possession 

within 2 weeks this would not meet the legal threshold for nuisance. 

 

Site Management or Provision of Facilities: 

15. Security: Determined through level of impact (Medium to High) on the community or 

any received intelligence from a recognised source as to an imminent encampment. 

16. Toilets: Determined through needs assessment process.  

17. Waste provision: Based through risk assessment criteria and potential impact on the 

environment 

It must be noted that currently BCP Council can only request the Police to use Section 61 of 

the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, as BCP Council does not provide an 

alternative stopping place in which Section 62 could be used to direct them specifically too 

or leave the jurisdiction of the authority. 

S61 only allows the Police to direct a group to leave a specific location, it does not allow 

then to follow, direct them to another location or leave the jurisdiction of the  local 

authority.  

Thus, before requesting that the Police use S61, consideration must be given as to the 

impact the group may potentially have on an alternative location against the impact they 

are having within their current location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

43



Appendix 2: Dynamic Risk Assessment 

 

Dynamic Risk Assessment for Unauthorised Encampment (UE)  
 

 

Site details  
 

1. Has the UE group been informed that they have no permission to be on the site and 
asked to leave the site?           
       Yes/ No 
 
2. Has this site had other UE over the last 12 months?                                     
 Yes/ No 
 

 
3. Size of site UE is on (note for reference football pitch is 7,140 square metres)  

 
 

4. Percentage of the available site area taken by UE (circle answer) 
 

0-25%     25-50%         50-75% 75-100% 
 

5. Distance from residences (note for reference a Tennis Court is 23m long) (circle answer) 
 

0-25m            25m-50m 50m-100m 100m-200m Greater 
 

6. Distance from commercial premises (circle answer)  
 

0-25m            25m-50m 50m-100m 100m-200m Greater 
 

7. Does the UE prejudice/prevent use of the site?                                                   
Yes/ No 

 

Details of UE 

If yes, please describe (eg does the site carry any designations, stops sports use etc) 

 

 

Impact on site users 

       Negligible                Low level             Moderate              High level             Severe 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

 

 

Size: 

 

If yes, please list dates and no of units:  

Name of site:                                                              Date: 

 

44



 
8. Please record number of living units below. Are there more than 6 units?              
Yes/ No 
 

1 Unit 
2-3 units = minor 

UE       
4-6 units = small 

UE 
7-9 units = 

medium UE 
> 9 units = large UE 

    
 

9. Does it appear the group is working? (working/commercial vehicles, sign written vehicles) 

 Yes/ No                                                                             
 
 

Background  
 
10. Has damaged been caused to the land or property?                                                             

 Yes/ No 
 

 
11. Has threatening, abusive, insulting words or behaviour been used to the 
occupier/employees? Yes/ No                                                                                                                                              

 

 
12. Does the UE meet the criteria the Police use to decide if they will use their powers under 
Sec 61 of the Criminal Justice & Public Order Act 1994?                                                           Yes/ No                                                                                                                                                                                       
 

Note Questions 1,7, 10, 11 should be answered Yes to facilitate a strong request to the Police 
considered using their powers under Sec 61 of the Criminal Justice & Public Order Act 1994    
           
 

13. Have the Police been contacted?           

Record no under each type of living unit                   

      Caravan           Camper            Tent            Total Units 

    

 

If yes, please provide details (inc Crime no): 

 

 

Assessment of damage level 

       Negligible              Low level                 Moderate            High level             Severe 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

 

If yes, please provide details (inc Date & Crime /incident no): 

 

 

If yes, please provide details (inc Crime no): 

 

 

Impact of abusive behaviour assessment (Circle one) 

       Negligible               Moderate              Disruptive         Unacceptable            Severe 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

 

If yes, please enter provide details 

 

 

45



 Yes/ No                                                                                                            
 

14. Is there evidence/reports of ASB on site?                                                                          

Yes/ No 

 
UE Management 
 

15.. Is security required?                                                                                                              
Yes/ No 

 
16. Will the UE require toilet provision?                                                                                        
Yes/ No 
 

17. Will waste provision be provided?                                                                                           
Yes/ No 

 

 

If yes, please provide details, eg fires, ASB noise, ASB use of vehicles, fly tipping, human 

waste (inc Crime no) 

 

 

Impact of ASB assessment (Circle one) 

       Negligible               Moderate                Disruptive        Unacceptable          Severe  

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

 

 
Circle type and explain reasoning                  

 

Staff visits        Mobile            Stationary             

 

 

 

 

Explain reasoning and what’s provided 

 
Circle type and explain reasoning (e.g. working group)      

 

Black bags      Wheelie bin        Skip          

 

Details of other comments/observations to be taken into account: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

46



 
 

 
 
 
25/02/2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed by:                                                                     Date: 

 

47



This page is intentionally left blank

48



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Highway Maintenance Funding 2020/21 report 

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This Cabinet report has been developed to:  
 

1. Note the allocation of £2.864M of Dept for Transport (DfT) 
Pothole Funding and seek approval to add it into the 
2020/21 LTP Capital Programme.  

2. Seek recommended approval to deliver the proposed 
programme outlined in Appendix A to utilise the £2.864M 
Pothole Fund award.  

3. Note the allocation of £4.184M of Dept for Transport (DfT) 
Challenge Funding and seek approval to add it into the 
2020/21 LTP Capital Programme.  

4. Seek recommended approval to deliver the proposed 
programme outlined in Appendix B to utilise the £4.184M 
Challenge Fund award  

5. Outline funding shortfalls within Highway Delivery to fulfil 
Council statutory obligations as set out in Section 41 & 58 
Highways Act 1980 and the Well Managed Highways 
Infrastructure code of practice 2016.  

6. Seek to address the in-year (2020/21) funding gap for 
Highway Delivery Services approved spend - to support 
repairs, maintenance and asset replacement in order to 
enable the fulfilment of the Council’s statutory duties.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:   

 1. Cabinet note the allocation of £2.864M of Dept for 
Transport (DfT) Pothole Funding and approve its 
addition into the 2020/21 LTP Capital Programme.  

2. Cabinet recommend approval to full Council of the 
proposed programme outlined in Appendix A to utilise 
the £2.864M Pothole Fund award.  

3. Cabinet note the allocation of £4.184M of Dept for 
Transport (DfT) Challenge Funding and approve its 
addition into the 2020/21 LTP Capital Programme.  

4. Cabinet recommend approval to full Council for the 
proposed programme outlined in Appendix B to utilise 
the £4.184M Challenge Fund award  

5. Cabinet recommend approval to full Council for the 

49

Agenda Item 8



capital allocation of £700k to Environmental Services.   
6. Cabinet receives a further report at the earliest 

opportunity to consider future years capital funding 
allocation options and impacts for Environment & 
Growth & Infrastructure Services.  

Reason for 
recommendations 

Recommendations 1-5  
These approvals/recommendations for full Council approvals would 
enable the delivery of the proposed programme and ensure that 
BCP Council are able to fully utilise the funding awarded.  
  
Recommendation 6  
Proposal to submit a further report at a later date, to consider future 
years capital funding allocation options and impacts for 
Environment and Growth & Infrastructure Services will align with 
funding announcements for future years (post 2020/21) allocations, 
together with ongoing appraisal work to allow BCP Council to more 
clearly define the level of maintenance programme funding deficits.  

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Andy Hadley, Cllr Dr Felicity Rice  

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Kate Ryan  

Report Authors Tim Forrester, Lynne Wait, Kate Langdown, Simon Legg  

Wards  Council-wide   

Classification  For Decision/Recommendation  
Title:  

Background 

Pothole & Challenge Fund: 

1. The national funding is intended to fix up to 50 million potholes but is also available 
for local authorities to undertake longer-term road resurfacing works to prevent 
potholes from appearing in the first place.  

2. The funding allocated to each local highway authority in England in 2020/21 is 
based on a formula using 2019 road length data provided by each local authority, 
and also takes into account the number of highways assets such as bridges and 
lighting columns for which they are each responsible for. The funding is allocated on 
annual basis, it is however important to note that there is no guarantee of future 
years funding streams.  

3. The allocation made in June 2020 also included an element of Challenge Fund that 
was not subject to a competitive bid.   

Challenge Funding:  

4. The local highways maintenance Challenge Fund was established to help deliver the 
government’s commitment to ensure that we have well maintained local highway 

50



infrastructure fit for the 21st century. It was first announced in the 2014 Autumn 
Statement.  

5. The purpose of the fund is to enable local highway authorities in England to bid for 
major maintenance projects that are otherwise difficult to fund through the usual 
formula needs element allocations they receive from government.  

6. Tranche 1 was launched in 2015 and Tranche 2A in 2017.   

7. The current Tranche 2b of the challenge fund is available for 2019 to 2020 and 2020 
to 2021, with a total of £198 million on offer.  Local authorities were able to bid for 
projects that would improve the quality of roads and surrounding infrastructure, 
including bridges and viaducts, to benefit the local economy and make driving safer.  

8. BCP Council submitted a bid in October 2019 for funding to undertake a programme 
of highway maintenance works. 

9. In June 2020 BCP Council were informed that the bid had been successful and an 
award of £4.184M was subsequently made. 

Structural Maintenance programme derivation: 

10. The Structural Maintenance Programme is driven by a number of factors, both 
external and internal.  These are:   

 Maintaining the asset of the highway network in a cost-effective way in 
accordance with the Asset Management Policy and Strategy.   

 Maintaining the highway network to an acceptable standard for all road users 
(motor vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians)   

 Providing an enhanced environment for residents   

 Performance indicators used to measure public satisfaction e.g. NHT Survey   

 National Performance Indicators   

11. Condition information collected in an annual programme of surveys is used as a 
basis for assessing the condition of individual roads in order to determine a priority 
listing in for the Council’s Structural Maintenance Programme.   

12. The conditions surveys comprise:    

 SCANNER – this is a survey carried out using a special vehicle that 
measures the condition of the highway surface recording the texture, profile 
and cracking. This survey is undertaken on the classified network (A, B and C 
roads).   

 SCRIM – this is a machine based survey which measures the skid resistance 
of the road surface. All A and B roads are surveyed.   

 MRM – this survey records the same details as a Scanner survey with the 
exception of cracking defects. It is mounted on a smaller vehicle so is more 
suitable for unclassified roads. 25% of all unclassified roads are surveyed 
each year.   

13. The surveys give a road condition index (RCI) for all roads surveyed which provides 
an initial list of roads for treatment.    

14. A prioritised programme can be produced using software available through our 
Pavement Management System based on input of specific scheme criteria for levels 

51



of cracking, loss of profile and surface texture and minimum lengths of roads to be 
treated.   

15. The RCI is supplemented by data from safety inspections on where reactive repairs 
are being carried out and from officers local knowledge of particular sites as there 
can be occasions where the machine survey records are not totally reliable for 
example some trench reinstatements can be picked up as cracking by the survey   

16. The programme is drawn up in consideration of trying to satisfy all of the criteria 
listed above.   

Asset Management Policy and Strategy:  

17. It is a requirement of the Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance and 
Well-Maintained Highway Infrastructure that highway authorities have an Asset 
Management Policy and Strategy. These documents were in place for the legacy 
authorities and work is currently underway to produce documents for BCP Council. 
These will be presented to Cabinet in March 2021 and will set out the basis for 
allocating capital funding and detail the levels of service that can be expected.  

18. The objectives of the Asset Management Policy and Strategy documents are:  

 Demonstrate the commitment to adopting the principles of highway 
infrastructure asset management by senior decision makers.   

 Document the principles, concepts and approach adopted in delivering 
highway infrastructure asset management at a high level.  

 Link with the local authority’s policies and strategic objectives and 
demonstrate the contribution of the highway service in meeting these.  

 Set out the desired levels of service from implementing asset management.  

 Facilitate communication with stakeholders of the approach adopted to 
managing highway infrastructure assets.  

19. The asset management policy describes the principles adopted in applying asset 
management to achieve the authority’s strategic objectives.  

20. The asset management strategy sets out how the asset management policy is to be 
achieved, how long-term objectives for managing the highway are to be met and 
how the strategy is to be implemented, including setting targets and measuring 
performance. It sets clear direction, provides links with other relevant documents, 
such as corporate plans, and sets out the benefits of investing in the highway 
infrastructure. 

Capital Funding Allocation:  

21. Funding for maintenance is allocated by the DfT on a formulaic needs basis based 
on network length, number of bridges and lamp columns. This funding is 
supplemented by the Incentive fund which is allocated depending on the level of 
progress with Highway Asset Management processes – BCP is currently assessed 
as band three and receives the maximum amount of funding available.  

22. The current five-year funding period ends in 20/21 and there is currently no 
confirmation of what funding level there will be in future years following the spending 
review due in the autumn. There has been an indication that the current amount 
allocated under the Maintenance Block in future years may increase current 
allocations by up to 50% but this is subject to confirmation. A prioritised programme 

52



is drawn up annually to allocate the budget in line with need as determined by the 
latest surveys. 

23. This current year is also the final year of the Incentive Fund allocated via the Self-
Assessment process in its current format. There is no indication yet of how this may 
be amended for future years or what the change in funding of this element may be.  

24. Additional funding is also provided through the pothole fund which for this year has 
been allocated using the formula approach as described above.  

25. Other funding is made available on an ad hoc basis via the Challenge fund or Pinch 
Point funds which is subject to a competitive bidding process. 

26. Announcement on the currently submitted BCP Council Pinch Point funding bid is 
awaited.  

27. A summary of capital funding allocated to BCP for 2020/21 is shown below: 

Funding Stream  Amount 

Highways Maintenance Block needs element  £3,084,000 

Highways Maintenance Block incentive element  £641,000 

Pothole and Challenge Fund (allocated May 2020)  £2,864,000 

Challenge Fund Bid (awarded June 2020)  
This funding is awarded to undertake the projects 
included in the bid  

£4,184,000 

 

28. Breakdown of proposed funding allocation to Environment Services in 2020/21  

Funding Source  Purpose  Amount 

LTP Maintenance Block 
Allocation (already approved)  

Planned Patching  £200,000 

Pothole and Challenge fund  Planned Patching  £212,000 

Pothole and Challenge Fund  Capital Maintenance  £488,000 
 

Total Capital funding allocation to Environment Services  
 

£900,000 
 

Summary of financial implications 

29. Addition of £2.864M Pothole & Challenge Fund award into the 2020/21 LTP Capital 
Programme to be spent in line with the criteria defined by DfT. 

30. Addition of £4.184M Challenge Fund award into the 2020/21 LTP Capital 
Programme to be spent in line with the bid submission approved by DfT.  

31. Allocation of an additional £700k to Environment Services (£200k allocation already 
confirmed as part of the approved 2020/21 LTP Capital Programme – Maintenance 
Block). 

Summary of legal implications 

32. In accepting the funding awards from DfT, BCP Council have made a commitment to 
deliver defined programmes of activity within the agreed timescales.  

33. Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 imposes a duty on the Highway Authority (BCP 
Council) to maintain those roads, footways and cycle tracks that are ‘Highway 
maintainable at public expense’.  

53



34. Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 states that a statutory defence against third 
party claims is provided where the Highway Authority can establish that reasonable 
care has been taken to ‘secure that the part of the highway to which the action 
relates’ to a level commensurate with the volume of ordinary traffic such that it ‘was 
not dangerous to traffic’.  

35. The pressure on revenue allocation and proposed utilisation of capital where 
appropriate will put more pressure on the amount and type of work that will be 
completed in the capital budget. This may lead to an overall reduction in 
maintenance standard and potential increase in user dissatisfaction and complaints 
which could lead to challenges to the Authority under Section 56 of the Highways 
Act.   

36. Extreme events e.g. weather, may challenge the service in terms of reaction and 
keeping pace with safety defect repair policy timescales.  

Summary of human resources implications 

37. The programme of work proposed will be managed collaboratively by internal BCP 
Council resource with support from framework/ tendered contractors as appropriate.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

38. Refer to Appendix D – Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) Report 148 

Summary of public health implications 

39. Budget shortfalls could impact negatively on public health with reduced maintenance 
having an effect on more injuries resulting from crashes, trips and falls and could 
impact use of sustainable travel alternatives, particularly walking and cycling.  

Summary of risk assessment 

40. Inability to undertake sufficient planned and general preventative maintenance work 
will result in an increased depreciation of the highways asset. This will lead to 
increased deterioration and defects as a consequence. 

Background papers 

Well Managed Highways 2016; [Published Work]  

http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/codes/ 

Roads funding information pack  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-funding-information-pack/roads-

funding-information-pack 

Appendices   

1. Appendix A – Pothole & Challenge Fund Proposed Programme   

2. Appendix B – Challenge Fund – Tranche 2B Programme  

3. Appendix C – Overview of Highway Delivery – Functions & Funding Shortfalls  

4.  Appendix D – DIA Report 148 (separate attachment) 

 

 

54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-funding-information-pack/roads-funding-information-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/roads-funding-information-pack/roads-funding-information-pack


APPENDIX A - POTHOLE AND CHALLENGE FUND PROGRAMME 

Approved by Director June 2020 Ward From  To Cost 

Sopers Lane Broadstone/Creekmoor Rugby Road York Road 
£150,000 
Complete 

Willow Drive Christchurch Town Sopers Lane  Stour Road 
£145,000 
Complete 

North Road (inc part of Springfield 
Road) Parkstone Ashley Rd 

Springfield 
Road 

£60,000 
Complete 

B3068 Sea View Road Newtown and Heatherlands Ashley Rd Grove Rd 
£103,0000 
Complete 

   TOTAL £458,000 
     

Proposed Programme for 
Approval     

Planned Patching allocated to 
Environment   various   £212,000 

Capital Maintenance allocated to 
Environment  various  £488,000 

  TOTAL allocated to Environment £700,000 
     

Resurfacing Programme         

Commercial Road Parkstone 
Contribution to 
Challenge fund 
scheme  

 
£75,000 

A35 Wimborne Road ‘Phase 3’  Oakdale 
Contribution to 
TCF scheme 

 

£0 (initially £300,000 prior to 
allocation of Capital 
Maintenance funding to 
Environment) 

B3061 Ashley Road  

Newtown and 
Heatherlands/Penn 
Hill/Alderney and Bourne 
Valley Alder Road Albert Road £200,000 

Charminster Road 
Muscliff and Strouden 
Park/Moordown/Queens Park East Way 

Castle Lane 
West £150,000 

55



A3049 Ashley Road 
Boscombe West/Boscombe 
East and Pokesdown A35 R/A Tower Road £100,000 

Poole Hill  
Bournemouth Central/ 
Westbourne & West Cliff Orchard Walk St Michaels Rbt £250,000 

B3065 Haven Road  Canford Cliffs Ravine Road  
Canford Cliffs 
Road £125,000 

Avenue Road Christchurch Town 
B3073 Fairmile 
Road 

A35 Barrack 
Road £150,000 

Sherborne Crescent  Canford Heath Seatown Close Herstone Close £95,000 

A35 Bournemouth Road  Penn Hill Alexandra Rd  
Archway Rd 
Signals £65,000 

  Total Resurfacing Programme £1,210,000 
     

Retread recycling programme:       
 Elphinstone Road Highcliffe and Walkford Entire road     

Chessel Avenue 
Boscombe East and 
Pokesdown Entire road     

Benmoor Road Creekmoor Entire road     

  Total Retread Programme * £112,000 

Deferred Retread Recycling 
Programme 

 
  

Mossley Ave Alderney and Bourne Valley 
Scott Road  Astbury Avenue 

Deferred to future years to 
allocate funding to 
Environment** 

Norwood Place 
Boscombe East and 
Pokesdown 

Entire road   

Deferred to future years to 
allocate funding to 
Environment** 

St Osmunds Road Penn Hill 
Glengariff Road  Alton Road East 

Deferred to future years to 
allocate funding to 
Environment** 

St Annes Avenue 
East Southbourne and 
Tuckton 

Entire road   

Deferred to future years to 
allocate funding to 
Environment** 
 

56



Hunt Road Burton and Grange 
Entire road   

Deferred to future years to 
allocate funding to 
Environment** 

Edward Road Burton and Grange 
Entire road   

Deferred to future years to 
allocate funding to 
Environment** 

Grouted asphalt programme        
 Shapland Avenue Bearwood and Merley Entire road     

Weldon Avenue Bearwood and Merley Entire road     

Bournemouth Hospital bus hub Littledown and Iford Entire road     

Finchfield Avenue Bearwood and Merley Entire road     

Knighton Heath Road Bearwood and Merley Entire road     

Rycroft Avenue Bearwood and Merley Entire road     

Stony Lane roundabout Christchurch Town Entire road     

Venning Avenue Bearwood and Merley Entire road     

Mannings Heath roundabout Canford Heath Entire road     

Bourne Valley roundabout Alderney and Bourne Valley Entire road     

Yarrow Road roundabout 
Canford Heath/Newtown & 
Heatherlands Entire road     

  Sub Total for above Schemes £240,000 

Somerford roundabout 
Mudeford, Stanpit and West 
Highcliffe Entire road 

Contribution to 
challenge fund 
scheme. £60,000 

  Total for Grouted Asphalt Programme £300,000 

Programme Management Fees    £84,000 

 

Notes 

* This is an estimate of the schemes that could be included in a reduced Retread recycling programme. Due to the reduction of 

budget from an original allocation of £300,000 some economies of scale will be lost with the remaining works being delivered in 

a less costs effective manner. 
 

** The effect of deferring part of the programme is that schemes planned for completion in 21/22 will be deferred to future years 

to accommodate the reduction in funding for 20/21 

57



 

APPENDIX B – CHALLENGE FUND TRANCHE 2B PROGRAMME 
 

  From To DfT Local 

Third 
Party 
Funding  

A35 Commercial Road Park Road Church Road £686,000 £75,000   

A3060 Castle Lane West Muscliffe Way 
Broadway 
Roundabout £1,570,000     

 
A35 Poole Road Pottery Roundabout Bourne Valley Road £211,000   £200,000 

A35 Christchurch Road Centenary Way Seabourne Road £1,198,000     

A341 Wimborne Road Ferncroft Road Northbourne Rbt £345,000 £390,000   

A35 Somerford Roundabout     £174,000 £60,000   

   

 
£4,184,000 

 

 
£525,000 

 

 
£200,000 

 

  

58



Appendix C - Overview of Highway Delivery - Functions & Funding Shortfalls 

 Highway Delivery Services involves several functions:  

Highway Delivery   

Environment Service  

Highway inspection  Documented inspection of the Highway to identify issues, respond 

to reports and provide Section 58 defence against third part claims  

Surfacing   Plugging and repair of potholes and surface defects along with 

associated paviours, kerbs and channels  

Impact (safety) fencing 

& pedestrian barriers  

Inspection, tensioning, maintenance and repair/replacement of 

fencing (c.35km) and barriers  

Street furniture  Repair and replacement of highway maintainable bollards, benches 

and seating  

Signs and lines  Maintenance of road signs (non-illuminated) and road markings  

Winter service  Provision of road weather forecasting, salting and snow clearance  

Drainage  Maintenance of highway drainage assets including c.70,000 gullies  

Out of hours response  24/7/365 call out service to highway emergencies and related 

incidents  

Traffic management  Traffic management (mobile works, lane closers, etc., to support 

vegetation management and cleansing)  

  

 

Highway Delivery Revenue Funding  

Legacy Council Funding 

positions 
Bournemouth  Christchurch  Poole  

revenue budget 2019/20  £2,364,000  £271,000  £2,259,000  

km road network  509.0  220.0  535.0  

£ per km  £4,644.40  £1,231.82  £4,222.43  

  

59



As part of 2020/21 budget setting process a funding shortfall of £650,000 was identified in 

relation to legacy Dorset Council disaggregated budget for Christchurch. 60% (£393,832) 

increase in revenue funding was approved for the 2020/21 budget with the ambition that the 

remaining £256,168 would be incorporated in the 2021/22 budget setting process as a 

member priority to address the funding disparity between legacy authorities.   

This funding addressed the immediate inequality (Christchurch) between legacy authorities, 

but did not address the legacy funding pressures on the wider Highway Delivery Service 

emerging as a direct consequence of an aging highway network, increasing severe weather 

snow/ice, flooding events and its adverse impact on highway condition and the application of 

a single more rigorous Inspection Policy in line with the Well Managed Highways 

Infrastructure code of practice 2016 and Insurance provider requirements.  However, due to 

Covid-19 impacts on Council finances £142,000 of the approved £393,832 was 

subsequently deferred to deliver required in year savings needs.  

As a result of service demand and to fulfil its Statutory Duties the Highway Delivery team 

overspent by £468,000 in 2019/20.  A subsequent review of expenditure identified £404,000 

that could be classed as capital and was transferred to the capital programme.  Despite this 

overspend the level of identified safety repairs, component replacement works, and 

emergency repairs further exceeds resource/budget and continues to grow.  At the current 

time there are c.1000 outstanding defect repairs across BCP Council of which c. 750 are 

overdue their allocated rectification date which was determined by risk assessment and as a 

consequent presents a real legal, financial and reputational risk to the Council.  

The proposed additional in year allocation of capital will help address a substantial number 

of the outstanding recorded defect cases and thereby significantly reduce the current legal, 

financial and reputational risks to the authority. However, it must be noted that without a 

longer-term strategic decision on how this ongoing funding shortfall is to be addressed to 

support an aging network and increasing identified defect cases this will have to be 

presented as a known MTFP pressure for 2021/22 and onwards.  

60



 

DIA Report 148/TF/270820 

Appendix D: Decision Impact Assessment Report 

Highway Maintenance Funding 2020/21 Report 
 
DIA Proposal ID: 148 
Assessment date: 27th August 2020 
Assessor(s): Tim Forrester 
Support: Roxanne King 

 

The Decision Impact Assessment (DIA) is a requirement of BCP Council’s Financial and Procurement Regulations.  It has been 

developed to help project managers maximise the co-benefits of proposals, reduce risk and ensuring that sustainable outputs and 

value for money are delivered through every project, plan, strategy, policy, service and procurement. 

The following report highlights the opportunities and potential issues associated with the above titled proposal. It has been assessed 

against a number of themes and shared with BCP Council Theme Advisors for internal consultation. The RAG ratings and additional 

information have been provided by the project manager and may or may not have incorporated feedback from theme advisors. 

Results should be scrutinised by decision-makers when considering the outcome of a proposal. 

The results of this DIA will be combined with all other assessments to enable cumulative impact data across a wide range of data 

sets. Individual DIA reports should be included in proposal documentation and made available to decision makers for consideration.  

Cumulative impact reports will be produced annually or as required by the Climate Action Steering Group and Members Working 

Group. 

 

 

For questions and further information, please contact Sustainability Team at DIA@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 

Please note: This report is in a draft format and may appear different to future DIA reports.  

61

mailto:DIA@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

DIA Report 148/TF/270820 

  

  

62



 

DIA Report 148/TF/270820 

Proposal Title Highway Maintenance Funding 2020/21 Report Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
Supported 

Type of Proposal Other  

 

Brief Description Programme of highway network maintenance improvements utilising external grant 

funding allocations. 

Assessor Tim Forrester, DLEP & Programme Manager 
Directorate Regeneration & Economy 
Service Unit Growth & Infrastructure 
Estimated Cost Above OJEU threshold - £7,048,000 
Ward(s) Affected All Wards 

 

RAG reasoning and proposed mitigation/monitoring actions 

Theme RAG 
RAG reasoning 
Details of impacts including evidence and knowledge gaps 

Mitigation and monitoring actions 
details of proposed mitigation/remedial action 
and monitoring (inc. timescales, responsible 
officers, related business plans etc) 

Climate Change & 
Energy 

 Efficient processes and weather proof technologies deployed as 
standard, taking into consideration expected future impacts of climate 
change. 

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly. 

Communities & 
Culture 

 
Funding will enable the maintenance of a safe road network.  

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly. 

Waste & Resource 
Use 

 Works will include the recycling and relaying of materials where 
possible, given the road conditions. Supply chain of materials 
(especially raw materials) to be investigated. 

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly, including 
supply chains and waste generation. 

Economy 
 Improved road network supports local economy and the efficient 

movement of people and goods. It will reduce the council's liabilities 
associated to claims for accidents/damage on the highway. 

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly to ensure 
reduced risk and liability. 

Health & Wellbeing 
 Highway network improvements will help facilitate active travel through 

safe road conditions. Relining process could potentially lead to the 
development of improved cycle facilities. 

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly. Online 
portal enables residents to report issues on 
the highway, including aspects which could 
have a detrimental impact on their health and 
wellbeing. 

63



 

DIA Report 148/TF/270820 

Learning & Skills 
 Funding allocations will allow recruitment/retention of existing staff and 

the implementation of new ways of working. 
Opportunities to be determined. 

Natural Environment 
 Road network already in existence, this programme seeks to maintain it 

at a high quality, reducing degradation and environmental impacts. 
Opportunities to improve the natural environment could be explored. 

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly. 
Expansion of the highway network not within 
scope of this funding/report. 

Sustainable 
Procurement 

 Works within the programme of activities will require individual 
tenders/procurement of materials etc. which will be assessed as 
required. 

N/A 

Transport & 
Accessibility 

 
Highway condition improvements will benefit all network users and 
more specifically will help facilitate active travel through safe road 
conditions. Relining process could potentially lead to the development 
of improved cycle facilities. 

Road network degradation and required 
works will be monitored constantly. 

 

64



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Christchurch Bay and Harbour Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy 

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  A new Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) 

Strategy covering Christchurch Bay and Harbour is needed to 

guide long term sustainable coastal and tidal flooding and erosion 

risk management.  This Cabinet report is seeking approval to 

progress procurement of specialist consultancy services to develop 

the strategy using Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA) funding 

which is in the process of being secured by the Environment 

Agency.    This work will ultimately lead to an FCERM Strategy 

approved by the Environment Agency against which subsequent 

studies, schemes and beach management plans can be developed, 

without the need to assess the strategic options on a site-by-site 

basis for each scheme. This will provide the basis for future FDGiA 

bids for schemes to mitigate the risk of flooding or erosion to the 

residents and businesses in the Christchurch Bay and harbour 

area. There will be zero net cost to BCP council in producing the 

Strategy. 

 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

Approval is sought to: (a) proceed with developing a new 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) 
Strategy covering Christchurch Bay and Harbour in 
partnership with New Forest District Council and the 
Environment Agency, using funding from Flood Defence Grant 
in Aid (£450,000 is in the process of being secured); (b) 
subject to funding being secured, then proceed with procuring 
a Consultant to produce the FCERM Strategy via the South 
Coast FCERM Framework administered by Portsmouth City 
Council on behalf of the Southern Coastal Group area, which 
includes BCP Council; (c) delegate authority to the Director for 
Growth and Infrastructure in consultation with the Section 151 
and Monitoring Officers to agree the terms of any funding and 
consultancy agreement and (d) delegate progression of the 
technical case and associated future submission to the 

65

Agenda Item 9



Director for Growth and Infrastructure in consultation with the 
Director for Finance. 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

To confirm strategy for mitigating flood and erosion risk over the 
next 100 years taking into account the effects of climate change 
(such as sea level rise and increased storminess). To provide the 
basis for Outline Business Cases for future schemes via Flood 
Defence Grant in Aid under our permissive powers as a Coast 
Protection Authority. Long term efficiencies in the delivery of future 
projects for the BCP coastal and harbour frontage; east of 
Hengistbury Head to Chewton Bunny 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Felicity Rice, Environment & Climate Change 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Regeneration & Economy 

Report Authors Alan Frampton, FCERM Strategy and Policy 

Wards  Christchurch Town; East Southbourne & Tuckton; Highcliffe & 
Walkford; Mudeford, Stanpit & West Highcliffe;  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background 

1. The rationale for undertaking the development of a new Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management (FCERM) strategy for Christchurch Bay and Harbour is to provide an approved, 

strategic under-pinning to future FCERM activities across the area, reflecting the coastal process 

interactions that extend from Hengistbury Head to Hurst Spit. This will support the work of BCP 

Council and New Forest District Council as the Coast Protection Authorities responsible for this 

section of coast who are work in partnership to develop this new FCERM Strategy. 

2. The current FCERM approach is guided by the following key strategic documents: 

 Poole & Christchurch Bays SMP2. Adopted in 2011, this SMP is a non-statutory planning 

document but is a key evidence source for Local Plans to consider and any future coast 

works need to be aligned to the SMP to access funding. The SMP is currently subject to a 

“health check” on progress towards implementation as part of a national project led by the 

Environment Agency – the “SMP Refresh”. This refresh will be completed by September 2020 

and provide new evidence and guidance to consider, including recommendations on which 

areas the SMP policy should be looked at in more detail with a view to possibly changing 

policy. A new FCERM Strategy could include investigating any such recommendations and 

enable SMP policy change where appropriate to do so. 

66



 Christchurch Bay & Harbour FCERM Study. Produced in 2012, this document identifies a 

way forward to implement SMP2 policy. It is underpinned by evidence developed over a 

period of time from 2004 to 2012, and as such is not fully reflecting of the latest guidance on 

climate change and sea level rise, etc. In addition, this 2012 document identifies some key 

areas of uncertainty – also reflected in the 2011 SMP2 – that require further investigation. A 

new FCERM Strategy could deliver on these investigations.  

 

Summary of the FCERM Issues in Christchurch Bay & Harbour for a new FCERM 

Strategy to consider 

3. The following provides a brief summary of the key FCERM issues within Christchurch Bay & 

Harbour that could form the basis of a scope of works for undertaking the development of a new 

FCERM Strategy covering this area.  

Mudeford Sandbank 

4. The SMP2 policy is to manage the rollback of the sandbank into Christchurch Harbour as sea 

levels rise. The 2012 FCERM Study identifies the need for beach recharge to raise beach levels 

by about 1m will be needed in about 2032. It appears there is a potential discrepancy between 

the SMP2 in 2011 and 2012 FCERM Study in this regard. A new FCERM Strategy could resolve 

any such discrepancy, as well as consider latest climate change/sea level rise guidance and new 

evidence from coastal monitoring and modelling of sediment transport process across Poole and 

Christchurch Bays, which is also considering options for obtaining future beach recharge material 

for these bays from sources within the sediment transport system. It could also assess the 

environmental implications of rollback of the sandbank on habitat within the harbour area. 

5. Current FCERM activity at Mudeford Sandbank is guided by a beach management plan (BMP) 

produced in 2001 as part of the scheme to recharge the sandbank and install beach control 

structures  along the seaward front of the sandbank to reduce the risk of breaching that would 

otherwise cause flooding of parts of Christchurch Harbour. This BMP has a planned review period 

of 10 years but has never been reviewed. The BMP also includes for 2,000m3 of annual sand 

recycling from the tip of the sandbank to the updrift end of the sediment transport system which is 

the area to the east of Hengistbury Head.  

6. The 2012 FCERM Study’s  economic case indicated a low Partnership Funding score for FDGiA 

funding to deliver this based solely on the assets located along Mudeford Sandbank as central 

government funding rules target funding to protect residential properties not beach huts. As such, 

the 2012 FCERM Study recommended that the flood risk benefits provided to the harbour by 

Mudeford Sandbank be investigated in more detail to provide evidence for continued FCERM 

investment along the sandbank.  

7. This area has been significantly affected by erosion since the construction of the Hengistbury 

Head long groyne in 1938, prompting the construction of the current scheme. There are plans in 

progress to re-construct the Long Groyne in the near future along its current alignment. There are 

also proposals being investigated to construct a training wall (or walls) at the entrance to 

Christchurch Harbour to provide greater control and certainty of the navigation channel. Future 

management along Mudeford Sandbank needs to be considered in light of these planned and 

proposed developments. 

Christchurch Harbour 

8. Within Christchurch Harbour, it is intended in the SMP2 to allow much of the harbour to evolve 

largely naturally to rising sea levels and climate change. This is to be aided in places by 

67



undertaking managed realignment to ensure nationally and internationally important habitats are 

conserved. An area at Wick Farm has been identified as a potential area for realignment. An area 

at Stanpit has also been identified as a possible site but is complicated by the presence of historic 

landfill. The SMP2 identifies the need to investigate options to deal with the landfill in order to 

confirm the policy, and a new FCERM Strategy could include this, drawing on recent Standing 

Conference on Problems Associated with the Coastline (SCOPAC) research project that 

investigated coastal risks and historic landfill sites. 

9. In support of allowing this natural evolution and adaptation to continue, there is a need to ensure 

that natural sediment supply to the harbour area from the rivers Stour and Avon that drain into the 

harbour, is maintained. This is particularly important for the conservation of inter-tidal mudflats, 

and further assessment of habitat loss/change potential and so compensatory habitat needs is 

also required to inform future FCERM activity in this area. 

10. Given the importance of sediment circulation within the harbour, there is also a need to improve 

the understanding of the impacts and implications of dredging works that are undertaken within 

the harbour for navigation purposes. Future management approaches will also need to consider 

potential implications of a training wall (or walls) being constructed at the harbour mouth (see 2.1 

above). 

Christchurch Beaches 

11. The area of Christchurch Beaches extends from Mudeford Quay to Chewton Bunny, 

encompassing managed beaches at Avon Beach and Highcliffe, as well as the undefended Friars 

Cliff in between. The Highcliffe coastal defences also support slope stabilisation measures in the 

backing coastal slopes. The beaches are managed by groyne fields that are in varying condition – 

those at Avon Beach are in particular need of replacement in the near future. Retention of a 

healthy beach along this stretch is important for both reducing the risk of coastal erosion (by 

reducing exposure of the cliff toe to marine action), as well as for amenity purposes. Beach 

recycling activities occur regularly to support this, but are not guided by any defined triggers etc. 

captured in a beach management plan.  

12. The defended sections along this frontage are also at risk of outflanking by future recession of 

adjacent undefended cliffs (Friars Cliff between Avon and Highcliffe Beaches, and Naish Cliff to 

the east of Chewton Bunny).  

13. A new FCERM Strategy could lead on to a new beach management plan to guide future FCERM 

activity along this frontage, having given full consideration to the downdrift implications along the 

wider Christchurch Bay to Hurst Spit in setting the strategic direction and future management 

activity requirements. This would be informed by more recent monitoring and modelling of 

sediment transport processes across Poole and Christchurch Bays, which is also considering 

options for obtaining future beach recharge material for these bays from sources within the 

sediment transport system. 

14. A new FCERM Strategy could also set out the approach to managing transition between 

defended and undefended cliffs as outflanking risk increases over time. It could also work with 

communities to develop options for adapting cliff top areas that could be at risk from future cliff 

top recession. 

Naish Cliff and Barton-on-Sea  

15. At Naish Cliff, the SMP policy is for managed realignment for the next 100 years. However, in 

reality there is limited intervention likely to be deliverable along only parts of this frontage, even 

with significant injection of private funding from the landowner. As such, at least some parts of the 

68



cliff top area along Naish Cliff will be vulnerable to future recession and so plans on how to adapt 

this area could be useful – note, the Naish Holiday Park owners have already invested in 

relocating cliff top assets at risk. This could be done alongside addressing how to manage 

outflanking risk / transitions to adjacent defended areas at Highcliffe and Barton-on-Sea from 

Naish Cliff as part of a new FCERM Strategy. At Barton-on-Sea, there is also a need to consider 

outflanking risk from undefended cliffs to the east at Hordle Cliff as well. 

16. Defences at Barton-on-Sea reduce the risk of cliff recession. These consist of cliff stabilisation 

works that are supported by rock revetment and groynes at the cliff toe, which reduces the 

exposure of the cliff toe to marine action and provides significant toe weighting to mitigate the risk 

of seaward cliff slips. The main risk here is from future landslips due to groundwater issues in the 

complex cliffs. Investigations to capture more data to understand the risks and develop 

stabilisation options is ongoing. A new FCERM Strategy could support consideration of 

management of the shoreline at the base of the cliffs aligned to future stabilisation works, taking 

into account how this can be achieved in the context of the wider sediment transport processes 

operating in Christchurch Bay. This in itself would be informed by more recent monitoring and 

modelling of sediment transport processes across Poole and Christchurch Bays, which is also 

considering options for obtaining future beach recharge material for these bays from sources 

within the sediment transport system. 

Milford-on-Sea / Hordle Cliff 

17. The SMP policy for the western and eastern sides of Milford-on-Sea are aimed at managing the 

transition to adjacent retreating sections of coast and managing the losses that could arise to cliff 

top assets as a result. For the central section the policy is to continue to hold the line. However, 

doing so will be increasingly challenging given that loss of beach along this section is already an 

ongoing issue.  

18. The 2012 FCERM Study identifies that the eastern side of Milford-on-Sea could be managed in 

combination with management of Hurst Spit to the east (see also below), by extending the length 

of coast along which beach management occurs. A new FCERM Strategy could assess this 

possible approach and what activities / control structures would be required to implement it, 

taking into account how this can be achieved in the context of the wider sediment transport 

processes operating in Christchurch Bay. This in itself would be informed by more recent 

monitoring and modelling of sediment transport processes across Poole and Christchurch Bays, 

which is also considering options for obtaining future beach recharge material for these bays from 

sources within the sediment transport system. 

Hurst Spit 

19. The current scheme at Hurst Spit was constructed in 1996 and has been subject to ongoing 

beach management activity ever since, guided by the Hurst Spit Beach Management Plan. It is 

likely that a beach recharge campaign will be required in the coming years to re-build beach 

volume, and ongoing investigations of options for obtaining future beach recharge material for this 

purpose from within the Poole and Christchurch Bays sediment transport system are currently 

being progressed as part of the SMP-wide Beach Management Studies. 

20. The current management of Hurst Spit is also potentially at odds with the adopted SMP2 policy, in 

that it is more aimed at managing spit roll back as sea levels rise – so arguably a “managed 

realignment” policy as opposed to the “hold the line” policy in the SMP2. A new FCERM Strategy 

could clarify the implementation approach and, if appropriate, lead to a formal change of SMP 

policy. In doing so, future management of Hurst Spit would also need to consider interactions with 

the areas both to the west of the spit (i.e. Milford-on-Sea in particular – see above), and to the 

69



north of the spit as Hurst Spit provides an important flood defence function for the Western Solent 

as well as protecting salt marsh to the north of the spit.  

Approach to delivering a new Christchurch Bay & Harbour FCERM Strategy 

21. The following summarises the approach that has been agreed with the key partner organisations 

– the Environment Agency and New Forest District Council – to delivering a new FCERM 

Strategy for Christchurch Bay and Harbour. 

22. The FCERM Strategy will cover the open coast from Hengistbury Head Long Groyne to Hurst 

Spit, and Christchurch Harbour to the tidal limits on the Rivers Avon and Stour.   

23. The output of the FCERM Strategy will be definition of strategic approaches to address all issues 

summarised in Section 2 of this note, taking into account all new evidence, data and guidance 

including on climate change. In doing so, it will consider coastal processes and sediment 

transport interactions in Poole and Christchurch Bays, but will only set strategic approach up to 

the western end of Hurst Spit. Beyond this point, the strategic approach for Hurst Spit itself is to 

be set in a separate study led by the Environment Agency for the wider Western Solent area from 

Hurst Spit northwards, and so there will need to be significant engagement between the two 

projects to ensure alignment between strategies, and shared-understanding of future beach 

management options for Hurst Spit include for potentially extending beach management 

westwards to Milford on Sea. 

24. This work will ultimately lead to an FCERM Strategy approved by the Environment Agency 

against which subsequent studies, schemes and beach management plans can be developed, 

without the need to spend work each time assessing the strategic options on a site-by-site basis. 

This will provide savings to both BCP Council and New Forest DC in the longer-term. 

Options Appraisal 

25. If a new FCERM Strategy was not produced for Christchurch Bay and Harbour, then 

ongoing FCERM decisions and funding applications for Grant in Aid / Local Levy would 

continue to rely on the SMP2 policy as adopted in 2011, and so mean BCP Council and 

New Forest DC would both have to undertake additional work to demonstrate a strategic 

approach is being taken on a site-by-site basis as they seek to progress schemes, giving 

consideration to the wider implications for FCERM activity and coastal risk around the 

rest of Christchurch Bay and taking into account more recent guidance etc. This will 

increase costs and delivery time for each project to achieve this. 

Summary of financial implications 

26. No funding from BCP Council is required.  £450,000 of Flood Defence Grant in Aid is 
in the process of being secured from the Environment Agency to fund delivery of this 
new FCERM Strategy.  

Summary of legal implications 

27. The approval of a new FCERM Strategy will support the delivery of coast protection 
measures, which are a permissive power granted under the Coast Protection Act 
1949 that BCP Council uses to undertake coastal defence works. 

28. In developing the new FCERM Strategy, a strategic environmental assessment, 
habitat regulations assessment and water framework directive assessment will be 
completed to comply with environmental legislation. As part of this, stakeholder 

70



engagement will be conducted including with statutory consultees and local 
communities to ensure a wide range of views are considered and inform that FCERM 
Strategy. 

29. The grant funding agreement may be conditional on certain pre-conditions and may 
contain termination and/or clawback rights for the funding body; in that case, legal 
advice should be sought on the key terms and conditions.  Further, advice should be 
sought on the terms of the consultants’ appointment and Procurement advice [should 
be] / [has been] taken on the suitability of the proposed framework agreement. 

Summary of human resources implications 

30. There are no human resource implications. Management of the project will be 
undertaken by members of the BCP Council FCERM team and guided by a Project 
Steering Group comprised of representatives of BCP Council, New Forest District 
Council and the Environment Agency. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

31. The purpose of the FCERM Strategy is to set out the long-term, sustainable, 
adaptive approach to implementing coastal flood and erosion risk management that 
is technically, environmentally and economically viable, taking into account future 
projections of climate change and sea level rise. 

32. In addition, in developing the FCERM Strategy extensive engagement will take 
place, providing an opportunity to share information and educate local communities 
about the future risks of flooding and erosion and allowing those communities to 
inform and help shape these long-term plans such that additional benefits to 
communities can be considered to improve public realm as well as provide flood and 
erosion risk management. 

33. The resulting Strategy will in fact help inform the sustainability of broader BCP 
projects and initiatives that could be at risk of tidal flooding or erosion. 

Summary of public health implications 

34. The approval of a new FCERM Strategy will allow future coastal flood and erosion 
defence schemes to be progressed efficiently to reduce the risk of flooding and 
erosion to people and property, which emerging research demonstrates can provide 
considerable public health and well-being benefits. 

Summary of equality implications 

35. There are no equality implications of this recommendation. 

Summary of risk assessment 

36. Without approval of a new FCERM Strategy, the respective partner authorities will 
need to spend additional funds and resources to develop future schemes to 
demonstrate a strategic approach is being taken on a site-by-site basis. The whole 
purpose of the project is to understand and work towards reducing the risk of 
flooding and erosion to our residents and businesses. 

Background papers 

The Shoreline Management Plan which the new FCERM Strategy will develop from is 

available online at http://www.twobays.net/smp2.htm.  

71

http://www.twobays.net/smp2.htm


Appendices   

There are no appendices to this report.  

  

72



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Flood Defences - Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill 

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Poole town centre is at considerable flood risk which will increase 

over time with the effects of climate change. Recent schemes have 

been completed from Baiter to Poole Bridge, delivered by both the 

Environment Agency (EA) and Poole Harbour Commissioners 

(PHC). However, the area remains at risk due to the ageing 

infrastructure between Poole Bridge and Hunger Hill. BCP Council 

is leading on a proposal for tidal flood defences on the remaining 

frontage. 

The current policy of flood defence delivery through regeneration 
and private development has not provided the required level of 
investment. Our proposal is to deliver via a single scheme, led by 
the council, working in liaison with the various landowners.  
 
The costs to build the defences are estimated at circa £12m for 
delivery of all primary works in a single phase. The OBC confirms it 
is all eligible via Flood Defence Grant in Aid. 
 
This is implementing the preferred option from the (2014) Poole 
Bay, Poole Harbour and Wareham, Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy (PWFRMS). This approved strategy 
identified that within Central Poole Cell there are 573 properties at 
flood risk in the present day 1% AEP event, rising to over 2,000 
properties at flood risk by 2110. 
 
The preferred option is for a new quay wall between the bridges 
and a crown wall in addition to the existing defences north of RNLI, 
along with some localised land raising and flood gates around the 
RNLI site. The most economic approach allows for adaptive 
phasing, with minor additional works (~£836k) planned for 2071 
and 2105. The OBC currently states BCP will underwrite the cost of 
the future phases. 
 
The scheme should be a catalyst for future development along 
West Quay Road, and public realm enhancement, identified in the 
Local Plan (2018), also providing continuous pedestrian and cycle 
access from the Town Quay to Holes Bay. New quay wall heights 

73

Agenda Item 10



and public walkways will be consistent with any redevelopment of 
the power station site on the opposite side of Backwater Channel. 
  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 a) Cabinet approves submission of an Outline Business Case 
to the Environment Agency’s Large Projects Review Group 
(LPRG) to seek circa £12m Flood Defence Grant in Aid 
(FDGiA) to construct tidal flood defences from Poole 
Bridge to Hunger Hill. LPRG is provisionally booked for Oct 
2020. 

b) Cabinet approves that BCP Council adopt the new flood 
defence assets and commit to fund future maintenance 
costs (estimated £303k over 85 years) 

c) Cabinet approves for BCP to underwrite the costs, 
identified in the OBC, for adaptation measures for future 
phases of construction within the business case – 
estimated at a total of £836k in years 2071 and 2105.  

d) Delegate authority to the Director for Growth and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Section 151 and 
Monitoring Officers to agree the terms of any funding 
and/or supplier agreement(s)  

Reason for 
recommendations 

1. Mitigates high level of flood risk for West Quay Road, Old 
Town and parts of the Town Centre in Poole 

2. To influence the potential for future development coming 

forward in the Twin Sails Regeneration Area, contributing to 

delivery of the Local Plan. 

3. Positive public realm / place shaping consistency across the 

central area of the Poole.  

4. Ease developer viability issues, unlocking land for much 

needed housing, contributing to council targets 

5. Enables regeneration initiatives / highway improvements 

otherwise hindered or at risk by flooding 

6. Prevent the need for the EA’s temporary defence plan that 

would temporary barriers erected along highway for the 

whole area 

7. All initial works fully funded via Flood Defence Grant in Aid, 

so zero cost to the council 

8. Contributes to Defra targets to protect household from 

flooding 

9. Present day value of damages in a ‘do-nothing’ scenario is 
£161m and with a proposed scheme cost of around £12m, 
the cost-benefit ratio is over 13 to 1 

 

 

74



Portfolio Holder(s):  Felicity Rice, Environment and Climate Change 

Mark Howell, Regeneration and Culture and Deputy Leader 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Matt Hosey, Head of Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management, 
BCP 

Ben Murray, Programme Manager, Flood Defences – Poole Bridge 
to Hunger Hill, WSP 

Wards  Poole Town;  

Classification  For Recommendation  
Title:  

Background 

1. Central Poole has significant flood risk with the Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill area not 

benefitting from any formalised flood defence assets. The current water frontage 

(shown in Figure 1.1), is in a mixture of different private ownerships, inconsistent 

defence levels and in varying condition states. Most of the existing defence levels are 

very low, with several being overtopped on a simple high spring tide.  

 

2. The ongoing urban regeneration of the Twin Sails area was expected to include the 

delivery of the required flood defences to protect both new development and the 

wider flood-risk area within Poole Town Centre. However, it has not materialised and 

recent developments (at the RNLI) have only included defences along discrete 

lengths.  The flood risk remains across the whole of Back Water Channel and this will 

significantly increase in future years with the impacts of climate change, including 

sea level rise.  

 

3. Developers and Landowners have shown positive support for a single scheme to 

deliver the required defences, giving confidence that scheme delivery can progress 

through to construction without significant challenge. Access has already been 

provided to undertake Ground Investigations to inform the OBC. 

4. The proposed scheme combines with other recent projects delivered by the 
Environment Agency, Poole Harbour Commissioners and BCP Council to provide 
improved tidal flood protection to the urban area and include: 

 Holes Bay Flood Defences 2018  

 Poole Quay Sea Wall 2015-2019 

 
 

75

https://poolebay.net/project/holes-bay-flood-defences/
https://poolebay.net/project/poole-quay-sea-wall/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig. 1.1 shows 
the proposed 
flood defence 
extents along 
Back Water 
Channel from 
Hunger Hill 
(A350, Holes Bay 
Road) to the 
historic Poole 
Bridge. 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Context 

5. The OBC follows the recommendations of both the Poole and Christchurch Bays 
Shoreline Management Plan (2011) which set a policy of ‘Hold the Line’ for all of the 
urban northern Poole Harbour shoreline and the Poole Bay, Poole Harbour and 
Wareham Flood and Coastal Erosion Management (FCERM) Strategy (2014). 
Business cases for Flood Defence Grant in Aid must be in line with the approved 
Strategy. 

 
6. The flood defence scheme is listed on the Environment Agency’s (EA) Flood and 

Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) medium term plan for reducing 
flood risk to residential and commercial property. Currently, the EA has a 
temporary de-mountable flood defence plan for West Quay Road.  However, a 
permanent solution is urgently sought due to the complexities and disruption of 
erecting a temporary barrier along the entire length of the highway. 

76



7. The proposed flood defences from Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill also align with 
several strategies addressing the management of flood and coastal risk.  More 
detail is provided in: Background Papers. 

 

Scheme Objectives and Benefits 

8. The proposed flood defence scheme has numerous objectives which relate to 
three main themes including: 

 Flood risk mitigation. Implement the preferred option in line with local flood 
risk management strategy, thereby mitigating the increasing risk of flooding to 
people and property in light of the impacts of climate change. 

 Regeneration. To help unlock land for future development, provide the 
potential for public realm improvement and contribute positively to BCP 
Council’s sustainability agenda. 

 Environment. Have full regard for the special environmental sensitivities of the 
location, seeking to maintain and enhance where possible the condition or 
integrity of the designated sites. 
 

The proposed scheme design provides a 1 in 200 year Standard of Protection (0.5% 
AEP). It is important to note that no projects eliminate flood risk, but mitigate to a set 
design standard. 

   
Key benefits are listed in ‘reasons for recommendation’. 

 
 

Summary of Options 

9. The options for Cabinet to consider are either: 

 Submit an OBC to the EA for funding of a flood defence scheme along the 
Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill frontage, facilitating the construction of defences 
starting as soon as possible (aiming for Autumn/Winter 2021) 

or 

 Continue to wait for developers/landowners to build new developments that 
will incorporate the required flood defence measures 

 

Options Appraisal 

10. Details of decision making within the OBC 

The area was split into 5 discrete cells to assess the options as each had very 
different existing assets and issues. 

77



 

 

The OBC details how the options for each frontage are considered and how the 
final recommended options, in line with the approved Strategy, are chosen. The 
high level information from the Multi-Criteria Analysis is shown in table 1.1 below. 

 

Table 1.1 

Location Description Reason for short list or rejection 

Zone A 

Raise defences now to 3.6m AOD 
(0.5%AEP for 100yrs) 

Rejected: Significant immediate impacts and no 
adaptive approach. Unnecessary intervention too 
early unlikely to secure support and consents. 

Raise defences now to 2.65m AOD 
(0.5% AEP for 50yrs), then raise to 
3.6m AOD in 2071 

Shortlisted: Adaptive approach. Limited 
environmental impacts and buildability issues. 

Provide temporary demountables (such 
as EA national asset) or similar 

Rejected: Effectiveness uncertain. Significant 
disruption during deployment. Reliant on accurate 
forecasting. 

Zone B 
Raise defences now to 3.6m AOD 

(0.5%AEP for 100yrs) 

Rejected: Existing wall asset new with long residual 
life. Inefficient to replace now. 

78



Location Description Reason for short list or rejection 

Raise defences in 2105 to 3.6m AOD 

(0.5%AEP for 100yrs) 

Shortlisted: Adaptive approach. Economic use of 
existing asset with good SOP for next 85yrs. 

Provide temporary demountables from 
2105 (such as EA national asset) or 
similar 

Rejected: Effectiveness uncertain. Significant 
disruption during deployment. Reliant on accurate 
forecasting. 

Zone C 

Ground raise and/or floodgate now to 
3.6m AOD (0.5%AEP for 100yrs) 

Rejected: Unnecessary scale of intervention to 
early. Relative short gate life will be life expired 
before need. 

Ground raise and/or floodgate now to 
2.49m AOD and then raise to 3.6m 
AOD in 2071 

Shortlist: Adaptive approach. Economic use of 
assets. 

Provide temporary demountables (such 
as EA national asset) or similar 

Rejected: Effectiveness uncertain. Significant 
disruption during deployment. Reliant on accurate 
forecasting. 

Zone D 

Raise defences now to 3.6m AOD 
(0.5%AEP for 100yrs) 

Rejected: Existing wall asset with long residual life. 
Inefficient and unnecessary to replace now. 

Raise defences in 2071 to 3.6m AOD Shortlisted: Adaptive approach. Economic use of 
existing asset with good SOP for next 50yrs. 

Construct set back defence in 2071 to 
3.6m AOD 

Rejected: Quay wall infrastructure still required for 
existing asset owner. 

Provide temporary demountables (such 
as EA national asset) or similar 

Rejected: Effectiveness uncertain. Significant 
disruption during deployment. Reliant on accurate 
forecasting. 

Zone E 

Raise defences now to 3.6m AOD 
(0.5%AEP for 100yrs) 

Shortlisted: Replacement wall required in this zone. 
More cost effective to build to target height from 
year 0.  

Raise defences now to 2.65m AOD 
(0.5% AEP for 50yrs), then raise to 
3.6m AOD in 2071 

Rejected: Insufficient to provide regeneration 
confidence. Inefficient construction approach and 
not cost effective. 

Provide temporary demountables (such 
as EA national asset) or similar 

Rejected: Effectiveness uncertain. Significant 
disruption during deployment. Reliant on accurate 
forecasting. 

 

 

The OBC preferred option(s) needs to follow the FCERM Appraisal Guidance rules in 
order to satisfy the requirements for technical and financial approval by the 
Environment Agency.  

 
Table 1.1 shows the recommended options that form the basis of the proposed OBC. 

 
 
 

11. Continuing to rely on developers to provide flood defences 
The current policy of flood defence delivery wholly through regeneration and private 
development is not providing the required level of investment to achieve the FCERM 
strategy policy, resulting in the need to investigate alternative options and funding 
mechanisms. 

79



 

Summary of financial implications 

12. The financial breakdown of scheme funding is as follows: 

2019/20 - £310k Local Levy to draft OBC 

Subject to OBC approval: 

2020/21/22 – circa £12m (OBC being finalised) Flood Defence Grant in Aid for 
detailed design and construction of all main elements of the flood defences.  

Future costs: 

Maintenance - £303k over the life of the scheme, through BCP revenue 
maintenance budget 

2071 & 2105 - £863k for minor adaptation measures meet the required standard 
of protection set out in the OBC. This will be funded through the RNLI for works 
on their site and through CIL (as agreed at Project Board).  

For the purposes of bidding for Flood defence Grant in Aid, BCP are to 
underwrite all future costs. 

 

13. Key financial parameters of the business case: 

PV Benefits of ~£161m over the life of the scheme through variety of factors 
including flood risk to properties as well as people related benefits such as ‘risk to 
life’. 

Benefit cost ratio of over 13 to 1 

 

Summary of legal implications 

14. As a Coast Protection Authority and Land Drainage Authority, BCP council can 
deliver Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management schemes using their 
permissive powers (Coast Protection Act 1949 and Land Drainage Act 1991). 
BCP Council are also a Lead Local Flood Authority, as detailed in the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010. 

15. Having adopted the Poole Bay, Poole Harbour and Wareham Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk Management Strategy (2014), BCP Council are the Risk 
Management Authority with responsibility for the Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill 
coastal frontage.  

16. The FCERM team aim to do deliver the scheme in conjunction and agreement 
with landowners, developers and other stakeholders. Presentations were 
provided to developers and land owners in July 2019 and they are very 
supportive of the single scheme approach. The new flood defences will be in the 
ownership of BCP Council, including the future maintenance.   

 

80



Summary of human resources implications 

17. BCP Council can deliver the scheme with a combination of in-house staff and the 
technical support of the Council’s professional services framework contract with 
WSP. 

18. Once built, the flood risk management assets will be monitored through regular 
inspections and maintained by BCP Council’s FCERM Team. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

19. The proposed flood defences provide a long-term, sustainable, adaptive 
approach to implementing coastal flood risk management that is technically, 
environmentally and economically viable, considering future projections of climate 
change and sea level rise. 

 
20. The scheme has full regard for the special environmental sensitivities of the location 

(SSSI, SPA, Ramsar) and requires licence and consents as required for defence 
works of this nature through the Crown Estate, Marine Management Organisation 
(MMO), Natural England and BCP Council as the Planning Authority to provide: 

 Environmental Impact Assessment screening opinion (requested) 

 Construction Noise and Vibration Assessment (complete) 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (complete) 

 Habitats Regulation Screening Assessment (complete) 

 SSSI Assent 

 Water Framework Directive assessment (complete) 
 

21. Construction delivery will be strictly administered to minimise carbon footprint. 
This is embedded in all Flood Defence Grant in Aid schemes and the EA’s 
carbon calculator will be utilised throughout the detailed design stage.  

 

22. Flood and erosion risk is a key factor when considering sustainability of any 
proposals within BCP Council and forms part of the new Decision Impact 
Assessment. The fact this project will mitigate such risk over the whole Poole 
Town Centre area will ensure an extremely positive ‘sustainability impact’ is 
delivered. 

 

Summary of public health implications 

23. The delivery of the flood defences from Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill will provide 
significant reduction to the risk of flooding to people and property, which 
emerging research demonstrates will give considerable public health and well-
being benefits. The OBC benefits realisation had a large proportion of its value 
derived from people related benefits (47%), thus demonstrating that the project 
will deliver a significant positive impact. 

24. To put this in another context, if BCP Council does not deliver the required flood 
defences, there will be considerable negative health implications in future years, 
both from the mental/emotional impact of flooding as well as a risk to life. 

81



25. The work also involves extensive stakeholder engagement, providing an 
opportunity to share information and educate local communities about the future 
risks of flooding and the benefits that flood protection schemes can bring  
Additional benefits to communities can be considered to improve public realm as 
well as provide flood and erosion risk management. 

26. The proposed scheme will help deliver the regeneration aims of a continuous 
seafront access route from the Town Quay to Holes Bay, significantly improving 
the ability for public leisure / exercise and reducing the volume of traffic in the 
town centre. 

 

Summary of equality implications 

27. There are no equality implications of this recommendation. 

 

Summary of risk assessment 

28. Without the provision of the proposed flood defences, over the next 100 years, 
significant numbers of residential and commercial properties and highways 
infrastructure would experience tidal flooding. The potential adverse impact to the 
tourism economy and amenity benefit would be of a scale of local, regional and 
national importance 

Background papers 

29. The provision of flood defences for Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill is consistent with all relevant 
local and national strategies and policies, the most notable of which are summarised below; 

 

30. National FCERM Strategy for England, (Presented to Parliament) July 2020 
 

The National FCERM strategy has been split into three high level core ambitions concerning 
future risk and investment need: 

 climate resilient places: working with partners to bolster resilience to flooding and 
coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face of climate change 

 today’s growth and infrastructure resilient to tomorrow’s climate; Making the right 
investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth and environmental 
improvements, as well as resilient infrastructure; and 

 a nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change. 
 

 
31. Defra – 25yr Environment Plan, 2017 

 

One of the five objectives outlined in Defra’s single department plan is to create a nation 
better protected from floods and other hazards with strong response and capabilities by; 

 Better protecting 300,000 homes from flooding by 2022; 

 Build, maintain and operate high quality flood and coastal erosion risk management 
assets;  

 Publish guidance to Local Authorities and other flood risk management authorities on 

coastal adaptation. 
 

82



 
32. Poole and Christchurch Bay Shoreline Management Plan 2 (SMP2), 2011 

http://www.twobays.net/smp2.htm. 
 

The Poole and Christchurch Bay SMP2 covers the project frontage and was first adopted in 
2011.  
The project area falls within Policy Development Zone 3 – Poole Harbour and Associated 
Coastline and at a more detailed level within Management Unit PHB.I (Poole Harbour North). 

 

The agreed policy is ‘Hold the Line’ for the project frontage, recognising that this area 
includes the core residential, commercial and heritage centre of Poole. The principal aim over 
the whole area is to maintain the important regional and national economic viability of the 
area. As such the policy throughout the area is to continue to defend the built and recreational 
assets. 

 
The SMP2 ‘refresh’ process is currently underway with BCP Council having hosted a meeting 
on this specific topic.  There are currently no proposals to change any of the agreed policies 
or management intent on the coastal units within Poole Harbour. 

 

 
33. Poole Bay, Poole Harbour and Wareham Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management Strategy (PWFRMS), 2014 
 

The PWFRMS was submitted to the EA’s Large Project Review Group (LPRG) in 2013 and 
was approved by the EA in December 2014. Previous numerous related studies and 
strategies have been undertaken and where appropriate were considered within the P&W 
Strategy. Particularly relevant studies include; 

 

 Poole Bay and Harbour Strategy (BBC, 2004); 

 Borough of Poole Flood Risk Management Strategy (BoP, 2011); and 

 Borough of Poole Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 & 2 (BoP, updated 2017). 
 

The PWFRMS identified a preferred option of ‘Improve’ for the Central Poole cell (see Table 
2.1), with the deliverable standard of protection to be determined at the detailed appraisal 
stage.  

   
 

Option Description Summary 

4a: Improve (1% 
AEP min) 

Short term: Replace seawalls near Lifting Bridge and at West Quay Road and 
Power Station site (potential private development areas). Raise quay wall 
between Dolphin Quay and Fishermen Landing Stage. Establish cut-off flood 
defence between port / Sunseekers site and rest of Lower Hamworthy. Raise 
(or replace) existing defence walls between Lifting Bridge and Baiter to design 
standard. 

 

Medium Term: Local defence improvements at Holes Bay (west). 

 
Long Term: Raise existing defence walls typically by further 0.4m to sustain 
against sea level rise. 

Table 2.1 PWFRMS Preferred Option  

 
This business case will seek to implement and deliver the preferred strategic option, updated 
with the results of more detailed appraisal studies undertaken since the PWFRMS.  

 
 

83

http://www.twobays.net/smp2.htm


34. BCP Council Corporate Strategy, 2019 
 

The BCP Council Corporate Strategy 2015-2019, sets out five key priorities with two most 
applicable to this project being; 

 
1. Sustainable Environment – Leading our communities towards a cleaner, sustainable future 
that preserves our outstanding environment for generations to come. 
2. Dynamic Places – Supporting an innovative, successful economy in a great place to live, 
learn, work and visit 

 

35. In July 2019 BCP Council passed a motion to formally declare a ‘climate and ecological 
emergency’. BCP Council are committed to ensuring that sustainability runs through every 
aspect of the Council’s business.  

 

 

36. In addition, updates on the flood defence scheme will take place on the FCERM 
partnership website as it progresses: 

https://poolebay.net/project/flood-defences-poole-bridge-to-hunger-hill/ 

 

Appendices   

There are no appendices to this report 

 
 

84

https://poolebay.net/project/flood-defences-poole-bridge-to-hunger-hill/


CABINET 

 

Report subject  Complaints and 2019/20 LGSCO annual report 

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

provides an independent and impartial service to investigate 

complaints about Councils, or actions taken by another body on 

behalf of the Council. 

The LGSCO provides a report annually which details the number of 

enquiries, investigations and resolved complaints for each authority 

in the past financial year. BCP Council’s annual report is attached 

as Appendix A 

The 2019/20 report shows that the number of enquiries to the 

LGSCO have risen slightly, as have the investigations, but there 

has been a fall in the number of investigations upheld by the 

Ombudsman to 50%. There are no major concerns relating to 

LGSCO findings. 

This report includes some details on the number of complaints to 

BCP Council in 2019/20 (970). However, inconsistencies within 

identification, recording and monitoring of complaints across the 

organisation mean that detailed analysis of this data is currently 

difficult. 

Adults and Children’s Social Care complaints follow a different 
statutory process and their reports are reviewed at Overview and 
Scrutiny committee. The Adults Social Care report is attached as 
Appendix B. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 - Cabinet note the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman’s Annual Report 

- Cabinet note the current position with internal 
complaint reporting 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To ensure that Cabinet members are informed of the Council’s 
performance in relation to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. 

85

Agenda Item 11



 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Leader of the Council – Councillor Vikki Slade 

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe, Corporate Director of Resources 

Report Authors Graeme Smith – Policy & Performance Officer 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For information  
Title:  

Background  

1. BCP Council operates a two-stage complaint investigation process for all 

complaints that sit outside of a statutory complaints process. These are referred 

to as corporate complaints.  

2. There are separate statutory processes for handling complaints relating to Adult 

Social Care, Children Social Care and for Bournemouth held council housing 

stock. 

3. All stages of the council’s complaint investigation process are managed by 

service units.   

4. Policy, process and corporate reporting is managed by the Insight, Policy and 

Performance Team, for corporate complaints.   

5. The Head of Insight, Policy and Performance is the LGSCO Link Officer for BCP 

Council. 

6. If a complainant remains unhappy after corporate and statutory complaints 

processes have been completed, they are advised to refer their complaint to the 

LGSCO.  

7. The role of the LGSCO is to provide an independent and impartial service to 

investigate complaints about Councils, or actions taken by another body on 

behalf of the Council. 

8. The remit of LGSCO is limited to complaints of maladministration which have led 

to injustice, a failure in a service, or failure to provide a service. 

9. When aiming to settle complaints, the LGSCO may suggest a financial payment 

and/or changes in the Council’s policy or practices. 

86



10. The LGSCO issues an Annual Review Letter and Report in June/July each year 

regarding the authorities’ performance. The report for 2019/20 is attached as 

Appendix A to this paper. 

11. Their report includes two sets of information:  

 Enquiries and investigations concluded for legacy councils during 2019/20 

 Enquiries received and concluded, and investigations concluded for BCP 

Council during 2019/20.  

12. All reports are sent to Council Leaders, Head of Paid Services and the Chairs of 

the relevant Overview and Scrutiny panels, to support greater democratic scrutiny 

of local complaint handling and to ensure effective local accountability of public 

services. 

13. Further information on the Annual Review and summary of statistics can be found 

on the LGSCO’s website www.lgo.org.uk  

LGSCO Report Headlines 

14. As the Ombudsman notes, the number of complaints taken alone is not a reliable 

indicator of an authority’s performance. The volume of complaints should be 

considered alongside the upheld rate and alongside statistics that indicate the 

authority’s willingness to accept fault and put things right when it goes wrong.  

15. The total number of complaints and enquiries received by the LGSCO for the 

legacy councils and BCP Council during 2019/20 was 105.  This compares to 93 

in all legacy councils in 2018/19 and 129 in 2017/18 

16. In 2019/20, 28 complaints were subject to a detailed investigation. The LGSCO 

will only investigate a complaint where there is the possibility that injustice and 

maladministration has occurred. As a result, most complaints and enquiries 

received by the LGSCO do not proceed to detailed investigation. 

17. Of these, the LGSCO upheld 14. This is an upheld rate of 50% which is below the 

national average of 61%.  

18. Across all authorities, the Ombudsman has highlighted the national upheld rates 

in Education and Children Services at 72% and in particular relating to Education 

and Health Care Plans where 91% of all complaints subject to detailed 

investigation were upheld. For BCP Council, all 3 complaints relating to Children 

Services that were subject to detailed investigation were upheld, including one 

relating to Education and Health Care Plans.   

 

 

 

87

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


19. The complaints that were upheld related to: 

Service Area Number of investigations Number upheld 

Adult Social Care 11 7 

Children’s Services 3 3 

Housing and Community Safety 3 1 

Growth and Infrastructure 7 2 

Law and Governance 4 1 

 

20. There is no theme to the issues found by the LGSCO, indicating that they are not 

resulting from systematic issues. Two of the complaints were upheld due to minor 

errors and no injustice was found to have occurred. Consequently, no remedy 

was recommended for these. 

21. Of the remaining 12, a financial remedy was recommended in 7 and one service 

improvement was recommended.  This related to Adult Care Services in 

Bournemouth Borough Council and it recommend that the council:  

 Remind staff about the timescales involved in complaint handling and, to 

as far as possible, provide full responses at the earliest opportunity; 

 Review processes so the revenues and charging departments are working 

in partnership to avoid duplication cheques and confusion; 

 Review invoicing procedures to look at how invoices are written, and 

payments reflected to avoid confusion.   

22. 100% of all recommended remedies have been actioned to the LGSCO’s 

satisfaction 

23. The Council had no reports issued. The LGSCO issued 63 public reports last 

year. These reports are issued when cases raise serious issues or are of public 

interest.  

End of Year Internal Complaint Monitoring  

24. Data collection and quality of reporting is currently inconsistent across the council 

as we rely on a variety of IT solutions for collecting and monitoring progress with 

complaint investigation. This does not mean that complaints are not handled 

responsibly, indeed there are areas of very good practice, but it means that a 

central view of all complaints is difficult to achieve at the present time. 

88



25. In order to overcome the challenges of legacy approaches and systems a more 

consistent interpretation and practice in relation to complaint handling will be 

developed within the next 12 months.  

26. Whilst a degree of inconsistency in approach to complaint identification and 

recording currently exists, the figures below still represent a useful temperature 

check of the organisation during 2019/20.  As all authorities collate and report 

complaints differently these figures are not able to be reliably compared with 

other authorities. The LGSCO figures remain the most reliable way to compare 

local authority complaint performance. 

27. Service units reported that 970 complaints were received during 2019/20.  

 

Complaint Categories Number received 

Corporate complaints 646 

Adults Social Care complaints 178 

Children’s Social Care complaints 136 

Housing Statutory complaints 10 

 

This covers all stage 1 corporate complaints, statutory social care complaints and 

housing complaints.  

 

28. Adult and Children Social Care complaints are reported separately to the Health 

and Adult Social Care and the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees respectively. The Adult Social Care complaints report is attached at 

Appendix B.  The Children’s Social Care complaints report is not currently 

available as it has not been to Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee yet. 

29. It is expected that complaints and learning from them is fed into service planning, 

development and design processes, as set out in the Performance Management 

framework, adopted by Cabinet on 9th Sept 2020 

30. Often, outcomes to complaints are specific to the case, and there are few general 

learning points that would influence wider policy or procedure. The LGSCO report 

that in 2019/20 the outcome for 78% of the cases they investigated was a remedy 

for injustice for the individual,  i.e. an apology, financial redress or provision of 

service, with the remaining 22% recommending organisational learning and 

improvement at organisational level, e.g. staff training or procedural change. 

89



31. The introduction of a single customer management system, as part of the 

transformation programme, will improve the quality and consistency of complaint 

management data and opportunities to gather learning points going forward 

Summary 

32. The LGSCO annual report provides the most reliable picture of performance at 

this stage and this indicates that BCP Council is performing well compared to the 

national picture. 

33. There will be opportunities to improve the efficiency of complaint management, 

recording and reporting processes through the development of a single customer 

case management system, due to be delivered as part of the council’s 

transformation plans in due course.  

Summary of financial implications  

34. In 2019/20 the Ombudsman recommended seven instances of financial redress 

costing BCP Council £3,250. 

Summary of legal implications  

35. There are not legal implications in this report. 

Summary of human resources implications  

36.  There are no human resources implications in this report. 

Summary of environmental impact  

37. There are no environment impacts in this report. 

Summary of public health implications  

38.  There are no public health implications in this report. 

Summary of equality implications  

39. None of the upheld complaints indicated any equalities related implications. 

Summary of risk assessment  

40. There are no risks identified in this report. 

 

Background papers  

 

BCP Council Complaints Handling Guidance 
BCP Council Performance Management Framework  
 

90



Appendices  

 

Appendix A – LGSCO 2019/20 report  
Appendix B – Adult Social Care 2019/20 Complaints Report  

91



This page is intentionally left blank

92



 
 
 
 

 
 
22 July 2020 
 
By email 
 
Mr Farrant 
Chief Executive 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council 
 
Dear Mr Farrant  
 
Annual Review letter 2020 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending            

31 March 2020. Given the exceptional pressures under which local authorities have been 

working over recent months, I thought carefully about whether it was still appropriate to send 

you this annual update. However, now, more than ever, I believe that it is essential that the 

public experience of local services is at the heart of our thinking. So, I hope that this 

feedback, which provides unique insight into the lived experience of your Council’s services, 

will be useful as you continue to deal with the current situation and plan for the future. 

As noted in last year’s letter, there are a small number of cases I am due to report about 

authorities abolished in April 2019 and I have included separate statistics for Bournemouth 

Borough Council and Poole District Council in this letter. There was no outstanding data to 

report for Christchurch Borough Council. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to place our focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be 

learned from them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and 

have made several changes over recent years to improve the data we capture and report. 

We focus our statistics on these three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an 

authority’s actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated. A 

focus on how often things go wrong, rather than simple volumes of complaints provides a 

clearer indicator of performance. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things 

right when faults have caused injustice. Our recommendations try to put people back in the 

position they were before the fault and we monitor authorities to ensure they comply with our 

recommendations. Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a 

compliance rate below 100% should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply 

and identify any learning. 

93



Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority - We want to encourage the early 

resolution of complaints and to credit authorities that have a positive and open approach to 

resolving complaints. We recognise cases where an authority has taken steps to put things 

right before the complaint came to us. The authority upheld the complaint and we agreed 

with how it offered to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, 

District Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

This data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 29 July 2020, and our Review of Local Government Complaints. For 

further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website. 

Resources to help you get it right 

There are a range of resources available that can support you to place the learning from 

complaints, about your authority and others, at the heart of your system of corporate 

governance. Your council’s performance launched last year and puts our data and 

information about councils in one place. Again, the emphasis is on learning, not numbers. 

You can find the decisions we have made, public reports we have issued, and the service 

improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our investigations, as well as 

previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the tool with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems 

and is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

Earlier this year, we held our link officer seminars in London, Bristol, Leeds and Birmingham. 

Attended by 178 delegates from 143 local authorities, we focused on maximising the impact 

of complaints, making sure the right person is involved with complaints at the right time, and 

how to overcome common challenges.  

We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 

and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. During the year, 

we delivered 118 courses, training more than 1,400 people. This is 47 more courses than we 

delivered last year and included more training to adult social care providers than ever before. 

To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

94

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 
 
 

Complaints upheld 

  

42% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
56% in similar authorities. 

 
 

5                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 12 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
99% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 1 
compliance outcome for the period 
between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 

2020 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 40% of upheld cases we 
found the authority had provided 
a satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
11% in similar authorities. 

 

2                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 12 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

42% 

100% 

40% 

95



Bournemouth Borough Council  

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 
 
 

Complaints upheld 

  

67% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
56% in similar authorities. 

 
 

8                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 12 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

 
 

No recommendations were due for compliance in this period 
 

 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 0% of upheld cases we found 
the authority had provided a 
satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
11% in similar authorities. 

 

0                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 12 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

67% 

0% 

96



Poole Borough Council  

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 
 
 

Complaints upheld 

  

25% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
56% in similar authorities. 

 
 

1                          
upheld decision 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 4 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

 

No recommendations were due for compliance in this period 
 

 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 0% of upheld cases we found 
the authority had provided a 
satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
11% in similar authorities. 

 

0                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 4 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

25% 

0% 

97



This page is intentionally left blank

98



1 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Annual Report 

2019/20 
 

  

Customer Opinion 

and 

Organisational Learning in 

Adult Social Care 

99



Contents  

Executive Summary                      4 

Summary of complaints activity in 2019/20               5 

Complaints decisions                    

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Acknowledgement of complaints                  6 

Complaint themes                      7 

Monitoring the effectiveness of the complaints procedure           9 

Staffing and aligning of the complaints service              9 

Training                         9 

Compliments                        9 

Other forms of customer and community feedback             11 

Satisfaction surveys                     11 

• NHS Digital Adult Social Care User Survey             11 

• First point of contact services                 15 

Consultations/engagement/information and advice            15 

Appendix 1 – a selection of compliments and thanks received         17 

Appendix 2 – the Joint Adult Social Care and Health Complaints Procedure     19 

Appendix 3 – Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) decisions        

    received                     21 

Appendix 4 – Equalities information                 23 

Appendix 5 – Compliments                   25 

Appendix 6 – Compliments                   26 

 

 

  

100



Introduction 

Since the 1st April 2019, BCP Council has provided services to around 400,000 residents 

from Hamworthy and Broadstone in the West to Highcliffe in the East - the twelfth largest 

resident population of any council in England.  

 

Feedback from customers is vital to any organisation in making improvements.  BCP Council 

Adult Social Care welcomes and encourages feedback by any means including complaints, 

compliments, comments, surveys, consultation, engagement or audits and uses this feedback 

systematically to try to make services better. 

 

Locality authorities have a statutory responsibility to report complaints and other 

representations about health and adult social care under the Local Authority Social Services 

and National Health Service (NHS) Complaints (England) Regulations 2009.  They require 

councils and NHS bodies to produce an annual report about the complaints they have 

received, issues that have been raised and any action that has been taken to improve 

services. 

 

This annual report covers feedback and learning for the period. 1st April 2019 to 31st March 

2020.  It aims to: 

 

• review the management and performance of the statutory complaints and representations 

process in 2019/20 (including statistics, the nature of complaints and compliments 

received, and how the learning from these has been used to improve services); 

• give examples of how improvements have been made using other forms of customer 

opinion given by service users, their carers and families.    

 

Read more about the statutory process at Appendix 2. 

  

101



Executive Summary 

From April 2019, the councils that served Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole were 

replaced by one new council known as BCP Council. This report presents the valued opinions 

Adult Social Care (ASC) service users, carers, families and partners gathered over the year 

2019/20. This is the first annual opinion and organisational learning report for BCP Council 

and therefore it has not been possible to add in bench marking data, however, to allow some 

perspective, legacy authority and regional information has been included where appropriate.   

  

In the 2019/20 the total number of complaints for BCP Council ASC was 178. 

 

In 2018/19 the total number of complaints received for the Bournemouth Christchurch and 

Poole legacy authorities totalled 187.  

 

Communication, professional practice and finance have been highlighted as the most 

common themes from complaints;  

 

• communication was raised in 65 complaints;  

• perceived professional practice was the reason for 57 complaints;  

• issues around finance were highlighted in 62 complaints.  

 

A total of 83 individual concerns were managed outside the complaints process with the 

individuals involved not wishing to pursue a complaint despite being offered the service, but 

felt they needed support to resolve a situation.  These cases were dealt with in conjunction 

with Adult Social Care operational teams. Moving forward consideration is being given to how 

learning from these issues can also be extracted however the learning is often individual 

rather than organisational.   

 

A further 74 general signposting enquiries were also recorded for this period.  These usually 

require signposting the individual to the correct service to assist them, for example 

safeguarding. 

 

It is important to note that as well as 178 complaints and representations, BCP ASC also 

received 275 compliments and messages of thanks during 2019/20. A further breakdown of 

these compliments can be found further down the report. 

 

To put complaints into perspective, in the period from April 2019 to March 2020 Adult Social 

Care received contact from external customers on 91,480 occasions, including telephone 

calls, emails and via people walking into customer centres. This contact included reports of 

safeguarding concerns, calls to the Crisis Loan Line for assistance and contact calls to 

practitioners.  

 

Over the year, customer opinion has also been sought via consumer surveys, consultations 

and engagement events. These findings feed into Quality Assurance reporting to senior 

leaders for direction and to influence planning for service developments. 

 

 

 

102



Complaints 

Local resolution  

It is stated in legislation that most complaints should be resolved by local resolution.  This 

means trying to resolve complaints at the earliest opportunity and as close to the point of 

service delivery as possible.   

 

Investigation  

An investigation may be carried out if requested by the complainant, or if it is judged by the 

Complaints Manager to be the best way to respond to the issues raised.   

 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

The complainant can also approach the LGSCO at any stage of the complaint.  

 

 

Summary of complaints activity in 2019/20 

Complaints received  

In the 2019/20 the total number of complaints for BCP Council ASC was 178. 

 

In 2018/19 the total number of complaints received for the Bournemouth Christchurch and 

Poole legacy authorities totalled 187.  

 

 

  

103



Acknowledgement of complaints 

99% of the complaints received were acknowledged within the 3-day requirement. The only 

complaint not to be acknowledged in this timeframe was a complex case with 97 pages of 

complaint to consider. 

 

Complaints resolved within 20 days (local best practice) 

 

• 153 (86%) were responded to within 20 working days 

• 25 (14%) were responded to outside of 20 days due to the complexity of the case or; 

• 11 of the 25 late complaint responses were delayed due to the council’s planning and 

response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
 

 

Formal investigations  

2 formal investigation were instigated this year and are being managed by independent 

investigators. As of 31st March 2020 both cases remain ongoing. The themes for these 

investigations are communication and professional practice. 

 

 

Complaints made to the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

In 2019/20: 

 

• 22 complainants referred their complaint to the ombudsman for an independent review 

• The ombudsman chose not to investigate 9 of the 22 referrals due to the either; a 

premature referral, the complainant did not have the authority to make the complaint, the 

length of time it had taken for the complainant to raise the referral or the ombudsman felt 

that the council had already done all they could to rectify the situation and an investigation 

would not change the outcome  

• 13 complaints were investigated; 9 decisions have been received and 4 are currently still 

under investigation.   

• 7 ombudsman decisions were upheld and learning from these cases is included in the 

table further down the report.  

 

Please see Appendix 3 for details around cases and decisions. 

 

 

  

104



Complaint themes  

To allow detailed recording and identification of key areas of learning and improvement, 

complaints may have more than one theme recorded. 

 

Complaint theme 2019/20 

Communication (perceived inadequate communication, information and advice) 65 

Finance (decisions around funding, invoice disputes/delays, self-funders 

approaching the Council for funding, financial assessment) 
62 

Professional practice (level of support and guidance, feeling 

involved/empowered in assessment process) (member of staff for 

Bournemouth  

57 

Decision around assessment and eligibility 42 

Policy or process   25 

Quality of domiciliary provision 13 

Delay in providing a service 11 

Quality of residential or nursing home 11 

Safeguarding process 7 

Commissioning  3 

Respite 3 

Extra Care Housing 1 

 

 

The 3 top themes for complaints were also historically a concern for the legacies authorities 

and are explained in further detail below. 

 

Communication  

 

Many of the complaints around communication relate to providing information in a timely 

manner and to the expectations service users and carers have of our response to contacts 

and queries.   

 

Adult Social Care is looking to address this issue and consider what additional support can be 

provided to staff to improve communication. Please see the learning table in Appendix 6.  

 

Financial (funding issues, charges or fees) 

 

Individual complainants have made challenge around national and local policy decisions in 

terms of funding eligibility. Also included in this theme are cases where there have been 

105



delays in financial assessments and issues with the payment system for Christchurch 

residents which has now been resolved.  

 

Complaints about professional practice 

 

Challenges have been made around the expectation of the level of service provision available 

and the approach to how needs and services are determined.  These include individuals not 

feeling empowered and supported during the assessment process. 

 

 

Complaints and the local government reorganisation (LGR) process 

 

Prior to the inception of BCP Council, complaints from Christchurch residents were managed 

by Dorset County Council.  They reported 3 complaints for the ASC Christchurch area for the 

year 2018/19.  In 2019/20 we have received 24 complaints. 6 of these complaints were 

upheld and related to the LGR process (financial recording on the Mosaic system) however 

the other 18 were general service complaints not related to LGR.   

 

 

The lessons we have learnt from customer feedback 

In many instances, outcomes to complaints are specific to the case, and there are few general 

learning points that would influence policy or procedure.  This is similar to the national picture, 

as noted by the LGSCO, who reports that in 201-/20 78% of the cases they investigate the 

outcome was a remedy for injustice for the individual, i.e. an apology, financial redress or 

provision of service, with the remaining 22% recommending organisational learning and 

improvement at organisational level, e.g. staff training or procedural change (reference 

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/adult-social-care-

reviews). 

 

Individual issues about specific teams are dealt with through supervision with the team 

managers and team meetings.  This can be followed up through the performance 

management and operational management meetings where specific elements of learning are 

discussed, and actions agreed as required. 

 

Please see a full table of learning, including organisational learning, being rolled out across 

BCP Council area, in Appendix 6. 

 

Further improvements planned from learning from 2019/20:  

 

• The Quality Assurance Team are planning to attend team meetings around complaint 

themes and trends. 

• Complaints training will be reviewed as part of the ongoing service development for BCP 

Council including the involvement of the user voice in sessions. 

 

 

 

106

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/adult-social-care-reviews
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/adult-social-care-reviews


Monitoring the effectiveness of the complaints procedure 

As part of aligning the complaints process from 3 legacy councils, thought is being given to 

how we monitor the effectiveness of the complaints process.  

 

The majority of complainants now prefer to communicate via email so an online feedback 

survey is being considered where a link to the survey can be included in the closing complaint 

email.  

 

 

Staffing and aligning of the complaints service 

Currently there are 2 officers in post that manage the day to day process including, 

acknowledging, recording, tracking and monitoring each case. 

 

Since BCP Council was formed in April 2019, work has progressed to align the 3 legacy 

authority’s complaint processes. The service now operates as one including contact details, 

day to day procedures and reporting. The final element is to align the complaints policies, 

which is currently being progressed.  

 

 

Training 

There is now an BCP online complaints training module for practitioners to use across the 

whole of social care. This course is intended to be used for an induction and refresher. Since 

being rolled out at the beginning of 2020, 28 people have completed the course. 

Face to face training is being reviewed as part of aligning the services and thought is also 

being given how to deliver this with the COVID-19 restrictions in place. The ambition is to also 

offer bespoke workshops and team focused complaints training.   

 

An online staff tool box is in design to provide support documents such as letter templates, 

language checklists, legislative information and LGSCO information.  

 

 

Compliments 

Service users and staff are encouraged to report feedback about services.  Compliments are 

vital because they help to give us a complete picture of the services offered.  In addition to 

complaints, they can help us make changes to improve services further by identifying good 

practice. 

 

In total, 275 compliments and messages of thanks were received.  The teams with the largest 

numbers of complaints are shown in the graph below but many other teams also received 

positive feedback.  See Appendix 5. 
 

107



 
 

Compliments and positive feedback are shared with staff on a weekly basis through the staff 

newsletter.  At the same time, teams are reminded to feedback comments from adults and 

carers and many teams now have a systematic way of doing this.  A small selection of 

compliments and thank yous received is at Appendix 1. 
 

 

4

5

6

6

6

9

9

10

14

42

58

79

Financial Assessment and Benefits

Blue Badges

Community Mental Health Teams

Independent Living

Safeguarding

Learning Disability

Shared Lives

Contracts

Hospital Social Work Teams

Carers Services

First contact services

Locality Teams

108



Other forms of customer and community feedback 

Satisfaction surveys 

NHS Digital Adult Social Care User Survey  

In January 2020 local authorities with adult social care responsibilities took part in the national 

annual survey that asks users of adult social care services about their quality of life and how 

services they receive impact on this.   

 

The survey was sent to all adults in receipt of long-term support services funded or managed 

by the Council on the date chosen to extract the data.  A total of 681 people completed the 

questionnaire, a 34.1% response rate. The survey informs seven performance measures in 

the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF). 

 

Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) indicators (subject to ratification): 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

QOL score 19.4 19.3 19.1 19.3 19.4 19.2 

 

1B – The proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily life 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

I have as much control over 

my daily life as I want 
81.3% 79.7% 77.6% 81.7% 79% 78.8% 

 

 

  

109



1I1 – The proportion of service users who report that they have as much social contact 

as they would like 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

I have as much social 

contact as I want with 

people I like 

47.5% 46.6% 45.9% 46.9% 46.5% 42.3% 

 

3A – Overall satisfaction of people who use service with their care and support 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

I am extremely/very 

satisfied with the care and 

support services I receive 

62.1 67.1% 64.3% 63.1% 69.8% 60.3% 

 

We will look to gain more of an understanding of satisfaction from our service users, 

potentially as part of a focus group discussion around the survey results so we can 

understand the voice of the user. We can then use the learning from this to feed into our ASC 

strategy and commissioning plans in order to improve our services.  

 

3D1 – The proportion of service users who find it easy to find information about 

services 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

In the past year, I have 

generally found it very easy 

to find information and 

advice about support, 

services or benefits 

68.7% 70.5% 69.7% 72.4% 71.2% 78.4% 

 

We will be reviewing our information and advice offer as part of the redesign of the first point 

of contact service and recommending the factsheet approach to providing information and 

110



advice. This will include the review and modernisation of the online information and advice 

directory My life my care. The website will continue to be promoted to staff through the 

Champions, newsletter and team updates, to encourage the use of the system.  

 

 

4A – The proportion of people who use services who feel safe 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

I feel as safe as I want 70.0% 70.1% 70% 69.4% 73.9% 71.1% 

 

4B – The proportion of people who use services who say that those services have 

made them feel safe and secure 

 

Response 

BCP 

Council 

 

 

 

2019/20 

South 

West 

average 

 

 

2018/19 

England 

average 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Bourne-

mouth 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Dorset 

(incl. 

Christ-

church) 

 

2018/19 

Poole 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 

Care and support services 

help me in feeling safe 
87.0% 87.7% 86.9% 83.6% 84.1% 90.8% 

 

Q2a - Do you feel the services you use are the right ones to best meet your needs?  

(Local question) 

 

Yes          79.8%      

Some of them but not all of them  18.9% 

No           1.2% 

 

Q2b - Did you have a say in what services you use?  (Local question) 

 

Yes          66.2% 

Some of them but not all of them  22.5% 

No           11.3% 

 

Q3 - If you receive care in your own home from a care agency arranged by BCP Council 

Adult Social Care, overall how satisfied are you with the help that you receive from 

them?  (Local question) 

 

I am extremely/very      70% 

   

111



A full report of the survey will be presented to senior managers and a full improvement plan 

will be developed around the findings. 

 

 

  

112



First point of contact services  

Surveys are sent to individuals who contact Poole ASC Helpdesk and who then receive 

information and advice, have a visit and/or an assessment by a visiting officer.  

 

In 2019/20, 179 people completed a survey.  Of these, 99% said that they found the visit or 

call was helpful and informative and that their needs were identified, and 99% felt they had 

received the right information and advice. 

 

Many positive comments were received.  For example, one person said the visiting officer 

‘was very understanding of both my wife's and my own needs, and has provided my wife with 

follow-up information telephone service’; and another told us that the visiting officer ‘was 

excellent, she picked up my needs, understood my independence, it's nice to know she is 

always there, in the background, should I need help, advice, a listening ear - bearing in mind I 

live alone with no family nearby’. 

 

Moving forward and as part of the work to ensure that there is one “Adult Social Care Front 

Door offer” across BCP Council area we will be working to ensure the opinions of those who 

use the service is captured for the whole area not just the Poole locality. 

 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Peer Challenge 

The Local Government Association (LGA) were invited to undertake a Peer Review of BCP 

Council SEND service at the end of January 2020. The peer review analysed all aspects of 

the service and offered a number of challenges to support improvement.  

The approach involved interviewing a range of children, parents/carers and staff from schools, 

colleges, council and health commissioners and provider organisations. A number of visits to 

schools were carried out alongside a range of service user focus group sessions.  

The findings from the review highlighted that the council has invested in supported living 

accommodation for 18-25 year olds, and are in the process of commissioning a further 

supported living service for young people from age 16-25, with the focus on supporting young 

adults in preparing for adulthood. The challenge also identified the positive development of 

the recently established Preparing for Adulthood team and suggested that it had the potential 

to broaden it’s remit to focus on the wider Preparing for Adulthood agenda and link into the 

SEND and Inclusion Strategy. 

A number of recommendations were made from the LGA which have been incorporated in the 

SEND improvement plan and include ensuring statutory partners understand and 

demonstrate their commitment to delivering the requirements of the SEND reforms, develop a 

clear communication strategy and to eengage with parents and cares to build confidence and 

consult on the draft SEND and Inclusion Strategy as soon as possible. 

 

Consultations/engagement/information and advice 

A number of engagement and consultation exercises have been carried out with adults who 

have used services over the past year including: 

 

• Through the Adult Social Care User Survey, we identified 198 people who said they may 

like to be involved in the work of Adult Social Care in developing services.  

113



• The Virtual Consultation Group is ongoing and has been used on a regular basis, including 

to give feedback on new My life my care pages and new forms being designed. 

• A regular focus group has been established to further engagement with service users and 

carers around the information and advice offer and other areas of business when needed. 

This group was meeting bi-monthly face to face but is now planned to be delivered online 

due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• A number of bespoke workshops have been held with service users and carers to provide 

projects such as falls prevention and loneliness and isolation with direct user experience.  

• The Learning Disability Partnership Board represents the BCP Council area and continues 

to drive service improvements through change action groups as part of the Big Plan 2018 

to 2021. The Board and action groups engage with adults with a learning disability and 

family carers to enable them to have a voice, as well as with partners such as Health and 

the police. The care and support framework for adults with a learning disability and/or 

autism was implemented on 1 April 2019. Co-production with self-advocates and carers to 

develop information has included domestic violence leaflets in easy read as well providing 

ideas and information for local websites including My life my care and Local Offer. 

• Poole Over 55s forum is now supported by Community Action network and is reviewing its 

aims for the community. Bournemouth Older Peoples forum has now been running for 5 

years and has membership of over 300.  

• The Proud to Care Recruitment campaign has been used to engage and support care 

homes and homecare providers. We have also run a Facebook advertisement calling for 

people interested in working in care to get in touch. The campaign reached over 70,500 

people of which over 4200 clicked to view. 

• A care provider newsletter continues to provide regular updates and communications. 

• Work continues to promote adult social care factsheets with GPs, community centres and 

libraries and this is being extended to places of worship and sheltered accommodation.  

• Since the factsheets replaced our leaflets, there have been over 67,000 downloads from 

the factsheet web page with Comments, Compliments and Complaints, START and The 

Financial Assessment being the most popular.  

• The My life my care (MLMC) online information directory has been promoted at a diverse 

range of events and meetings across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole to 

professionals and the public alike including patient participation groups, locality teams and 

hospitals. The site received 301,740 hits in 2019/20.  

• MLMC Pages were quickly developed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic which were 

used by BCP corporate teams, Healthwatch, the public and other professional partners, as 

well as our own staff, to provide much needed crisis support.  

 

 

  

114



Appendix 1 – a selection of compliments and thanks received 

“ 
I am writing to say thank you for all the help and support you have given me over the past 

months.  The adaptations to my home have helped me a lot - I find it easier to get in and out 

of the house with the grab rails.  The new stair rail also makes me feel safer when going up 

and down stairs.  I really appreciated your help with the Blue Badge application and since 

receiving it my life has been greatly improved and I can now get out more.  I am very grateful 

for your help and would like to say thank you once again.    

   

I think every visitor, visit, phone call from this department has been really excellent.  No-one 

has been hasty or disinterested and I praise everyone who has visited or written to me.  I 

praise you all.  

   

Wanted to thank you all for your wonderful support which he found so helpful whilst he was 

caring and to say what a fantastic service we are offering.  

   

Thanks for the help and support over the last three years. 

  

Dear team.  Thank you for your speedy, friendly and efficient service in the handling of my 

request.  

  

I want to thank you for this amazing service...Both [therapies] have helped to relieve a lot of 

the stress I carry because of my role and mother/carer to my son.  CRISP are a wonderful 

team of two highly qualified ladies who have come into my life, not just as professionals, but 

as friends. [They] have supported me psychologically as well and physically, and I’m very 

grateful that thanks to CRISP, I was able to have both treatments to help with my stress.  

Once again, thank you to all of you at CRISP and to Jane for originally arranging this for me.  I 

look forward to my next twelve vouchers, which I presume I’ll receive in the next few months. 

People should be shouting about CRISP at the top of their voices. This service is truly 

awesome.  

   

To all carers: The 'START Team' were truly professional in every aspect.  They guided me 

and helped me regain my confidence to live independently once more.  They were extremely 

patient, cheerful and competent - a dream team.  Thank you for everything and we hope the 

team enjoyed their chocolates!!  

   

I just wanted to bring to your attention how grateful we are to my brother’s new worker, who 

has worked tirelessly on his behalf.  She has been so professional and supportive to both of 

us.  We count ourselves very lucky to have her at our side. 

  

To all carers: [the team] were truly professional in every aspect.  They guided me and helped 

me regain my confidence to live independently once more.  They were extremely patient, 

cheerful and competent - a dream team.  Thank you for everything. 

 

115



Thank you so much for caring for Mum in such a determined professional and dedicated 

manner.  We feel very lucky to have had you in our corner and thank you from the bottom of 

our hearts.  All the best. 

Thank you again for coming to see [X], she has a lifelong mistrust of officials and social 

workers and you eased this considerably for her which was lovely. 

 

Mrs X wanted to thank Sue for all her work and support for herself and her husband in 

obtaining him a respite placement. Mrs X was very pleased 

 

We would like to express our gratitude and appreciation of the care and hard work R has 

displayed whilst supporting our family in finding the best outcome for my mother in law.  At no 

time has anything been too much trouble.  R has listened to all of our concerns and mum in 

law and we feel very happy with the care home chosen.  D is enjoying her new home, very 

much joining in with the singing etc.  So please pass on our sincere thanks to R 

 

Many thanks for all your support and encouragement, you are an absolute star and helped us 

more than you will ever know. 

 

I will certainly miss having you there as support throughout all of Mum’s transition from 

hospital to home and all I can say is how right you all were! Mum has thrived at home and you 

would not recognise her. The care she is receiving has a lot to do with that and she has learnt 

to accept it gracefully and welcome it. Long may it last. Take care and thank you. 

 

Daughter V wanted to say a huge ‘thank you’ to you, E, for all your hard work in getting things 

underway for her dad. Really, very much appreciated. 

 

Thank you so much for your email. Really appreciate you getting in touch.  We were so very 

lucky to have you working with my Dad. You went out of your way to support us through the 

difficult journey, and we’re extremely kind.  I know I can speak for both Mum and I that we 

loved working with you and getting to know you. 

 

” 
   

  

   

 

  

116



Appendix 2 – the Joint Adult Social Care and Health Complaints 

Procedure 

 

What is a complaint?  

 

An expression of dissatisfaction or disquiet about the actions, decisions or apparent failings of 

a local authority’s adult social care services provision which requires a response. 
 

What is a representation?  

 

A comment, suggestion or compliment made about the service provided.  Legislation states 

that if it is possible to resolve a lower level matter immediately or within 24 hours, there is no 

need to engage the complaints process. 

 

Who can complain? 

 

An adult who is entitled to, or has a possible need for, a personal social service at any stage 

in their contact with the service.  They also qualify if they are acting on behalf of the adult as 

their representative and acting in their best interests. 

 

How the procedure works 

 

a)  Local resolution 

 

In the majority of cases, a problem-solving approach will be adopted to resolve complaints as 

close to the point of service delivery as possible.  Most complaints are resolved using this 

approach and typically by the operational manager.  Timescales for responding to complaints 

are agreed between the complainant and the Complaints Officer.  Locally, complaints are 

normally responded to within 20 working days.  If the complainant is not satisfied with the 

outcome of their complaint they have the option to ask for their complaint to be formally 

investigated or to request a further meeting, or they can ask the Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman to consider their complaint. 

  

b)  Formal investigation 

 

In discussion with the complainant and Complaints Officer, an investigation can be invoked 

rather than using local resolution.  The risk, complexity and seriousness of the complaint will 

be considered when making this judgement.   

 

An in-depth examination of the complaint is completed by an investigating officer who is 

independent of the service area.  A report will be compiled and forwarded to the Service Unit 

Head who acts as an adjudicator and will identify the Service Unit’s response/decision on 

each point of complaint and any actions.  Timescales for implementation will be included.  

Timescales are agreed between the complainant, the responding manager and the 

investigating officer. 

 

  

117



c)  Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

 

The complainant can approach the LGSCO at any time during the procedure or if they remain 

unhappy after the local authority’s efforts at resolution have been exhausted.  However, if the 

Ombudsman considers that issues could be resolved at a local level they will refer the 

complaint back to the local authority. 

 

Complaints that have both health and social care elements 

 

There may be some occasions when complaints have elements of both health and social care 

services.  If so, the Complaints Officer will look at the issues and decide whether the Protocol 

for Dealing with Joint Complaints needs to be adopted and the complaint progressed in 

accordance with this route. 

  

118



Appendix 3 - Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

(LGSCO) decisions received   

Complaint 1  

 

The decision stated that the way the Council assessed Mr B’s finances when he went into a 

care home was incorrect. The Ombudsman has recommended the Council apologises and re-

assesses Mr B’s finances from May 2017. 

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

Complaint 2  

 

There was a delay of three weeks in the Council arranging for an agency to provide Mrs B’s 

home care.  The Ombudsman decided that this caused Mrs B and her family avoidable 

inconvenience and meant the family were likely to have provided care that should have been 

provided or arranged by the Council.   

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

Complaint 3 

 

Mrs X complained about the care provided to Mrs Y and the lack of response to her complaint 

about this, and requested a response.  The Ombudsman stated that the Council should have 

been more involved with the providers response to her complaints.  

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

Complaint 4  

 

Mr Y complained that the Council did not take account of Mrs X’s housing costs when 

assessing her finances and deciding how much she can afford to pay towards her care 

however the ombudsman found that there was no issue with the way Council reached it’s 

decision. 

 

Decision: not upheld  

 

Complaint 5  

 

Mrs X complained that she felt the Council did not deal properly with her son’s disability 

related expenditure, resulting in the charge for his care increasing from £18.88 to £34.35 a 

week, which she says he could not afford. The Ombudsman found that the Council was 

correct in the way it dealt with the son’s assessed charge. 

 

Decision: not upheld  

 

  

119



Complaint 6  

 

Mrs X complained that the Council did not instruct an independent social worker to consider if 

Mrs X had unmet need from March 2016 when carrying out an independent assessment of 

her care and support needs following a previous complaint to the Ombudsman. Mrs X said 

this caused uncertainty to Mr and Mrs X with which the Ombudsman agreed and said the 

Council should provide remedy. The Ombudsman was happy with the Council’s decision not 

to backdate Mrs X’s increased care package to March 2016. 

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

Complaint 7  

 

Mrs C complained that she felt that its charging processes caused confusion and anxiety. The 

Council agreed to the Ombudsman’s recommendation to waive historic charges and allocate 

a specific worker for the complainant to contact. The ombudsman stated the council did not 

deal with the complainant's complaint within the process and provided confusing and 

conflicting information which added to her anxiety. The Council agreed to apologise for these 

failures and make procedural changes. 

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

Complaint 8  

 

Mr X complained about the care needs assessment. The ombudsman could not find reason to 

believe the assessment process was not followed except that it did not consider his need for 

someone to accompany him to medical appointments. The Council agreed to reconsider its 

assessment on that point in the light of the Care Act. 

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

Complaint 9  

 

Mr X complained the Council did not provide his son, Mr Y, with suitable transport to a day 

centre. He felt the Council had not provided suitable transport to accommodate Mr Y’s electric 

wheelchair since September 2017. The ombudsman recommended the Council pay Mr Y 

£900 for the distress caused and arrange suitable transport, with which the Council agreed. 

The Council also agreed to provide a payment of £100 to Mr X for his time and trouble in 

bringing the complaint to the Council and the Ombudsman and also for the frustration the 

matter has caused. 

 

Decision: Upheld  

 

 

120



23 

Appendix 4 – Equalities information    

Primary Support Reason 2019/20 

Physical Support - Personal care support 37% (66) 

Learning Disability Support 13% (23) 

Support with memory and cognition 12% (22) 

Physical Support - Access and mobility only 12% (21) 

Corporate 6% (10) 

Mental health support 5% (9) 

Social Support - Support to carer 5% (9) 

Not recorded 4% (7) 

Not applicable 2% (4) 

Not known - not a service user 1% (2) 

Social Support - Support for Social Isolation / Other 1% (2) 

Sensory Support - Support for dual impairment 1% (1) 

Sensory Support - Support for hearing impairment 1% (1) 

Sensory Support - Support for visual impairment 1% (1) 

 

Gender 2019/20 

Female 60% (107) 

Male 34% (61) 

Corporate 3% (5) 

Not recorded 2% (4) 

Not applicable 1% (1) 

 

  

121



 

Ethnicity 2019/20 

White - English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 75% (134) 

Not recorded 11% (20) 

White - Any other White background 4% (8) 

Corporate 3% (5) 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - Any other Black/African/Caribbean 

background 

1% (2) 

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups - Any other mixed/multiple ethnic background 1% (2) 

Other ethnic group - Other 1% (2) 

Asian/Asian British - Any other Asian background 1% (1) 

Asian/Asian British - Indian 1% (1) 

Not applicable 1% (1) 

Not recorded - refused 1% (1) 

 

 

  

122



Appendix 5 – Compliments 

Breakdown of compliments received by team.   

 

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

2

4

5

6

6

6

9

9

10

14

42

58

79

All in Adult Social Care

Staff Newsletter Team

Asperger's Team

Business Support

Commissioning

Complaints

Continuing HealthCare (CHC) Hub

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)

Direct Payments Advice Service

Drug and Alcohol Statutory Team

Emergency Duty Service

Extra Care Housing

Grants Team

Management Information and Systems

Occupational Therapy

Transitions

Older Persons Mental Health Team

Quality Team

Short-Term, Assessment, Reablement…

Sight and Hearing

Statutory Services

Financial Assessment and Benefits

Blue Badges

Community Mental Health Teams

Independent Living

Safeguarding

Learning Disability

Shared Lives

Contracts

Hospital Social Work Teams

Carers Services

Adult Social Care Helpdesk

Locality Teams

123



26 

Appendix 6 – Compliments 

 

Origin of learning and 

issues raised 

Learning improvement 

identified 

Further improvement to embed 

(if applicable) 
Measure/outcome of learning 

2019/20 Complaints - 

There has been a 

recurring theme around 

Mosaic finance e.g. 

issues with invoicing, 

communication, 

backlog etc) staffing 

levels needed to 

support issues arising. 

Additional staff being 

recruited to support backlog, 

improve communication; 

systems now operational 

and aligning 

Full outcome to be determined, 

but onward monitoring will be 

undertaken to assess 

improvements. 

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

2019/20 Complaint -

complaint raised 

regarding the support 

available for clients 

claiming Employment 

and Support Allowance 

and length of time taken 

to secure payments.  In 

this case staff 

supporting the client 

had been off work for 

an extended period and 

no follow up had 

occurred. 

A review of processes has 

been undertaken to ensure 

applications are followed up 

in a timely manner. 

 To date, no recurrence of the issues arising. 

2019/20 Complaint -

Language used in 

A review of the 

correspondence sent to 

Improved communications being 

used  

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

124



Origin of learning and 

issues raised 

Learning improvement 

identified 

Further improvement to embed 

(if applicable) 
Measure/outcome of learning 

letters from the 

Financial Assessment 

team. Wording in letters 

to the complainant was 

described as mis-

leading 

clients to ensure that 

wording is appropriate and is 

clear to the reader.   

2019/20 complaint -

Issues have been 

raised from complaints 

that suggest that we 

need to consider 

improving the way care 

providers work with and 

manage families when 

relationships break 

down and how they 

manage expectations. 

Factsheet produced on 

‘what to expect from your 

provider’. Plans to review 

contract and work with 

providers to look at what 

procedures they have in 

place and how these can be 

improved. 

Open for consideration and 

planning 

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

2019/20 complaint - A 

complaint highlighted 

that shared inbox’s 

were showing unread 

messages but all of the 

emails they could see 

had been read but the 

unread emails were not 

in the inbox. 

Consequently, some 

An article for the Adult 

Social Care staff newsletter 

was produced to inform 

teams of the issue and how 

to avoid the problem 

Newsletter circulated  No more issues of this nature identified 

125



Origin of learning and 

issues raised 

Learning improvement 

identified 

Further improvement to embed 

(if applicable) 
Measure/outcome of learning 

emails sent by users 

were missed. 

2018/19 complaint One complaint was received 

from a provider who had 

increased the home’s fees 

and complained about the 

time taken to agree the new 

fee. 

Process now in place with 

Contracts Team to address these 

issues. 

No further complaints of this nature have been 

received 

2018/19 complaint/ 

Adult Social Care User 

Survey 

Further staff and public 

factsheets have been 

created following complaints 

or survey feedback, 

including ‘Notice periods’ 

and ‘Working with your 

home care provider’. 

The ‘Working with your home 

care provider’ factsheet is now 

also being rolled out across the 

whole of Adult Social Care. 

No further complaints of this nature have been 

received 

2019/20 complaint - 

Complainant did not 

understand who to talk 

to when they couldn’t 

pay their invoice 

Finance team reminded to 

add contact details to 

invoices on how to contact 

Council if there is difficulty in 

paying 

 No further complaints of this nature have been 

received 

LGSCO 

recommendation – to 

consider if complaint 

arrangements with 

Commissioned services 

need reviewing. Since 

this recommendation a 

Consider how to work with 

providers to ensure they 

understand our statutory 

process - involve SIT to be 

clear with homes as part of 

monitoring, consider a 

bespoke training event for 

Open for consideration and 

planning 

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

126



Origin of learning and 

issues raised 

Learning improvement 

identified 

Further improvement to embed 

(if applicable) 
Measure/outcome of learning 

further 3 complaints 

have required 

responses from 

providers which has 

highlighted further 

issues in regard to what 

is expected from their 

response and process 

providers. There may also 

be a need to involve 

commissioning managers 

and review our contract 

approach as to what is 

expected from providers 

2019/20 complaint - 

Complaint around the 

safeguarding process 

and a Best Interest 

Assessment (BIA) 

(family dynamics issue) 

A number of improvements 

were made to the BIA 

process including rewording 

of letters for clarity and 

allocating different 

assessors for repeated 

assessments to ensure 

objectivity is maintained. 

Improved correspondence was 

used 

 

Allocating different assessors for 

repeated assessments to ensure 

objectivity is maintained 

 

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

2019/20 complaint - 

Complaint around a 

missed visit 

Team members reminded 

about the importance of 

clearly recording visits in 

calendars.  

Teams will also be reminded in 

complaints training. 

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

127



Origin of learning and 

issues raised 

Learning improvement 

identified 

Further improvement to embed 

(if applicable) 
Measure/outcome of learning 

2019/20 complaint - 

Complaint around the 

Royal Bournemouth 

Hospital discharge 

team and their 

information provided 

around charges (this 

was exacerbated by 

delays in financial 

assessments being 

completed) 

Review information and 

advice packs that are well 

established in Poole and 

consider roll out across 

Bournemouth and 

Christchurch area 

To be actioned in 2020/21 To be reviewed in 2020/21 

Complaints around 

communication and 

comments from surveys 

Reflection on working 

practices to improve 

communications  

The ongoing Strengths Based 

Approach project will embed a 

model of social care work that will 

review our processes; in 

particular, those practices which 

we use to communicate with and 

work in collaboration with, our 

service users, cares and families  

To be reviewed in 2020/21 

 

 

128



CABINET 

 

Report subject  2019/20 End of Year Performance Report 

Meeting date  30 September 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  
This report provides an overview of performance for the first year of 

BCP Council. 

The report has been informed by the interim basket of measures 

used for the mid year report and progress with actions set out in the 

delivery plans that make up the Corporate Strategy.  

The performance measures are sourced from data the Council 

provides as part of the statutory return process and some other 

local measures identified by Service Units during 2019/20. 

Performance is presented across a range of interactive dashboards 

which include progress and updates for: 

- The Corporate Strategy priorities 

- UN Sustainability Goals 

- Equality & Diversity 

The basket of performance measures will be enhanced to include 

the outcome measures set out in the delivery plans, once 

supporting measurement systems are in place. 

The table of measures at Appendix A shows progress for the whole 

year and includes benchmarking data where this is available.  

The report identifies some key improvements and some 

performance issues. These are addressed in more detail in 

exception reports, attached as Appendix B to the report.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

 (i) Note the end of year performance 
(ii) Consider the attached exception reports relating to areas of 

current adverse performance 

Reason for 
recommendations 

An understanding of performance against target, goals and 

objectives will help the Council understand and manage service 

delivery and identify emerging business risks.   

129

Agenda Item 12



Portfolio Holder(s):  The Leader of the Council – Councillor Vikki Slade 

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe 

Report Authors Bridget West – Head of Insight, Policy & Performance 

Wards  All  

Classification  For recommendation 
Title:  

Background 

1. The BCP Council Corporate Strategy was agreed by Cabinet on 9 October and was 
adopted by Council at its meeting on 5 November 2019.   

2. Detailed delivery plans were developed for each of the priorities set out in the 
Corporate Strategy and approved by Cabinet in February 2020.  

3. The delivery plans include targeted actions and some new measures of success. 

4. At the end of 2019/20 the council was still in a transitional space and although 
started, the process of setting up systems and baselines for capturing the new 
measures was halted as the Council responded to Covid 19. 

5. The table of measures at Appendix A is still an interim set of measures which will be 
reviewed and enhanced as systems are put in place to capture performance data for 
the outcome measures set out in the delivery plans. 

6. As this is year one of BCP Council, no real trend data is available, but this will build 
up as data collection systems become more sophisticated. 

7. This data will be displayed in the interactive performance dashboards which have 
been built to display all the performance data collected. Dashboards are also 
available by Directorate and Service Unit and can be linked to service plans and 
other action plans as they are developed. 

8. This report is presented by the Council’s priorities set out in the Corporate Strategy. 
The report also includes short summaries on progress with UN Sustainability Goals 
and the Corporate Equality Action Plan.  

End of Year Performance by Council Priority 

130

https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpperformance#!/vizhome/201920EndofyearPerformance/CorporateOverview?publish=yes


 

9. The performance dashboard above is informed by inputting performance data 
against the measures at Appendix A and by comparing progress with the targeted 
actions set out in the delivery plans.  

10. Performance measures have been RAG rated to focus attention and exception 
reports have been prepared for any red measures.  These are can be found at 
Appendix B to this report.  

11. Most of the delivery plan actions were due to be completed during or after 2020/21 
but a high number had already started before the year end, and some had been 
completed.   

12. Covid 19 has had and will continue to have an impact on completion dates but good 
progress has been made with all the priorities.  The scorecard identifies actions that 
are in progress as well as those deferred or not yet started.  Those in progress have 
been RAG rated green and those completed blue.  No red ratings have been applied 
to the actions.  

13. Performance headlines for each priority are set presented below.  

Sustainable Environment 

14. The Council declared a climate and ecological emergency in July 2019 and a draft 
Climate & Ecological Emergency Action Plan was agreed by Council in December 
2019 for consultation with the community, which is now planned for later in 2020. 

15. The Council was commended for its approach to tackling the climate emergency and 
was identified as one of five UK towns and cities recognised as global climate 
leaders for its transparency and action on climate change.  

16. United Nations Sustainability Goals have been embedded throughout the corporate 
Strategy and the council’s performance management framework; a policy framework 
was put in place to ensure that sustainability is embedded in policy development 
processes and sustainable procurement principles have been embedded in the 
council’s financial regulations.  

17. In the first year a climate change conference was held to demonstrate best practice 
and inspire senior managers to deliver a zero carbon future. A draft zero carbon 
workplace charter was also prepared for the first anniversary of Emergency 
Declaration. 

18. All council buildings across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole are powered on 
100% renewable electricity since 1 October 2019 and the electricity supply of all 
streetlights in the conurbation will be powered using 100% green electricity. 

19. The Poole Bay, Poole Harbour and Wareham Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy has led to the submission and approval of the recent Poole 
Bay Beach Management Scheme outline business case. The £36m of funding will 
ensure ongoing delivery of the beach re-nourishment and groyne replacement in 
Poole Bay. 

20. Consultations on the refresh of the National Shoreline Management Plan have been 
completed. The Council led on the process for Durlston to Hurst shoreline 
management plan. 

131



21. There has been a major push on providing new walking and cycling infrastructures to 
increase active travel. 

22. The Transforming Cities funding will deliver enhanced public transport infrastructure 
along specific transport corridors. This will deliver new bus shelters with accessibility 
improvements over and above normal Local Transport Plan funded ones  

23. Manor Steps Beach near Boscombe Pier earned a blue flag and seaside award last 
year, increasing the council’s numbers to 9 and 14 respectively. In 19/20, BCP 
Council were successful with all the applications made for Blue Flag or Seaside 
Awards. The Blue Flag and Seaside Awards are aimed at improving the quality of 
England’s coastline and promoting England’s best beaches. 

24. The council was also awarded 23 Green Flags for its public parks and gardens. We 
were successful with all the Green Flags we applied for in 2019/20, ranging across a 
wide variety of sites in the area, from cemeteries, to leisure facilities, to countryside 
to parks, tourist to residential sites. We use these sites as benchmarks for other sites 
of this type to maintain the standards of all our green spaces.  

BCP Council is a national leader in Green Flags and holds Local Authority Status as 
a Green Flag authority. This means we are peer reviewed by similar status 
authorities and hold roles on Green Flag bodies. BCP Council has the highest 
number of Green Flags in the South West. The Green Flag is a national award run 
by the charity Keep Britain Tidy.  Flags are awarded to areas that meet high 
environmental standards and are safe and well managed.  Upton Country Park has 
also been recognised as a coveted Green Heritage Site for the management of 
historic features.  

25. BCP Council was selected in June 2019 by the National Trust and The National 
Lottery Heritage Fund as one of eight places across the UK – out of over 80 that 
applied – to take part in its ground-breaking Future Parks programme providing 
access to external funding and support to find new, inspiring ways to develop and 
manage our greenspaces.  

26. The overall recycling, reuse and composting rate continues to increase as services 
and communications are brought together and become more efficient with a standard 
message. The government target for 50% of waste to be recycled, reused and 
composted continues to be exceeded. 

27. Although not quite achieving target, 691 households were referred to the Local 
Energy Advice Partnership for assistance before the service had to cease operating 
due to Covid-19 restrictions on home visiting activities. These households benefitted 
by £771k in energy bill reductions. The service reopened on 24 August 2020. 

Dynamic Places 

28. The Smart Place Strategy and Investment Plan was discussed at Cabinet in January 
2020 and funding was confirmed in April 2020.  

29. In December 2019 Cabinet approved the commissioning of a new masterplan for 
Poole to fast track plans for regeneration, and transport consultants have been 
appointed to investigate the possibility of an integrated travel interchange and new 
location for the bus station and depot. 

30. The Dorset Cyber Alliance “Cyberwell” project, which will make the BCP Council area 
a safer and more secure place for small and medium-sized enterprises to do 
business was well underway at the end of year. 

132



31. The Economic Development team is set up to support the five existing key sectors of 
Advanced Engineering, Digital and Creative, Health & Social Care, Financial and 
Insurance Services and Tourism. The team have delivered significant sector support 
including Meet the Buyer events, apprenticeship events and signposting to support 
and grants.  

32. Housing development plans are progressing. These include the large Turlin Moor 
housing scheme, Princess Road and multiple smaller scale sites.  During 2019/20 
£4.312m Homes England funding was received to support infrastructure costs at 
Turlin Moor. Nile Court, Sovereign’s new housing development at Holes Bay Road in 
Poole opened in October 2019 providing 46 affordable homes.  The success of this 
development was made possible through a collaborative partnership with BCP 
Council who provided the land, Homes England who invested grant funding and local 
contractor Drew Smith Limited who helped deliver the scheme.  

33. 137 affordable homes were delivered last year, 128 were built on council land and a 
further 9 built by housing associations.  

34. The Housing Delivery Action Plan is being progressed by Housing and Planning 
teams and includes proposals for a Developer Forum launch event in Autumn 2020. 

35. The successful Transforming Cities Fund bid announced in March 2020 will ensure 
that significant changes can be made to the travel network to help meet the 
challenges of congestion being experienced in support of the Council’s climate and 
ecological change ambitions. 

36. 85% of major planning applications were determined within national target 
timeframes but there was a dip in processing times for minor and other planning 
applications. The Head of Planning and Corporate Director are managing an 
improvement programme designed to improve the speed of our decision-making on 
planning applications. 

Connected Communities 

37. Together We Can – the successful new service launched to respond to Covid 19 was 
not in the original delivery plans. The significant diversion of resources to provide this 
service has impacted on the progress of other actions but these actions will now be 
better informed by the invaluable learning from this service. 

38. The council's response to Covid 19 has brought community groups and their leaders 
together to work as a strategic partnership within the Together We Can 
Workstreams. The community have played a key role in all aspects of the council's 
planning and response to Covid 19, including coordination of support services and 
the activity of over 2,000 community volunteers. 

39. Wider communication and engagement with communities was established at the start 
of the Covid 19 response and continues. 

40. The reduction of isolation and loneliness has been a key aspect of Together We Can 
as volunteers have been available to speak with members of the community who are 
shielding or vulnerable. 

41. Under the Good Life project BCP Council continues to work with local communities 
in Canford Cliffs, Alderney and Poole Town to help reduce loneliness amongst older 
people. 

133



42. A new Community Food Co-Ordinator role was established in 2019/20 to work in 
partnership with other agencies to tackle food insecurity. Whilst the initial challenge 
has been to support people to access food during the pandemic, longer term 
community food projects include helping people to grow their own food, boosting 
people’s confidence to learn new skills and providing basic but essential cooking 
equipment where needed.   

43. In July 2019 we also established the new BCP Community Safety Partnership and 
through a strategic assessment identified priorities for multi-agency working. This 
was adapted to respond at pace through Covid-19 with fortnightly virtual meetings to 
focus on key issues such as tailoring and increasing resources for victims of 
domestic abuse. 

44. The integration of Public Spaces CCTV systems and creation of a five-year CCTV 
Strategy is underway along with the plan to tackle rogue traders. 

45. Community events supported by the council will be impacted by Covid-19 in the year 
ahead but last year they included the Air Festival, the Arts Festival by the Sea, 
Bourne Free, Poole Maritime Festival, the Winter Wonderland.   

46. Despite a reduction in the number of events being held due to all libraries closing on 
21 March, the take up of attending these events from both adults and young people 
increased. 

47. A widely representative Cultural Action Group has been set-up and is working to 
address development, Covid-19 recovery and engagement, to take forward the 
recommendations of the Cultural Enquiry and develop the Cultural Compact and 
strategy.  

48. With the establishment of the Christchurch Town Council and through the Charter 
Trustees for Bournemouth and Poole, the historic traditions and identities of each 
town continue to be maintained and thrive. 

49. A wide programme of consultation and engagement events were delivered during 
2019/20 although the conclusion of some has been delayed due to Covid 19.  

Brighter Future 

50. A draft young people’s housing offer is in place and the housing allocations policy will 
propose additional priority for care experienced young people. Most of these young 
people are in suitable accommodation, and performance remains better than 
comparators.  

51. An Emotional Health & Well Being Steering Group led by Dorset Clinical 
Commissioning Group have a transformation plan in place in order to improve the 
health and well-being offer to vulnerable children and young people including those 
with Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND). 

52. Development of the SEND Local Offer is ongoing. Information from the legacy 
councils Local Offers has been integrated into a single Local Offer and a new, easier 
to navigate, online home page has been developed. 

53. A SEND Inclusion Strategy and Joint Commissioning Strategy is in place and work is 
being implemented through the workstream delivery plans. 

54. A Virtual School Improvement Plan is in place with targeted improvements 
highlighted by a Peer Review in February 2020. 

134



55. The proportion of children and young people not in education, employment or 
training, or unknown, was higher than the national average. Processes are being 
harmonised and staffing restructured to ensure efficient and accurate tracking of EET 
status and appropriate and effective support for young people to re-engage in 
learning and support.  

56. The vast majority of our 366 Early Years Providers are rated as Good or Excellent by 
Ofsted and this has been an improving picture throughout the year, with only 8 out of 
366 having failed to meet that level. 

57. 78 of our 89 primary and secondary schools are rated as Good or Excellent by 
Ofsted, which is in line with or better than the national and South West averages. 

58. All 5 special schools in the BCP Council area are rated as Good or Excellent by 
Ofsted. 

59. Children's Services successfully met the target to turnaround 100% of 2,216 families 
within the five-year Troubled Families programme. The programme has subsequently 
been extended into 2020/21. 

60. A Permanence Planning Policy and Procedure is in place for children in care and 
there is now a single BCP Council Fostering Team. There is an ongoing marketing 
campaign and there has been a month on month increase in the number of approved 
fostering households which results in a higher proportion of children in care in family-
based placements 

61. A Corporate Parenting Board has been implemented with good representation and 
input from Children in Care and Care Experienced Young People. 

62. A higher than average proportion, 59.9% compared with 52% nationally, of care 
experienced young people are in education, employment or training and aspirations 
for these young people remain high, championed by the Corporate Parenting Board. 

63. The number of child protection plans at year-end at 225, is low for a local authority 
with parts of high deprivation. The contributing factors to this are inconsistent 
application of thresholds and the need to embed the Signs of Safety (SOS) practice 
model. 

64. SOS continues to be embedded in teams and two day and five-day training has been 
undertaken.  A SOS lead has been recruited who will ensure the adoption of the SOS 
operating model and that practices continue to build confidence. 

65. The proportion of repeat child protection plans is low at 16.9% compared with 21% 
nationally, with very few repeats within 2 years. This position has been arrived at as a 
result of successful interventions with families and the implementation of the Signs of 
Safety practice model, which will continue in 2020/21 and enhance the effectiveness 
and quality of social work practice. 

66. Most (82.5%) of children in care are placed within 20 miles of home, and 
performance is better than comparators (80% nationally). Work is ongoing to 
increase sufficiency of local provision, particularly family-based placements, to 
support the best outcomes for children in care. 

67. Local Food Banks are working with schools to target those families who are most at 
risk of holiday hunger and will be providing them with food vouchers over the summer 
holidays, in addition to free school meal vouchers provided by the government during 
the pandemic. 

135



68. Work with local Higher Education providers and the Southern Universities Network to 
support children from disadvantaged families to access higher education is well 
underway. 

Fulfilled Lives 

69. Cabinet approved the Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Action Plan in November 
2019. Priorities included minimising the use of unsuitable temporary accommodation, 
reducing homelessness and rough sleeping as much as possible and improvements 
to health, wellbeing and promoting awareness of where residents can go to receive 
help, support and advice from a range of local organisations and partners. 

70. A new multi-agency BCP Homelessness Reduction Board and wider framework of 
action groups launched in October 2019 and has proved very successful. 

71. The Help to Let initiative was delivered, which secured £480k of MHCLG funding to 
further encourage landlords to provide affordable private rented accommodation for 
homeless households 

72. Positive progress was made with reducing rough sleeping in response to Covid 19 
although this will show as a significant increase in the use of B&B at the end of the 
year. Approximately 222 homeless single rough sleepers and those vulnerable and at 
risk of homeless were removed from the streets at the start of lockdown and were 
provided with temporary placements, leaving only 10 people sleeping rough on the 
streets. 

73. The numbers of households in bed & breakfast accommodation was as forecast up 
to Covid-19 lockdown. An increased number 222 of rough sleepers and those at risk 
of rough sleeping were provided with B&B accommodation as part of the national 
'Everyone In' initiative. This initiative has seen over 250 households provided with 
emergency B&B or hotel accommodation across BCP.  

74. £1.4m of MHCLG funds have been secured to help address rough sleeping and 
further funding opportunities continue to be pursued.  

75. There was a 37% increase in positive outcomes for those affected by homelessness 
with significant progress in finding alternative settled homes. 

76. The number of adults with learning disabilities in employment (5%) and in settled 
accommodation (73.2%) are both lower than the national average which would be 
(6%) and (77.2%). These are both priorities for improvement for Adult Social Care. 

77. There has been an increase in the proportion of people who have reported that risks 
have reduced as a result of a safeguarding enquiry from 87% to 96%. This is as a 
result of further coaching with practitioners to encourage them to seek feedback 
wherever possible and to acknowledge where improvements have been made, even 
if some element of risk may remain. 

78. BCP Council compares well nationally and in the South West for the low number of 
delayed discharges from hospital. (0.2 per 100,000 compared to 4.1 South West and 
3.2 England).  There was an increase in the number of older people admitted to 
residential care during the autumn and winter of 2019/20 which reflects the support 
provided to hospitals to help manage increased pressure.  

79. The Equip for Living Service worked proactively with the Council and NHS partners 
to implement service developments that allowed it to more efficiently focus on the 
timely delivery, collection and recycling of community equipment aids. BCP Council 

136



services alone supported 5,288 households, this is without including the number of 
households supported by the NHS or Dorset Council through the Equip for Living 
Service. This equipment played a central role in supporting hospital discharge and 
enabling people to remain independent and active in the community. 

80. There was an increase in the last half of the year in the number of carers that 
received support following an assessment or review of their needs from 37.4% to 
53% and the needs of staff members who are carers is being built into the People 
Strategy and workforce terms and conditions. 

81. Numbers accessing opiate treatment in BCP continue to increase and now stand at 
approximately 1,082.  People accessing services for alcohol misuse and other drugs 
continue to rise to 524.  New assertive outreach initiatives to encourage complex 
individuals into treatment are starting to show success especially the joint approach 
with the homeless and individuals frequently accessing the acute hospitals across 
the BCP council area. 

82. A suicide prevention plan has been drafted and subject to some adjustment 
considering Covid 19, will be presented to Cabinet for approval during late 2020.   

83. Schools were encouraged to bid for funding for programmes or projects to increase 
children’s physical activity and their mental health and wellbeing. There were 16 
successful bids for funding across the BCP Council area, supporting 29 schools.  

84. Health and Wellbeing Board were due to receive the Health & Wellbeing Strategy for 
approval at its meeting on 3 September ’20.  

85. Transforming Cities Funding is being used to support the development of material to 
promote the benefits of active travel with partners. 

86. The development and promotion of a county wide Careers, Education, Information, 
Advice and Guidance (CEIAG) delivery service for adult learners has begun and 
improvements have been made to the Skills & Learning website with enhanced 
materials, information about learning opportunities and careers along with an online 
booking service. 

87. An online job club has been launched where unemployed and underemployed 
residents can access support with job seeking and applications, CV writing, universal 
credit claims and general careers and study information from trained advisers. By 8 
September 2020 this service had been accessed by 1,612 customers. 

Modern, Accessible and Accountable Council 

88. The Covid 19 response has begun to accelerate the implementation of the Council’s 
new operating model and new ways of working.  Staff very quickly adapted to change 
how they worked to ensure business continuity throughout the pandemic and at the 
end of the year sickness absence was lower than the forecasted outturn. 

89. Commitment was secured to review the Council’s estate and the development of a 
BCP Council Civic Centre focussed on Bournemouth. 

90. The Council’s People Strategy was approved by Cabinet in September 2019 and 
continues to be implemented and the development of a harmonised pay and reward 
strategy got underway, although that is a long-term exercise. 

91. A joint effort between Law and Governance and IT & IS service units saw the 
introduction of new technology that allowed live streaming and remote participation 
for all public meetings and councillors now access papers online via Modern.Gov. 

137



92. A new BCP Council website is being developed and last year saw an increase in the 
take up of the council’s e-newsletter service and in the council’s social media reach, 
which has been key throughout the pandemic. Targeted campaigns supporting 
Together We Can have helped ensure the council has extended its reach into all its 
community groups. 

93. The council responded to 1,292 freedom of information requests during 2019-20, 
75% within the 20 working days target over the course of the year.  This is below the 
90% target set by the Information Commissioner, but the last quarter saw response 
rates improve to 81%.  

94. A robust annual budget review process is in place, commencing with an update of 
the MTFP baseline position in the summer, drafting of the financial strategy that will 
support the budget process including identification of funding gaps and strategies to 
bridge them, and regular reporting to Cabinet of both the in-year position and 
progress made in balancing the budget for the following year, complemented by a 
budget seminar with Councillors in the autumn. The budget process is supported by 
a detailed base budget review that benchmarks services in terms of costs, income 
and service standards, with a view to aligning resources to the corporate plan. 

95. There was a slight dip in the collection of council tax and business rates from 97.5% 
to 97.2% and 98.1% to 98% respectively, which was expected because of Covid 19 
as reminder notices were not sent out and recovery action was halted. 

96. Good progress has been made in harmonising major service strategies and polices 
and an online policy register is in place to capture them as they are approved. 

 
Equality and Diversity Action Plan 
97. BCP Council’s commitments to equality and diversity are included in all the corporate 

strategy priorities and delivery plan actions and captured in a council wide Equality 
and Diversity action plan.   

98. The Strategic Equality Leadership group reviewed the first full Equality Action Plan at 
its meeting in February '20.  The group sets the strategic direction for equality and 
diversity in the council and will continue to monitor progress with actions and identify 
new actions it wants taken forward. 

138

https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpperformance#!/vizhome/EqualityActionPlanEFLGDashboard/EqualityActionPlanProgressDashboard?publish=yes


99. Service Unit Equality Champions have been key in providing performance updates 
using delivery plan actions and actions from other council strategies and plans.   

100. The E&D action plan sets an ambition of achieving excellent in the Equality 
Framework for Local Government (EFLG). This would ensure the council not only 
meets but exceeds its Public Sector Equality Duties (PSED) enshrined in the Equality 
Act 2010.  

101. All the actions sit under one of the four modules of the EFLG and have then been 
mapped against all the relevant Corporate Strategy priorities and objectives. Each 
action has been assigned desired outcomes based on the EFLG excellent criteria. 
This ensures equality is embedded in all we do.  

102. The current E&D action plan summarises higher level actions and so local 
desired outcomes, performance measures with baseline data and targets still need to 
be developed using more granular data. 

103. There are 152 actions in total, but this may change as the plan is designed to 
evolve over time. Progress is displayed in an interactive performance dashboard 
above.  

104. Despite some focussed implications arising from Covid 19 there are no red 
actions to indicate any serious challenges.  

United Nations Sustainability Development Goals 

105. As set out in the council’s performance management framework, objectives and 
actions in the corporate strategy have been aligned to the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). 

106. These goals are a universal blueprint for all countries to end poverty, protect the 
planet and ensure prosperity for all. BCP Council adopted the goals to measure 

139

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/equality-frameworks/equality-framework-local-government
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/equality-frameworks/equality-framework-local-government
https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpperformance#!/vizhome/201920EndofyearPerformance/CorporateOverview?publish=yes


progress and demonstrate our contribution towards long-term sustainability both 
locally and globally.  

107. An SDG performance dashboard has been prepared, to show how progress with 
council actions outlined in this report are also contributing towards achieving these 
goals. Behind each goal in the scorecard are the actions that have been mapped to 
them. Overall, progress looks good and very few of the planned actions set out in the 
delivery plans have been deferred. 

108. The scorecard is currently only informed by actions in the delivery plans, but as 
other council strategies and service plans are developed, more actions and updates 
can be added to give a complete picture of the council’s response 

Future Monitoring of the Corporate Strategy 

109. Cabinet approved a performance management framework on 9 September which 
sets out how the Council will manage and report performance.  

110. The Policy and Performance Team started working with officer contacts from 
each Service Unit to develop improved performance reporting systems earlier this 
year, but because of Covid 19, the completion of this work has been delayed.  

111. Work is continuing to determine additional and appropriate measures of success, 
year one baselines and their systems of measurement.  

112. It is therefore proposed to bring a 2020/21 mid-year performance update to the 
Cabinet meeting in November. 

113. Going forward, it is intended to report these quarterly to Cabinet using the 
interactive performance dashboards demonstrated in links above, which are all being 
built around the Council’s priorities.  

Summary of financial implications 

114. This performance report has not identified any financial implications. 

Summary of legal implications  

115. This performance report has not identified any legal implications. 

Summary of human resources implications  

116. This performance report has not identified any human resources implications.  

Summary of environmental impact  

117. This performance report has not identified any environmental implications but it 
does show some of the progress made towards the United Nations Sustainable 
Development goals. 

Summary of public health implications  

118. This performance report has not identified public health implications. 

140



Summary of equality implications  

119. This performance report has not identified any equality implications, but it does 
show progress with the Equality & Diversity Action plan and areas in need of more 
focus which will be monitored by the Strategic Equality Leadership Group.  

Summary of risk assessment  

120. Any risks identified and mitigating actions are as shown in the commentary 
provided in the Exception Performance Reports at appendix B and in the interactive 
performance dashboards. 

Background papers 

Council Strategy 

BCP Council Performance Management Framework 

Appendices (to follow) 

Appendix A – BCP 2019/20 interim scorecard 

Appendix B – Exception Performance Reports 

141



This page is intentionally left blank

142



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

1
Number of admissions of older people to 
permanent residential/nursing care (per 100,000 
people)

 664.0 632
585.6

2017/18 England 
Average

See Exception Report.

2
Number of delayed discharges from hospital 
attributable to Adult Social Care per 100,000 
population

 1.31 0.20
4.10

2019/20 South 
West Average

Performance is for the period April to February.  There were 215 
days delayed in total.  March has been excluded from reporting due 
to Covid 19 pandemic.  BCP Council compares favourably to the 
South West average of 4.1 and England average of 3.2.  The 
majority of delays (47.4%) were due to awaiting packages of care in 
the home.

3

The proportion of people who reported that risks 
have reduced as a result of a Safeguarding 
enquiry

 95.00% 96.00% Local 

Making Safeguarding Personal approach was introduced with the 
Care Act 2014 and takes a personalised approach to outcomes for 
those who have been subject to safeguarding interventions a key 
outcome is reducing risk. This measure is a self reported measure 
from the client of whether risks have been reduced for them. A 
higher percentage is better performance.

4 Timeliness of delivery of aids within the home to 
support independent living  85.00% 85.30% Local 

Despite increased deliveries of more complex equipment packages, 
the service maintained and improved its delivery performance 
through two main initiatives. NRS Healthcare increased their 
staffing and van capacity in response to increased service pressure 
and commissioners implemented a budget recovery plan that 
focused on improving the way the service is used by Health and 
Social Care prescribers. This allowed the Equip for Living Service 
to more efficiently focus on timely delivery, collection and the 
recycling of contract equipment. 

5
Proportion of carers who receive 
information/advice or another service after an 
assessment or review 

 37.40% 53.00% Local 

A higher percentage is better performance.
Not all adults receiving long term support will have a carer, 
therefore this indicator will never reach 100%.These carers are 
divided by the number of adults in receipt of a long term service - 
this is similar to old National Indicator 135.  

6 Adults with a learning disability in paid 
employment   3.80% 3.90%

6.00% 
2017/18 England 

Average

See Exception Report.

7 Adults with a learning disability in in settled 
accommodation  69.00% 74.60%

77.20%
2017/18 England 

Average

See Exception Report.

A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e

1 21/08/2020

143



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

8 Proportion of social worker positions covered by 
agency staff  14.80% 15.00%

2019
England - 16%

SN - 14%
Good/Outstanding -

12%

Implementing a Social Work Academy Centre for Excellence from 
September 2020, to recruit up to 50 newly qualified social workers 
over 2 years. Ongoing recruitment of experienced social workers.

9 Average number of cases per social worker  18 17

2019
England - 17

SN - 16
Good/Outstanding -

17

At year-end, caseloads are at a reasonable level. We continue to 
focus on the timely progression of intervention to ensure 
appropriate caseloads are maintained, and we are now focussing 
on an increase in permanent staff to provide stability and 
consistency.

10 Percentage of contacts with a decision within 
timescale  76.00% 77.60% N/A See Exception Report.

11 Number (and rate) of referrals received N/A 1935
(513.9)

3643
(483.8)

2018/19
England – 545

SN – 529
Good/Outstanding 

– 534

The volume of contacts in 2019/20 was below comparators.  This  
was subject to fluctuation throughout the year and often linked to 
seasonal trends. 

12 Proportion of contacts that progressed to 
referral  21.70% 17.30% N/A

The proportion of contacts converting to referrals also fluctuated 
across 2019/20, with an overall rate of 17%. The integrated 
pathway now embedded at the front door has helped to ensure that 
families receive the right service at the right time. Work is ongoing 
with partners to ensure appropriate referrals are made to Children's 
Services.

13 Repeat referrals in 12 months  24.00% 18.60%

2018/19
England – 23%

SN – 23%
Good/Outstanding 

– 20%

The repeat referral rate was below comparators during 2019/20. 
Any monthly deviations to this are scrutinised through Performance 
Surgery meetings to ascertain any practice learning.

14 Timeliness of single assessments  66.8% 60.3%

2018/19
England – 83%

SN – 82%
Good/Outstanding 

– 85%

See Exception Report.

15 Number (and rate) of Children in Need N/A 2,774
(368)

2,378
(316)

2018/19
England – 334

SN – 315
Good/Outstanding 

– 351

At year-end the number of Children in Need open to social care is 
below national average but in line with statistical neighbours. A 
large number of cases were closed in Quarter 4, reflecting 
improvements in practice, and the completion and closure of legacy 
assessments.

C
hi

ld
re

n'
s 

Se
rv

ic
es

2 21/08/2020

144



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

16 Number (and rate) of Child Protection Plans N/A 278
(36.9)

225
(29.9)

2018/19
England – 44

SN –  44
Good/Outstanding 

– 42

The number of child protection plans at year-end is low for a local 
authority with parts of high deprivation. The contributing factors to 
this are inconsistent application of thresholds and the need to 
embed the Signs of Safety practice model.

17 Percentage of Child Protection Plans that are 
repeats  19.60% 16.90%

2018/19
England – 21%

SN – 22%
Good/Outstanding 

– 20%

The proportion of repeat child protection plans is low, with very few 
repeats within 2 years. This position has been arrived at as a result 
of successful interventions with families, and where shorter periods 
of intervention have been offered, possibly suggesting 
inappropriate use of a plan. Any monthly fluctuation in performance 
is reviewed by Performance Surgery to ascertain any practice 
learning. The implementation of the Signs of Safety practice model, 
which will continue in 2020/21, will enhance the effectiveness and 
quality of social work practice.

18 Child Protection Plan visits on time  91.4% 89.3% N/A

At year-end, the vast majority of children with a child protection plan 
had been seen within the last 10 days. Those that had not been 
seen were known by senior management and the reasons for this 
were understood, and appropriate responses to this were put in 
place.

19 Number (and rate) of Children in Care N/A 471
(62.6)

486
(64.5)

2018/19
England – 65

SN – 61
Good/Outstanding 

– 63

The number of children in care at year end is line with national 
average but higher than statistical neighbours. Children's Services 
are developing plans for an Adolescent Hub to support children and 
young people with complex needs without escalation into care.

20 Proportion of Children in Care placed over 20 
miles from home  11.80% 17.50%

2018/19
England – 20%

SN – 22%
Good/Outstanding 

– 20%

Most children in care are placed close to home, and performance is 
better than comparators. Work is ongoing to increase sufficiency of 
local provision, particularly family-based placements, to support the 
best outcomes for children in care.

21 Number (and proportion) of Children in Care 
who are missing out on education  23

(8.90%)
42

(14.20%) N/A
See Exception Report.

22 Percentage of children in care in placements 
provided by the LA   60.90% 53.40%

2018/19
England – 50%

SN – 55%
Good/Outstanding 

– 52%

The majority of children in care are in placements provided by the 
local authority, which is better than the national average. Work is 
ongoing to increase sufficiency of local provision, particularly family-
based placements, to support the best outcomes for children in 
care.

C
hi

ld
re

n'
s 

Se
rv

ic
es

3 21/08/2020

145



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

23 Care Leavers aged 19-21 in suitable 
accommodation  95.70% 92.60%

2018/19
England – 85%

SN – 84%
Good/Outstanding 

– 86%

The vast majority of care experienced young people are in suitable 
accommodation, and performance remains better than 
comparators. Individuals who are not in suitable accommodation 
have Service Manager oversight and closer working with Housing 
Services is developing to support those care experienced young 
people aged 22-25 in unsuitable accommodation.

24 Number of Care leavers in B&B  0 2 N/A
See Exception Report.

25 Care Leavers aged 19-21 in education, 
employment or training  66.70% 59.90%

2018/19
England – 52%

SN – 54%
Good/Outstanding 

– 55%

A higher than average proportion of care experienced young people 
are in education, employment or training and our aspirations for 
these young people remains high, championed by the Corporate 
Parenting Board. 

26 NEETs and Unknowns 
5.50%
(403)

Q4 outturn
5.50%

South West 6.3% 
National 5.1% 

Statistical 
neighbours 5.5%

Performance at year-end was better than the regional average, but 
the proportion of children and young people not in education, 
employment or training, or unknown, was higher than the national 
average. Processes are being harmonised and staffing restructured 
to ensure efficient and accurate tracking of EET status and 
appropriate and effective support for young people to re-engage in 
learning and support. 

27 Number of Permanent Exclusions (and Rate) - 
Primary  7 

(0.03%)
16

(0.06%)

2017/18 Academic 
Year

England - 0.03%

2019/20 Outturn reflects 2019/20 school year to date. See 
Exception Report.

28 Number of Permanent Exclusions (and Rate) - 
Secondary  109

(0.47%)
45

(0.19%)

2017/18 Academic 
Year

England - 0.2%

2019/20 Outturn reflects 2019/20 school year to date. There have 
been no permanent exclusions (PEX) since schools closed in 
March, which has significantly reduced both the number and rate to 
below local and national rate for 2018/19. The number of PEX prior 
to March were lower than for the same periods in the last two 
academic years. The implementation of a preventing exclusion 
strategy and a re-modelling of Early Help Services are expected to 
contribute to a continuing reduction in the rate of PEX.

29 Good/Outstanding Early Years Providers  95.70% 97.40% N/A
The vast majority of Early Years Providers are rated as Good or 
better by Ofsted, and this has been an improving picture throughout 
the year.

C
hi

ld
re

n'
s 

Se
rv

ic
es

4 21/08/2020

146



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

30 Good/Outstanding Schools (Primary)  89.20% 89.00%
Current:

England - 87%
South West - 78%

Most Primary schools are rated as Good or better by Ofsted, which 
remains better than the national and South West averages.

31 Good/Outstanding Schools (Secondary)  72.00% 75.00%
Current:

England - 75%
South West - 65%

Most Secondary schools are rated as Good or better by Ofsted, 
which is in line with the national average and better than the South 
West average.

32 Good/Outstanding Schools (Special)  100.0% 100.0% N/A All Special Schools in BCP area are rated as Good or better by 
Ofsted.

33 Percentage of 2 year old children benefitting 
from funded early education  81.90% 84.00% N/A

2019/20 Outturn reflects 2019/20 school year to date. This 
percentage is derived from the number of eligible children from data 
supplied by the Department of Work and Pensions detailing 
children believed to meet the benefit and tax credit eligibility criteria.

34 Troubled Families turned around  100.00% 100.00% March 2020
England – 86%

Children's Services successfully met the target to turnaround 100% 
of families within the 5 year Troubled Families programme. The 
programme has subsequently been extended into 2020/21.

35 Number of EHCPs currently under assessment N/A 125 163 N/A

163 EHC assessments were underway at year-end. In addition 
there were 2,457 active Education, Health and Care Plans at year-
end. This is an area of strategic focus with a view to reducing this 
number.

36 Timeliness of EHC Assessments  74.70% 81.90%
2018

England - 58%
South West - 53%

At year-end, the vast majority of Education, Health and Care Plan 
assessments were completed within the 20 week timescales. This 
was considerably better than comparators. The SEND Service was 
subject to a Peer Review in early 2020 and a detailed Learning and 
Improvement Plan is now in place to drive practice standard 
improvements.

37 Number of children with an EHCP in specialist 
provision N/A 1,010 1,039 N/A

The number of children and young people with an EHCP who are in 
specialist provision in BCP is comparatively high and work is 
underway to support more children to remain in mainstream 
education where this is appropriate for their needs. This includes 
the development of an Inclusion Strategy with local schools, and 
subject to consultation, the development of short-term specialist 
intervention to support children to reintegrate into mainstream 
education. 

C
hi

ld
re

n'
s 

Se
rv

ic
es

5 21/08/2020

147



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

38 The number of households helped by LEAP 
(Local Energy Advice Partnership)  800 691 Local

See Exception Report.

39 Total household waste arising  171,949.00
 Tonnes 173,746.00 Local

There was a level of uncertainty in 2019/20 forecast due to 
historical and current information having to be obtained from Dorset 
Council, which included some estimations of the split of waste 
between Christchurch and the rest of Dorset Council.
From 1 April 2020 BCP Council is fully managing waste services 
(including data collection and validation) in Christchurch. 

40 Household waste recycled, reused and 
composted  53.07% 53.92% 38.64%

The overall recycling, reuse and composting rate continues to 
increase as services and communication are brought together and 
become more efficient with a standard message.
The government target of 50% recycling, reuse and composting 
rate continues to be exceeded.

41 Number of affordable homes delivered  137 137 N/A
128 were built on council land and another 9 were built by Housing 
Associations (not part of S106 obligation)

42 The number of positive homelessness 
prevention outcomes during the quarter  1250 1555 Local

37% increase in positive outcomes for those affected by 
homelessness with significant progress in finding alternative settled 
homes.

43
The number of households In B&B 
accommodation (under homeless provisions) at 
the end of the quarter

 78 163 Local
See Exception Report.

44 Anti-social behaviour incidents  15,202 13,017 N/A
14.5% reduction in ASB complaints. This has been reduced 
through co-ordinated partnership working between Council and 
Police.

45

Private sector enforcement - Cat 1 Hazards 
removed

No clear 
polarity

28 31 Local

31 out of 36 Cat 1 hazards were removed between 1/4/19 and 
31/3/20.
The team have undertaken 2 successful significant prosecutions, to 
include a banning order and served £78,250 worth of civil penalties 
in this period where hazards are not remedied and properties 
remain uncompliant. 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t a

nd
 C

om
m

un
ity

6 21/08/2020

148



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

46 Out of hours noise complaints responded to 
within 45 mins  95.00% 95.90% Local

In Quarters 3 and 4, 316 out of hours visits to noise reports were 
undertaken with 303 achieved within 45 minutes of the resident's 
call to BCP Council

47 Food hygiene rating where the rating has 
increased or is at 5  81.00% 79.60% South West 81.1%

National 76.7

It was not possible to complete the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 
programme in March due to lock-down.

48

Trading standards investigations resulting in the 
successful resolution of consumer detriment

 576 749 Local

Q1,2 & 3 were calculated with an old cruder measure of "concluded 
with intervention". Prior to Q4 we introduced as more reflective 
measure of "successful intervention" with stricter criteria. It was 
envisaged that the number then reported would drop, for obvious 
reasons, but nonetheless would be a more important activity to 
record with more value to TS and BCP. This has proved to be the 
case but not a dramatic drop. However this will mean that next year 
will see a reduction on this year's figures. It also needs to be noted 
that many of the "successful intervention" figures are a result of a 
specific Scams  project with vulnerable people that will be lost, if we 
lose any more staff.

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t a

nd
 C

om
m

un
ity

7 21/08/2020

149



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

49 Number of Blue Flags awarded to our beaches  9 9

Brighton & Hove - 
2

Torbay - 6
Blackpool - 0

Blue flags are awarded in May/June each year. An additional Blue
Flag for Manor Steps was achieved this year exceeding the 8 flags 
targeted for retention.

50 Number of Seaside Awards awarded to our 
beaches  14 14

Brighton & Hove - 
4

Torbay - 10
Blackpool - 4

Seaside Awards are announced in May/June each year.  An 
additional Seaside Award for manor Steps was achieved this year 
exceeding the 13 Seaside Awards targeted for retention. 

51 Number of visits to the physical libraries  1,733,151 1,714,626

CIPFA Benchmark 
against family 
group - no set 

target

Annual Outturn down by 1.07%.
The number of physical visits in March were affected by increasing 
cancellations of room bookings and events by external groups and 
the subsequent closure of all BCP libraries at end of 21st March 

52 Number of events/activities held in the libraries  13,500 13,000 Local
Annual Outturn down by 3.7%.
The number of events were affected by the closure of all BCP 
Libraries at end of 21st March due to Covid 19.

53 Take up of libraries events by Adults  83,000
Adults 91,083 Local

Annual Outturn up by 9.74%
Despite closing all BCP Libraries on 21st March, the take up of 
Adults attending events has increased

54 Take up of libraries events by Teens/Children  63,500
Teens/Children 66,795 Local

Annual Outturn up by 5.19%
Despite closing all BCP Libraries on 21st March, the take up of 
Teens/Children attending events has increased

55 Major planning applications determined on time  84.00% 85.30% 88.00%

The performance for major applications has improved compared 
with the 2018/19 figure.  A slightly smaller number of applications 
have been determined (102 compared with 109) but a larger 
number have been determined in time (87 compared with 83).  
Major applications can be complicated where they require legal 
agreement which  lead to further delay when there are 
disagreements between the Council/applicant.

56 Minor planning applications determined on time  85.00% 82.50% 86.00%

The performance is marginally lower than the 2018/19 figure.  The 
total number of applications determined is lower than in 2018/19. 
Numbers determined are noticeably lower than the final quarter in 
the previous financial year.  The volume of applications and 
performance could have been impacted by the Covid 19 lockdown 
in March 2020. 

57 Other planning applications determined on time  89.00% 87.40% 90.00%

The performance is marginally lower than the 2018/19 figure.  The 
total number of applications determined is lower than in 2018/19 
with numbers determined also noticeably lower than the same final 
quarter in the previous year.  The volume of applications and 
performance could have been impacted by the Covid 19 lockdown 
in March 2020. 

R
eg

en
er

at
io

n 
an

d 
Ec

on
om

y

8 21/08/2020

150



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

58 Staff sickness - the average number of days 
sick per employee per quarter  3.0

(Q4) 2.77 2.8

Although sickness is reported as reduced it is still high for the 
sector and even more so as the accuracy of the data may be 
reporting figures lower than reality due to a lack of management 
discipline to utilise the reporting system so absence may not be 
recorded accurately. We have seen an increase in mental health 
reasons for absence which are complex and tend to be longer term 
so we have invested in an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
especially during the response to COVID to support the wellbeing 
of our employees.

59 Staff Turnover No clear 
polarity N/A 9.48% 13.00%

Turnover is healthy at 9.48% but further breakdown shows an 
increase in turnover in social care and resources directorates, the 
themes that contribute to this seem to be related to work load, pay 
and development opportunities. These are areas that we have skills 
shortages in and struggle to recruit and retain. Workforce plans are 
in development not only to address these harder to find skills but 
also to attract a wider demographic that aspires to support our 
diversity agenda and mitigate risk related to an aging workforce.

60 Number of Followers on Twitter  27,150 27,295 Local 

The aggregate for 18/19 is higher as this relates to separate 
accounts for Bournemouth BC and Borough of Poole. BCP Council 
was only able to proceed with one account - the one with the 
greatest number of  followers was chosen which was Bournemouth 
BC; Twitter does not allow accounts to be merged. The 
Bournemouth BC account also had a significant number of 
followers who were also following the Borough of Poole account at 
the time.

61 Number of Followers on Facebook  38,800 38,948 Local 

We undertook a £200 Facebook ad campaign targeted at 
Christchurch residents and gained an additional 648 Christchurch 
residents to our audience, as this audience was under-represented.

62 Email news engagement - Total Number of 
Subscribers  36,360 37,360 Local 

We undertook a £100 Facebook ad campaign targeted at 
Christchurch residents to subscribe to waste emails - this led to 703 
new email subscribers

63 Email news engagement - Percentage open rate  47.70% 44.40% 38.00%
Open rate began to rise at the end of the year which is likely due to 
the Covid 19 pandemic.

64 Percentage of FOI requests responded to within 
statutory deadline (20 working days)  87.00% 75.00% 90.00%

See Exception Report.

R
es

ou
rc

es

9 21/08/2020

151



BCP Council End of Year Interim Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Appendix A

Ref Indicator Description
Good 

Performance 
is…

Forecast 
outturn 
2019/20

Annual  
Outturn 
2019/20

Benchmark 
Figure Comment

65 Percentage of incidents handled by IT & IS and  
completed within agreed timescale.  60.00% 50.66% Local 

The total number of incidents received for the year was 14819.  
The total number of service requests for the year was 18890.
The percentage of incidents completed within the agreed 
timeframes in October fell slightly due to the ongoing BCP email 
migration activities. (Migrate all users to @bcpcouncil.gov.uk email 
addresses).  The level of service requests completed within the 
agreed timeframes was maintained with the percentage being 
above 75% for all 3 months of the quarter.    The total number of 
tickets logged during the final 3 months of 2019 fell slightly, this 
was due to the Xmas holiday period.  
Following a welcome fall in demand during January and February, 
March saw a massive rise in the number of Service Requests due 
to Covid19. The additional demand was primarily due to setting up 
people so that they were able to work from home.  (Primarily the 
provision of new laptops and remote working security access). The 
percentage of tickets completed on time was still over 70% which is 
a great effort from all support staff across IT&IS.

66 Percentage of service requests completed by IT 
and IS within agreed timescale  80.00% 76.58% Local 

See above.

67 Percentage of Council Tax collected  97.50% 97.20% 96.80%

Service was on target to make Forecast outturn. Collection of 
Council Tax was lower than expected in March as 'reminder 
notices' not sent and recovery action halted. This resulted in 
collection being 0.3% lower than target.

68 Percentage of Business Rates Collected  98.30% 98.00% 98.30%

Service was on target to make forecast outturn. Collection of 
Business Rates was lower than expected in March as 'reminder 
notices' not sent and recovery action halted. This resulted in 
collection being 0.3% lower than target.

69 Time taken to process new benefit claims  16 17* 21
The performance listed is Government data as at Q3. It is expected 
once Q4 published that average will be 16 days for 2019/2020

70 Time taken to process change of circumstances  6 6* 6
The performance listed is Government data as at Q3. It is expected 
once Q4 published that average will be 6 days for 2019/2020

R
es

ou
rc

es

10 21/08/2020

152



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Number of admissions of older people to permanent residential/nursing care (per 100,000 people) 

2019/20 Annual Outturn:  

632 per 100,000 population (545 people) 

Annual Target: 

592 per 100,000 
population 

Reason for level of performance: 

There is a higher proportion of residential beds in the Bournemouth area and historically there has 
been a higher number of adults in Bournemouth entering care homes. This pattern has carried 
forward to BCP Council. 

There will be strategic review of local needs in relation to nursing, residential and extra care and 
this will inform future market shaping activity with emphasis placed on options which maximise 
independence. 

There have been high numbers of admissions to residential care during the Autumn and Winter 
period reflecting the support provided to hospitals in order to manage the increased pressure 
when on OPEL 4.  This in addition to an increase in the capacity in the domiciliary care market in 
order to facilitate hospital discharge. 

Work continues to develop systems and reporting for BCP Council so that data capture and 
analysis is improved for this indicator. 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

Please see above. 

Completed by:     Elaine Stratman, Head of Strategic Planning and Quality Assurance 
Service Unit:  Adult Social Care Commissioning 

1

AAppendix B

153



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Adults with a learning disability in paid employment   

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

3.9% (33 adults) 

Annual Target: 

Based on 17/18 England 
average of 6% 

Reason for level of performance: 

This is based on adults in receipt of long term social care support who could be living in a care 
home or in the community in paid employment. Historically the percentage is low on a national 
basis <10% due to the level and nature of support service received.  

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

This is a key priority for the Council in improving employment, training and volunteering 
opportunities for adults who receive social care support including those with a learning disability 
and is part of the Council Corporate Strategy.  

This priority is one strand of a comprehensive transformation programme and is a major long term 
piece of work. Performance is starting from a fairly low baseline. 

The first stage is a planned review of supported employment opportunities.  This has commenced 
but due the Covid-19 pandemic this has delayed the progress of this work. 

However, plans are in place to restart this work and consider how we transform the current offer. 
We will be liaising with a variety of Councils and providers who are doing some interesting work 
around this area to better understand potential models. 

Completed by:    Elaine Stratman, Head of Strategic Planning and Quality Assurance 
Service Unit:       Adult Social Care Commissioning 

2154



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Adults with a learning disability in settled accommodation 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

74.6% (635 adults) 

Annual Target: 

Based on 17/18 England 
average of 77.2% 

Reason for level of performance: 

This percentage only incudes those adults living in their own homes or with their families. 

Adults living in a care home or long stay residential unit are not included in the scope of settled 
accommodation and account for a significant proportion of adults classed as being in unsettled 
accommodation. 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

This is a key priority for the Council in increasing the number of adults living in their own homes 
and links closely with the indicator around reducing admissions to care homes.  

There is a higher proportion of learning disability residential beds in the Bournemouth area than 
other parts of BCP and nationally. This has led, historically to a greater number of adults with a 
learning disability being placed in care homes as opposed to other accommodation options, such 
as supported living or extra care housing.   

A review to consider approaches that will increase the numbers of adults able to live in their own 
accommodation in the community, through a range of supported accommodation, is a priority for 
Adult Social Care. 

Consideration of future housing options for those with care and support needs will form part of the 
joint work between Children’s Services, Adult Social Care and Housing to enable increasing 
numbers of people to have homes of their own in the community. 

Completed by:      Elaine Stratman, Head of Strategic Planning and Quality Assurance 
Service Unit:    Adult Social Care Commissioning 

3155



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Proportion of contacts with a decision in 24 hours 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

77.6% 

Annual Target: 

n/a 

Reason for level of performance: 

• Inconsistent Threshold Application/Risk Management/ Management Oversight
• Inconsistent quality in thresholds & inconsistent application of the Signs of Safety practice

model both in risk assessments and Management Oversight
• Staffing capacity
• Case management system that did not effectively support the service

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

• A new front door model which was implemented and embedded mid-March
• Managers monitoring the timeliness daily and management oversight is more visible capturing

and highlighting any gaps
• Consistency in application of thresholds
• Introduction of a new inter-agency referral document
• Agreed methodology for the 24-hour measure
• Early Help Hub sitting within the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
• Increased management capacity
• Signs of Safety workshop for all MASH staff
• Improved communication with partners

Completed by:    Jane White 
Service Unit:       Children’s Social Care & Youth Offending Service 

4156



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Timeliness of Single Assessments 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

60.3% 

Annual Target: 

83% National Average 

Reason for level of performance: 

Performance in relationship to timeliness was low across Children’s Social Care due to: 
• Lack of consistent management oversight and drift & delay
• Challenges related to merging of Local Authority’s into BCP, including a number of changes to

policies, procedures, governance, senior leadership team and location

In the Assessment Teams specifically, there were capacity issues including: 
• Staffing capacity
• Both assessment teams (all social workers) being ‘on duty’ to respond to crisis and being

allocated new cases every day
• High caseloads, attributed to front door threshold application

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

• An improvement plan has been in place and progressing, which includes increased training
and quality assurance

• Performance is being reported on, monitored and managed on a daily basis within the
assessment teams

• Practice standards have been developed and are implemented across the service
• There is a greater level of management oversight and quality assurance in relation to ensuring

that progress is made both in terms of compliance and timeliness of assessment being
completed

• Improved threshold application has impacted positively, with less referrals for the assessment
service, meaning caseloads have reduced to between 17-20

• Recruitment of newly qualified social workers on a permanent basis, with the aim of supporting
them to develop their careers in BCP Council; this has also assisted was caseload numbers

• A transfer protocol has been developed with the aim of ensuring there is effective workflow
and that the assessment service does not become overwhelmed with continuing to work with
families where the assessment has been completed.

Completed by:   Jane White 
Service Unit:     Children’s Social Care & Youth Offending Service 

5157



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard):  

Number (and percentage) of Children in Care who are missing out on education 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

 40 (13%) 

Annual Target: 

n/a 

Reason for level of performance: 

21 (52%) of Children in Care (CiC) identified as Children missing out on education (CMoE) are currently 
Not on Roll: 
• Placement moves out of borough led to delays in accessing appropriate specialist / Alternative

Provision (AP) due to localised commissioning arrangements
• Drift and delay in mainstream school admissions (both in and out of borough)
• Admissions delayed due to Covid 19

17 (42.5%) of those CiC identified as CMoE have an Education, Health and Care Assessment Plan (EHCP) 
• Drift and delay in both the initiation of (and follow up on) consultations
• Oversights within consultation process have led to delays agreeing funding for specialist provision
• Education other that at school (EOTAS) named on EHCP

Alternative Provision arrangements: 
• Currently only accessible via Permanent Exclusion / EHCP
• Local offer does not permit dual-registration and ‘turnaround’ programmes are of insufficient length to

be impactful
• Pressure on places, local AP is at (or close to) capacity
• Unclear reintegration routes to mainstream education

Multi-agency working practices across BCP are still constrained by legacy arrangements. 
There has been an increase in number of school-age unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC). 
There has also been an increase in children coming into Care during Key Stage 4 who have either been 
elected for home education, removed from a school roll, or disengaged from education for a protracted 
period 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 
• Learning Partnership Board involvement and championing of some of the hardest to place CiC
• Revision of Pupil Premium+ policy to tighten up on short/medium term spending and promote proactive

multi-agency working within statutory timescales
• Move to new system - Welfare Call ePEP (September 2020)
• Virtual School Position Paper Removing the barriers to positive educational outcomes for Children in

Care (March 2020)
• Virtual School Working Paper Provision of suitable education for hard to place pupils (July 2020)
• 53% of current Year 11 CMoE have identified Post-16 provision in place
• Attendance at Care and Resource Panel as means of identifying children on the edge of care, and

offering support and guidance to Children and Families First Teams in respect of children in need / child
protection cases

6158



Conduct urgent internal review of CMoE/Not on roll over the summer break: 
• Identify any ‘quick wins’ (i.e. where mainstream provision is appropriate / EHCP is in place) and

progress as matter of urgency though relevant channels
• Increase monitoring of current year 9 (Yr.10 from September) to ensure early intervention when stability

of education placement is at risk
• Improve monitoring of Key Stage 3 cohort to promote early intervention when signs of educational

instability emerge

Strengthen Challenge to System: 
• Reposition Virtual School as system leader regarding the education of CiC and refocus operational

casework on identified areas of need (including CMoE)
• Promote greater system-wide ownership of CiC agenda
• Clearly state Virtual School moral purpose as enshrined in practice standards and bottom-lines / non-

negotiables
• Refocus Personal Education Plan process and planning on schools and providers with clear message

to schools that Virtual School should be first point of contact whenever concerns are highlighted
• Virtual School Leadership Team and Lead Practitioners will feed into Team Around Schools model

(from September) to enhance support for schools with high numbers of CiC. Virtual School will attend
Team Around the School meetings for all secondary schools, all specialist / alternative provisions and
those primary settings where there are a high percentage of CiC or where concerns have been raised
about the CiC offer

• Raise profile of CiC within the council - embed high corporate expectations in relation to CiC to ensure
that statutory timescales are met, with decisions being made ahead of statutory deadlines wherever
possible

Completed by:    Julian Radcliffe 
Service Unit:       Inclusion and Family Services 

7159



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Number of Care Leavers in Bed & Breakfast 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

2 

Annual Target: 

0 

Reason for level of performance: 

There are currently 2 care experienced young people placed in bed and breakfast due to complex 
circumstances impacting on identifying accommodation to meet their needs. Whilst this is an 
improvement from 6 in Q2, it is acknowledged that action needs to be taken to bring this down to 
no young people in bed and breakfast. 

It is notable that Covid 19 Lockdown has had a significant impact on the housing market and the 
availability of housing both social and privately rented. It has also impacted on the hotel industry 
with many hotels being used to house street homeless adults during the pandemic. 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

The service is continuing to work with housing colleagues to support our care experienced young 
people to access suitable accommodation and with a corporate commitment not to place our Care 
Experienced young people in Bed and Breakfast. Working relationships are positive and there is a 
commitment to jointly find solutions to difficult situations. The Housing Resource Panel for care 
experienced young people is well attended by housing colleagues, harmonising service delivery 
and becoming well embedded in practice.  

Any young person who is not in suitable accommodation has a robust risk assessment in place 
and the plan is to move them on as soon as possible. 

Several housing options have been identified for the two young people currently in Bed and 
Breakfast however there have been challenges in relation to sustaining the accommodation. The 
Care Experience team are working alongside Adult Services and Housing to secure solutions for 
suitable housing for both young people. Sufficiency of placements and housing options prior to 
and including permanent tenancy options remains a priority area of work for the council. 

Children’s Social Care are setting up a partnership board to meet regularly and support our care 
experienced young people as corporate parents. The terms of reference for this board is going to 
CDMB on 16 July to be approved.  

Completed by:   Jane White 
Service Unit:      Children’s Social Care and Youth Offending Service 

8160



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Number of Permanent Exclusions (and Rate) – Primary 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

16 (0.06%) 

Annual Target: 

National Rate (0.03) 

Reason for level of performance: 

Head Teachers attribute the increase in the number and rate of permanent exclusions of primary 
aged pupils to decreased levels of funding, especially in relation funding for children with special 
educational needs. They argue that this has resulted in schools having insufficient resources to 
manage the behaviour of some pupils, resulting in the need to permanently exclude.  

Head Teachers have also cited the impact economic, health, family and social issues have had in 
increasing the complexity of the needs of pupils, as a factor in the rising number of permanent 
exclusions. 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

1. Several new initiatives will be introduced for the academic year September 2020. This will
involve a graduated response that will support schools to access the services and resources
they need to meet the needs of challenging pupils and avoid having to permanently exclude
them. These include (but are not limited to):

• The use of a ‘team around school’ approach for all schools across BCP
• An enhanced and more accessible training offer to support schools in responding to

vulnerable learners
• Support for schools in developing more inclusive cultures and practice
• The introduction of specialist posts to support schools in including children at risk of repeat

fixed term exclusions
• Operational protocols/ arrangements that ensure professional resources and expertise are

targeted at children most at risk of exclusion

2. Restructuring and remodelling of Early Help Services to provide schools with the range of
support they need to intervene early and prevent needs escalating to the point where a pupil’s
behaviour is so challenging that they are permanently excluded.

Completed by:     Julian Radcliffe 
Service Unit:  Inclusion and Family Services 

9161



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

The number of households helped by LEAP (Local Energy Advice Partnership) 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

691 

Annual Target: 

800 

Reason for level of performance: 

691 households were referred into LEAP for assistance before the service had to cease operating 
due to Covid-19 restrictions on home visiting activities. Nevertheless, the households benefitted 
by £771k in energy bill reductions and extra benefits identified. The service is due to reopen in 
July 2020. 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance:  

None required. Service is expected to achieve set target if Covid-19 restrictions are not in force. 

Completed by:     Neil Short 
Service Unit:  Environment 

10162



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

The number of households In B&B accommodation (under homeless provisions) at 
the end of the quarter 

2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

163 

Annual Target: 

78 

Reason for level of performance: 

Performance was as forecast up to Covid-19 lockdown, March 2020 increased rough sleepers 
and those at risk of rough sleeping provided with B&B accommodation as part of the national 
'Everyone In' initiative. 

The ‘Everyone In’ initiative has seen over 250 households provided with emergency B&B / hotel 
accommodation across BCP. The vast majority of these people would not have otherwise 
received an offer interim accommodation (under homeless provisions). 
The public health emergency has also assisted people with No Recourse to Public Funds. 

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

The Council is working closely with the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 
Homes England, local accommodation providers and partners of the BCP Homelessness 
Partnership to develop move-on plans which ensure everyone placed has a move-on and support 
plan. It is expected the Council will be able to apply for additional funding to support these plans 
and therefore reduce the overall number of households in B&B / Hotels. 

Completed by:  Ben Tomlin 
Service Unit:     Housing 

11163



Exception Performance Report 

Indicator Description (taken from performance scorecard): 

Percentage of FOI requests responded to within statutory deadline (20 working days) 
2019/20 Annual Outturn: 

75% 

Annual Target: 

87% 

Reason for level of performance: 

This measure reports on the performance of responses made within 20 working days to requests 
for information submitted under the Freedom of Information Act and Environmental Information 
Regulations. 

The creation of BCP Council in April 2019 has seen challenges involving the locating of 
information across each legacy Council and through significant movement of staff where their 
service unit has been restructured. This has seen some Information Asset Advisers (IAA) move 
into different units which has meant some requests have had no IAA to manage them. 

This has had a significant impact on the Council’s ability to respond to requests on time, with a 
quarter of those responded to late. At the Council’s Information Governance Board in February 
2020, it was agreed that Service Directors would ensure cover for dealing with requests in their 
units, including the identification of new and additional IAA staff. Some improvement has already 
been noted in quarter 4 (Jan-Mar 2020). It should be recognised that Government restrictions 
related to the COVID 19 pandemic has seen a reduction in the number of requests received in 
March and also the Council’s ability to respond as officers have been diverted to supporting 
residents. This may have a further impact in the coming months as requesters have held back on 
making requests due to the pandemic.    

There have also been resource issues in the Council’s Information Governance Team during 
quarters 3 & 4 which has impacted the ability to provide reminders to Service Units for requests 
approaching the 20 days.   

Actions taken or planned to improve performance: 

As more IAAs are appointed and information from the legacy Councils is located, there is now 
some learning and this has seen an improvement in performance and a better idea of legacy 
information as service restructures are completed and systems merged in some areas.     

The Council’s IG Team is still facing some resource shortages but it is hoped to be able to start 
monthly monitoring of requests to assist IAAs in meeting deadlines. 

Completed by:    Steve Otter 
Service Unit:       Law & Governance 

12164


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	Exempt Minutes , 09/09/2020 Cabinet

	6 Installation of Combined Heat and Power Unit, The Club at Meyrick Park
	7 Managing Unauthorised Encampments: Members Working Group Report
	8 Highway Maintenance Funding 2020/21 report
	Appendix D - DIA Report

	9 Christchurch Bay and Harbour Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy
	10 Flood Defences - Poole Bridge to Hunger Hill
	11 Complaints and 2019/20 LGSCO annual report
	Appendix A - LGSCO 2019/20  report
	Appendix B - Adult Social Care 2019/20 Complaints Report

	12 2019/20 End of Year Performance Report
	Appendix A - BCP 2019/20 interim scorecard
	Appendix B - Exception Performance Report
	01 Admissions to Care Homes Exception Report v2
	02 LD in employment Exception Report v2
	03 LD_housing Exception Report v2
	04 CS Contacts LM Exception report 2019-20
	05 CS Assessments Exception report 2019-20
	06 CS CMOE KT  WC Exception report 2019-20
	07 CS BB PL Exception report 2019-20
	08 CS Exclusions AG Exception report 2019-20
	09 LEAP Exception report  2019-20
	10 B&B Exception report 2019-20
	11 FOI Exception report 2019-20





